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Vision

To Be the No.1 people
solutions organization in SEA

Mission

Business
Strategies

We are committed
to developing

a better career, a better life
and a better society.

1. Brand
Awareness

2. Partner in 
People

4. International 
Standards

3. Productivity 
Development
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Financial Highlights

Revenue from rendering of services and other income Million Baht 6,422.0

Cost of Services and Expenses Million Baht 6,173.6

Profit from Operating Activities and Income tax expense  

or Gross profit

 Remark: * Return on Equity (ROE) is calculated by dividing the net profit of owners in the income statement by the average owner's equity

Million Baht 248.4

Net Profit attributable to the Parent Company Million Baht 206.4

Total Assets Million Baht 2,084.1

Total Liabilities Million Baht 545.9

Total Shareholders' Equity Million Baht 1,538.2

Return on asset (ROA) % 11.5

Gross Profit Ratio % 10.1

Net profit margin of the parent company % 3.2

Return on Equity (ROE)* %

5,558.3

5,311.7

246.7

183.3

1,354.0

1,037.3

316.7

13.9

10.0

3.3

58.1 21.0

6,116.8

5,852.4

264.4

202.2

1,505.7

1,054.6

451.1

14.1

10.4

3.3

53.6

Financial Statement Unit 2021

2021

2021

2022 2023

Statement of Financial Position Unit 2022 2023

Financial Ratio Unit 2022 2023
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3.9% 3.9% 3.8%

0.3%

4.2%

Revenue from rendering of Services

Revenue from rendering
of Services : Outsourcing

Revenue from rendering
of Services : Recruitment

Proportion of Income

2020 2021 2022 2023

2020

Revenue from rendering of 
Services : Outsource

(Unit : million Baht)

(Unit : million Baht)(Unit : million Baht)

2021

2020 2021 2022

233.1

2023

267.3

213.0
14.0%

9.5%

186.8

6,116.8

6,422.0

5,558.3
4,867.4

2020 2021 2022 2023

5,869.0
6,104.3

5,341.9
4,679.5

2022

Business Overview

96.1% 96.1% 95.9%

2023

95.1%

Revenue from rendering of 
Services : Recruitment

Revenue from rendering of Integrated Learning 
Services, Job Platform and Other Income

14.6%

14.1%
9.9%

4.0%

14.2%

10.0%

5.0%

0.7%
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Net Profit
(Unit : million Baht)

Outsource Recruitment Gross Profit 
Ratio

Integrated Learning 
Services

(Unit : million Baht)

2020 2021 2022 2023

645.5
553.9

635.7

10.0%

9.1%

10.4%
10.1%

441

Outsource Staff

2021 2022 2023

14,896

16,813

14,596

Number of Placement

2021 2022 2023

1,627

2,438

1,498

2020

122

183

202 206

2021 2022 2023

Net Profit Margin

(Unit : %)

2020

2.5%

3.3% 3.3% 3.2%

2021 2022 20232020 2021 2022 2023

Administrative Expenses
(per total income)

(Unit : %)

5.5% 5.6%
6.2% 6.4%

Gross Profit Ratio

Executive Middle Junior

92.7

132.5
151.9 165.60.8
4.5 13.6

348.3
420.6 479.3

346
111

1,041

386

142

1,099

383
148

1,907

466.2
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In 2023, PRTR marked
another significant
milestone by successfully
registering the Company
on the Stock Exchange
of Thailand.

Additionally, we have achieved an excellent level of Corporate 
Governance Report (CGR) assessment since the first year of 
listing. During the past year, PRTR expanded its business in 
alignment with our vision and mission, aiming to be the leading 
provider of Total HR Solutions in the Southeast Asian region. We 
ventured into new services, introducing software solutions for 
personnel management and payroll processing through our 
product “PINNO.” Furthermore, we have positioned ourselves to 
offer Recruitment Services internationally under the name PRTR 
GLOBAL. This strategic move has extended the scope of PRTR’s 
services, covering staffing recruitment and outsourcing solutions, 
training services, job placement platforms and human resource 
and payroll management software. Details of the two new 
services are as follows:

Mr. Sukont Kanjana-huttakit
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Message from the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer 

PINNO is a human resource and payroll management software 
designed to address the needs of organizations of all sizes 
-small, medium and large. It can handle complex payroll 
calculations in various formats. The software includes features 
such as Performance Management and Engagement Applications. 
The emphasis is on providing customers with access to high- 

quality software at an affordable price. Additionally, PINNO has 
designed an application for convenient access by employees 
throughout the organization at any place and any time, ensuring 
secure standards to guarantee the confidentiality of organizational 
data. 
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Ms. Risara Charoenpanich
Chief Executive Officer

In 2023, the Company generated revenue of 6,422.0 million 
Baht, marking a growth of 5% compared to the previous year. 
This growth was primarily attributed to the Outsource business 
segment, which expanded by 4.0% and the Job Placement 
business, which saw a remarkable growth of 14% from the 
previous year. The net profit for the year 2023 amounted to 
206 million Baht, reflecting a 2% increase from the previous 
year. PRTR maintains a Debt to Equity ratio of 0.4, with cash 
and cash equivalents totaling 480 million Baht. 

PRTR GLOBAL is a recruitment service solutions, specializing in 
sourcing candidates for international placements. This service 
caters not only to PRTR’s business partners but also extends its 
reach to other organizations in the future. It marks the initiation 
of business expansion, opening doors for increased opportunities 
to provide services internationally for PRTR. 

PRTR is committed to driving its business forward by placing significant emphasis on human development and maintaining                  
a steadfast dedication to consistently elevating its services to international standards. In 2024, the Company has introduced 

principles aligned with the Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) framework. This framework necessitates a consideration             
of the impacts on the environment, society, and governance. This strategic shift aims to position PRTR as an organization that              

not only sustains growth but also authentically contributes value to society.

“Drive the business,
develop people, society,

environment and technology
for sustainable growth.” 
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Part 1
Business Operations

and Performance



Vision Mission

the Company was restructured to focus exclusively on the 
outsourcing business. In 2019, PRTR Recruitment Co., Ltd. (“RE”) 
was established to accept the transfer of the recruitment 
business from PRTR. Over the past 30 years, the Company has 
continued to develop and recruit technology to help recruit 
people with the right number and qualifications to meet market 
needs in the shortest possible time. With the rapid development 
of technology, the Company plans to expand its customer base 
to attract new groups of customers. In 2021, the Company 
established two recruitment companies, namely NEXMOVE 
Platform Recruitment Co., Ltd. (“NEXMOVE”) to provide a 
comprehensive online job search platform (Job Platform) and 
The Blacksmith Co., Ltd. (“BLACKSMITH”), a business that 
provides online training services through the platform and offline 
(Integrated Learning services). In 2023, the Company established 
Pinno Solutions Co., Ltd. (“Pinno”) to provide “IPOP” application 
software, which is the software for a human capital management 
program, and PRTR Global Co., Ltd. (“PRTR Global”) to provide 
recruitment services to work abroad. All four businesses are in the 
initial phase. By providing total human resources (HR) solutions, 
both offline and online, PRTR has become one of the leading 
outsourcing and recruitment service providers in Thailand. 

PRTR Group Public Company Limited (the “Company” or “PRTR”) 
was established on March 22, 1993, with a registered capital of 
two million baht by a group of Thai and English founders. In the 
initial stage, the Company primarily focused on the recruitment 
business (“Recruitment Services” or “Recruitment” business). 
Subsequently, the economy continued to grow, resulting in an 
increase in the demand for employment in the market. In 2000, 
the management team saw an opportunity and stepped in to 
become an employee management and outsourcing service 
provider (“Outsourcing Service” or “Outsource Business”) to meet 
the needs of organizations with high entry and exit rates in a short 
period of time and organizations requiring specialized professionals 
to oversee support work, such as the preparation of employee 
salaries. In addition, the Company sees opportunities for economic 
expansion in the East Coast area under the government’s 
National Economic and Social Development Plan. In 2006, PRTR 
Recruitment and Outsourcing (Eastern Seaboard) Co., Ltd. (“ES”) 
was established to recruit personnel to serve both Thai and 
foreign corporate clients in the Eastern Seaboard Industrial   
Estate that have a need to recruit specialized personnel, such 
as engineers, industrial personnel, and information technology 
personnel. In order to provide PRTR with clear business practices,

To Be the No. 1 People
Solutions Organization

in Southeast Asia (SEA). 1

We are committed to creating
better employment

for a better quality of life
and a better society

1. Company Structure
and Operations

1.1.1 Vision, Mission, Strategy

1.1 Policy and Business Overview

1 PRTR does not currently operate in Southeast Asia but plans to expand overseas, starting in this region in countries with growth prospects for staffing and recruitment services and providing 
comprehensive HR services.
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Business Strategy

 - Integrated Learning Platform “The Blacksmith”

It is a platform to provide training services (Integrated Learning 

Services) that meet the lifestyle of today’s people, who can 

learn and develop themselves anytime, anywhere.

 - Software Application “PRTR Connect”

This application was developed to manage employees’ working 

time. It facilitates supervisors and employees in submitting 

requests to supervisors, as well as monitoring working time, 

leave balance, and approval of requests by line supervisors in 

real time. Employees and supervisors can access the PRTR 

Connect system via mobile application and web application.

 - JOB PLATFORM “NEXMOVE”

It is a technological development to search for candidates 

based on experience in recruitment services, making it possible 

to search for candidates that meet more needs. 

 - CRM Software Application “PRTR Link”

It is a program to connect with groups of outstanding job 

applicants via the Line platform and has been developed to be 

a CRM program that can keep a database of job applicants from 

the job application process until hiring, It’ s make the recruiters 

to find job applicants quickly and according to customer needs 

and enhance work to be more efficient.

 4. PRTR Group focuses on developing services to 

meet international standards to build confidence in PRTR’s 

information security and services. At present, the Company has 

been certified with the ISO 27001 Information Security Management 

System to ensure that clients’ information is secure. PRTR also 

continues to focus on developing other standards to deliver 

the best service and to ensure clients trust in PRTR’s services.

 1. PRTR Group focuses on building PRTR brand  
awareness and developing total HR solutions, both offline and 
online. This enables PRTR to become one of Thailand’s leading 
outsourcing and recruitment service providers. 
PRTR currently has the following services covering human 
resources:
• Recruitment Service at All Levels
• Outsourcing Service
• Payroll Service
• Background Check Service
• Online and Offline Training Service                                              

(Integrated Learning Services) 
• Job Platform Service 
• Human Capital Management Program  
• Recruitment Service Oversea
The Company continues to focus on expanding other human 
resources services to meet end-to-end customer needs, as well 
as creating brand awareness by sharing human resources 
knowledge in the form of articles on PRTR’s main website and 
through various social media channels.

 2. PRTR Group emphasizes building business partnerships 
with an understanding of the different problems and needs of 
each client. With nearly 30 years of experience in providing 
human resources services, PRTR is able to guide and help solve 
problems to avoid disruption to clients’ business operations, 
create satisfaction, and strengthen human resources for clients. 
PRTR believes and intends to develop human resources 
services to be a partner in people to create strength and 
sustainability for clients. 

 3. PRTR Group focuses on the development and 
adoption of technology to support the efficiency of human 
resource management. In the past, technology has been 
continuously developed, such as
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1995

1.1.2 Significant Changes and Developments

• The group of shareholders established 
PRTR Recruitment and Outsourcing 
(Eastern Seaboard) Co., Ltd. (“ES”) 
to conduct  recruitment business 
for the Eastern Seaboard with a 
registered capital of 2,000,000 Baht.

• EXE increased its registered capital 
to 7,000,000 baht. 

• PRTR increased its 
registered capital to 
4,000,000 baht. 

• The group of shareholders established 
PRTR Executive Company Limited 
(“EXE”) to conduct recruitment business 
for employees in senior management 
positions with a registered capital of 
1,000,000 baht.

• EXE increased its registered capital to 
5,000,000 baht.

1993
• Established PRTR 

with a registered 
capital of 2,000,000 
baht to operate a 
recruitment business 
(“Recruitment”). 

2005

2000
• PRTR expanded its 

services to the 
outsourcing business. 

2006
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• ES increased its registered capital to 
6,000,000 baht.

• EXE increased its registered capital to 
9,000,000 baht.

• The group of shareholders established 
PRTR and Business Process Outsourcing 
Co., Ltd. (“BPO”) to operate the 
recruitment and outsourcing business 
with a registered capital of 2,000,000 
baht. 

• PRTR increased its 
registered capital to 
6,000,000 baht.

• ES increased its 
registered capital to 
8,000,000 baht. 

• The group of shareholders established 
PRTR Japan Recruitment Co., Ltd. 
(“JP”) to operate the recruitment 
business for Japanese organizations 
operating in Thailand with a registered 
capital of 2,000,000 baht.  

• JP increased its registered capital to 
4,000,000 baht.

• PRTR increased its 

registered capital to 

10,000,000 baht.

• PRTR increased its 
registered capital to 
5,000,000 baht.

2008

2011
2015

2010
2012
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2021

2020

2019
• In order to provide clarity in 

business operations, the group 
of shareholders established 
PRTR Recruitment Company 
Limited (“RE”) with a registered 
capital of 2,000,000 baht to 
separate the recruitment 
service business from PRTR 
and PRTR conducted business 
only in the area of outsourcing 
service.

• Restructured the group to 
eliminate conflicts of interest 
to prepare for listing on the 
Stock Exchange of Thailand. 
PRTR acquired 99.9% of RE 
and ES shares from existing 
shareholders. 

• Registered the dissolution of companies with 
similar business characteristics, including 
EXE and JP to eliminate conflicts of interest.

• BPO ceased to be a recruitment company and 
major shareholders signed a memorandum 
of understanding not to engage in business 
competition with PRTR. 

• Established NEXMOVE Platform 
Recruitment Co., Ltd. (“NEXMOVE”) 
to operate a comprehensive 
online job search platform 
(Job Platform) with a registered 
capital of 1,000,000 baht.

• Established The Blacksmith 
Co., Ltd. (“BLACKSMITH”) to 
provide online, platform-based 
and offline training services 
(Integrated Learning Services) 
with a registered capital of 
1,000,000 baht (commencing 
operations in Q2/2021).
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• Transformed PRTR into a public limited company and increased its registered 
capital to 300,000,000 baht at a par value of 0.5 baht per share.

• In July, NEXMOVE increased its registered capital to 45,000,000 baht, and in August, 
it successfully obtained a recruitment permit for jobseekers to work in the country, 
and changed its name to Nextmove Platform Recruitment Co., Ltd., starting 
business in October.

• In October, NEXMOVE filed an application for registration of the service mark   
“NEXMOVE,” which currently licensed to use the trademark for 10 years.

• In December, BLACKSMITH filed an application for registration of the service mark 
“The BLACKSMITH,” which currently licensed to use the trademark for 10 years.

2022

• On February 2023, PRTR signed a joint venture agreement with I AM 
Consulting Co., Ltd. (“I AM”), a software development company 
unrelated to PRTR, to establish Pinno Solutions Co., Ltd. (“Pinno”), a 
subsidiary in which PRTR will hold a 60% stake. Pinno will invest in a 
new business, providing “IPOP” application software, which is a 
human capital management program.

• On February 2023, PRTR registered the establishment of Pinno with 
a registered capital of 50,000,000 baht, 60% owned by PRTR and 
40% owned by I AM representatives. The business commenced 
immediately.

• On March 2023, PRTR was listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand 
and started its initial public offering (IPO).

• On August 2023, PRTR registered PRTR Global Co., Ltd. with a          
registered capital of 5,000,000 baht, held by PRTR at 99.99%, to 
conduct a recruitment service to work abroad.

2023
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1.1.3 Purpose of Use of the Proceeds

1.1.4 The obligations committed by the Company in the securities offering
information statement and/or the licensing conditions of the office (if any)
and/or the conditions of receipt of securities of the Stock Exchange of
Thailand (if any).

- None -  

 PRTR has an objective to use the proceeds from this IPO of approximately 1,080,000,000 baht (before deducting offering 

expenses) or approximately 1,042,816,000 baht (after deducting offering expenses) for the following:

Unit: Million Baht

1. To repay loans from financial institutions 

that have no connection with financial 

advisers and/or distribution and distribution 

underwriting manager.

By 2024

By 2024, as of 
December 31, 2022, 

there were 548.5 
million baht in loans 

from financial            
institutions. 

521.4

521.4

1,042.8

521.4

221.4

742.8

0.0

300.0

300.0

2. To be used as working capital.

Total

Purpose of Use of the Proceeds Estimated
Amount

Balance as
of December

31, 2023 

Amount Used
as of December

31, 2023

Expected Period
of Use of

the Proceeds 
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1.1.5 Name, location of headquarters, type of business, company registration
number, telephone, fax, company website, number, and type of all sold shares
of the Company

 The Company focuses on total HR solutions to meet the needs of clients, especially PRTR, which focuses on outsourcing 

services. Other services will be managed by six subsidiaries with specific business structures, as follows:

1. PRTR Recruitment Co., Ltd. (“RE”) operates recruitment 

services.

2. PRTR Recruitment and Outsourcing (Eastern Seaboard) Co., 

Ltd. (“ES”) operates recruitment services on the Eastern 

Seaboard. Due to legal restrictions, a separate company has 

to be established for local services.

3. NEXMOVE Platform Recruitment Co., Ltd. (“NEXMOVE”) 

operates an online job search platform. 

4.  The Blacksmith Company Limited (“BLACKSMITH”) operates 

    an online training service through platforms and offline and 

     online seminars (Integrated Learning Services).

5.  Pinno Solutions Company Limited (“Pinno”) operates the 

     human capital management program.

6.  PRTR Global Co., Ltd. (“PRTR Global”) operates recruitment 

     services to work abroad.

Name   :

Abbreviation of Securities : 

PRTR Group Public Company Limited

2034/82 Italthai Tower, 18th Floor, New Petchburi Road, Bang Kapi Subdistrict, Huai Khwang District, Bangkok

300,000,000 baht

300,000,000 baht

600,000,000 shares

PRTR

Head Office Location :

Telephone  :

Company website  :

Registered Capital   :

Paid-up Capital   :

Number of Ordinary Shares :

0.5 baht/share

02-716-0000

https://www.prtr.com

Par value   :

Registration Number : 0107565000352

1. Provide a comprehensive HR outsourcing services, including staffing in various positions sufficient for the needs 
of clients, preparation of salary information, remuneration, employee benefits, management, and training of 
employees.

2. Provide a recruitment service from a staff level to an executive level by acting as an intermediary between 
candidates and companies seeking employees to work in various areas, including sending people to work 
abroad.

3. Provide an online job search platform (Job Platform).
4. Provide online training via the platform and offline (Integrated Learning Service).
5. Provide human capital management program software. 
6. Provide recruitment service - oversea

Business Type  :

1.2 Nature of Business Operations
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Business Structure of the Company and Its Subsidiaries

Note:  
- The shareholding of 25.1 percent of NEXMOVE is held by Mr. Jariyah Boonpitaksatit, NEXMOVE’s executive, who is an expert in recruitment and 

a driver of NEXMOVE projects and contributes to PRTR’s expansion of new businesses to the Job Platform, as well as not being a person who 
may have conflicts with PRTR.

- The Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 3/2566 on February 23, 2023, resolved to approve the capital increase and offering of shares in BLACKSMITH 
in the amount of 24,000,000 baht at a par value of 100 baht per share, divided into the offering of capital increase to PRTR in the number of 
202,500 shares and Ms. Sukanya Rungchaeng (executive) in the number of 37,500 shares. After the capital increase, PRTR will have a remaining 
shareholding of 84.9%, and Ms. Sukanya holds 15.0%. BLACKSMITH will complete the capital increase and offering by Q1/2023. However, the 
said executive has a long history of expertise and understanding in the human resource management and human resource skill development 
businesses and has driven BLACKSMITH projects and helped PRTR expand its new business to the Integrated Learning Services, including not 
being a person who may have a conflict with PRTR.

- I Am Consulting Company Limited holds 39.9% of PINNO shares.
- The Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 5/2566 on August 9, 2023, resolved to approve the establishment of a subsidiary company named PRTR 

Global Company Limited, which was registered on August 31, 2023, with a registered capital of five million baht. PRTR invested 99.9% of the 
issued and paid-up capital.

 The structure of PRTR for 2021–2023 by type of business is as follows:

 * Other income includes profit from the sale of assets, the exchange rate, interest income, and remedies from the Social Security Office for 
Employer Entrepreneurs (for 2021), etc.   

Outsource

Recruitment

Integrated Learning Services

5,341.5

213.0

1.4

96.1%

3.8%

0.0%

5,869.0

233.1

9.5

96.0%

3.8%

0.2%

Job Platform

HRIS Platform

- - 0.1 0.0%

5,555.9 6,111.7

2.4 0.1% 5.0 0.1%

5,558.3 100% 6,116.7 100%

6,104.3

267.3

19.4

95.1%

4.2%

0.3%

2.3 0.0%

- - 0.1 0.0% 14.5 0.2%

6,407.8

14.2 0.2%

6,422.0 100%

Revenue by Business Group

Revenue from Integrated Services

Other Revenue*

Total Revenue

Audited Budget

% % %Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht

2021 2022 2023

Outsourcing Services
PRTR Group PCL

PRTR Recruitment Co., Ltd.
Recruitment Services

99.9%

PRTR Global 
Recruitment Co.,Ltd
Recruitment Services

99.9%

PRTR Recruitment and 
Outsourcing (Eastern 
Seaboard) Co., Ltd.

Recruitment Services
99.9%

NEXMOVE Platform 
Recruitment Co., Ltd.
Online job Platform

74.9%

The Blacksmith Co., Ltd.
integrated Learning 

Services
84.9%

PINNO Solutions Co., Ltd.
Human Capital 

Management Program
59.9%

1.2.1 Revenue Structure
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1.2.2 Information About Products
and Services

1. Nature of Service

Outsourcing Service Business  
 It provides management services for hiring qualified 
and numbered employees in accordance with the needs of 
clients, including HR outsourcing services to meet the needs of 
companies or organizations that have a large demand for 
employees in a short period of time, or have a need to hire 
short-term employees, or are not ready for personnel management. 
Key employees that the Company provides management 
services to include product consultants, customer service staff, 
engineers/technicians, office staff, and production line workers in 
industrial plants; the duration of service depends on the contract. 
Qualified employees will be employed as PRTR employees. The 
Company will contract to hire employees for a period equal to 
the back-to-back service contract with clients. At the date and 
time agreed upon by the contract, employees will begin to 
perform their duties within the scope of work and within the 
client’s premises.

 PRTR’s services cover the recruitment process, 
background checks, orientation and training to provide employees 
with readiness and specific skills in line with the needs of clients, 
and recruitment of backup employees in the event of an 
emergency where key employees are unable to be on duty so 
that the client’s business operations are not interrupted, including 
the provision of payroll and benefit management services with 
accuracy. Information about absence, leave, and lateness can be 
collected through the management system named PRTR 
Connect, which is a system developed by PRTR to record the 
time in and out of work from anywhere, such as a group of 
employees who have to go out to work, for example, a group of 
salespeople. This system also facilitates supervisors and employees 
in submitting requests to supervisors and checking working hours, 
remaining leave, and real-time approval of requests by supervisors. 
Employees and supervisors can access the PRTR Connect system 
via mobile applications and web applications. 

Once entering into a contract with a client, a meeting of the client 
care team will be held to get the details of each customer’s 
specific contract service, including holding regular meetings with 
the customer. The team consists of teams performing different 
functions that cover the entire scope of work according to the 
contract. The team members will comprise the following teams:

• The sales team, which is the main point of contact for 
overall project supervision, communicates opinions and 
issues from the customer.

• The human resources team in charge of staffing will plan 
with the customer to recruit employees according to the 
customer’s plan to ensure that the customer’s business 
operations are uninterrupted. 

• The human resources team, which takes care of employees 
from orientation, payment of remuneration, payroll calculations, 
and benefits. It coordinates closely with customers to 
ensure that employees can work effectively to keep the 
customer’s business operations uninterrupted.  

The advantages of using PRTR’s services for employers       
(companies/organizations) are: 
(1) Obtaining employees with the required competence and 
     expertise and be ready to work immediately.
(2) Hiring employees for the required period of time.
(3) Having personnel management specialists in charge, which is 
     not a core activity of the organization.
(4) Save costs in procurement and installation of HR Management 
     systems within the organization. 

The benefits to employees are:
(1) Being a stable company employee.
(2) Having a complete and accurate payroll and benefits system.
(3) Receiving training and key skills development.
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 In 2023, PRTR provided employee recruitment services to more than 400 companies with approximately 16,813 outsourced 

employees. Details of the number and types of employees that PRTR managed to hire from 2021–2023 are as follows:

Product Consultant

Office Staff

Worker

Engineer / Technician

Sale & Marketing

IT

Customer Service

4,573

2,964

2,274

1,354

1,873

293

5,690

3,028

2,281

1,334

1,402

369

14,596 14,896

6,710

3,384

1,975

1,628

1,553

1,265 792 953

610

16,813

Number and Type of Outsourced Employees 
Managed by the Company

Total

Balanced as of December 31

2021 2022 2023

Recruitment Service Business
Recruitment services are provided under PRTR Recruitment Co., 
Ltd. (“RE”) and PRTR Recruitment and Outsourcing (Eastern 
Seaboard) Co., Ltd. (“ES”). Due to legal restrictions, ES had to be 
established for local services and to meet the needs of customers. 
The Company established PRTR Global Co., Ltd. (“PRTR Global”) 
to provide recruitment services to work abroad.

RE, ES, and PRTR Global provide recruitment services from staff 
level, middle level, to executive level with qualifications in line with 
the needs of customers. The factors that obviously distinguish RE, 
ES, and PRTR Global’s services from other operators are that RE, 
ES, and PRTR Global have staff recruiters who specialize in 
customer care in a variety of industries, such as information 
technology (IT), logistics, pharmaceuticals, property, and fast 
-moving consumer goods (FMCG), resulting in an understanding of 
the needs of customers who may have different needs in 
different businesses and industries. Before starting the recruitment 
process, RE, ES, and PRTR Global will talk to the relevant line 
supervisors of the customer company to understand the nature 
of the work and the characteristics of candidates required by the 
line supervisor or the Company. Candidates who have passed  
the selection process will become regular personnel of the 
customer’s company.

The scope of services covers the recruitment process of qualified 
personnel defined by the customer through the screening 
process for both knowledge and specialized skills tests, as well as 
interviews to assess the readiness and personality of candidates. 

When candidates are found that meet the requirements set by 
the customer, the list of qualified candidates and their resume 
will be submitted to the customer company for interview and 
testing. When candidates have been selected to work with the 
customer company, it will go through the process of monitoring 
the candidates’ performance to see if they can meet expectations 
and pass the probationary period. However, during the probationary 
period or within the period of about four months, if the customer 
company and the candidate have problems without being able 
to allow the person to continue in the duties, RE, ES, and PRTR 
Global will recruit a new employee to replace the previous 
employee at no additional cost to the customer for recruiting the 
replacement.

The advantages of using recruitment services for companies/ 
organizations are:
(1) To be able to recruit people who truly suit the job, because 
    RE, ES, and PRTR Global collect the required personnel 
    qualification data directly from the relevant line supervisors. 
(2) To save time in screening applicants because the list of 
    applicants received by customers includes persons who have 
    successfully qualified for both qualifications and skills. 
(3) To ensure that the required personnel can be employed for 
    a specified period of time. 
(4) To access talent resources, even if the company/organization 
    does not have a recruiting department. 

The benefits that the applicant will receive are:
(1) A clear selection process.
(2) Quick application results.
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The Business Provides an Online Job Search Platform (Job 
Platform)
The online job search platform is operated by NEXMOVE 
Platform Co., Ltd., which started its recruitment business in 
Q4/2022. NEXMOVE acts as an intermediary to help those who 
are interested in applying for jobs and companies who want to 
find employees meet each other. NEXMOVE’s services are 
suitable for companies/organizations that have internal human 
resources divisions responsible for the announcement, 
selection, and interview of candidates. NEXMOVE is designed 
for companies/organizations to manage the recruitment 
process by themselves by creating job postings, searching and 
screening candidates for jobs (talent search), and managing

candidate information, and summarizing and reporting 
candidate information (Report & Dashboard). It can also manage 
the relationship with candidates from the initial application 
process to the start of the job (candidate management), as well 
as strengthening the brand of companies/organizations to be 
recognizable to candidates (employer branding). Also, 
candidates can search for jobs that meet their needs from a 
variety of companies in one place. NEXMOVE can be used in 
the form of a website. 

NEXMOVE promotes total HR solutions by providing PRTR, RE, 
ES, and PRTR Global with a database of new candidates.

 For the main customers of the recruitment business, there are a variety of industries such as the consumer goods industry, 
plant industry, energy industry, IT industry, and service industry. From 2021 to 2023, the number of recruitments for candidates is 
shown in the table.

Total number of positions available for employment 1,498 1,627 2,438

Balanced as of December 31

2021 2022 2023
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The business provides online, platform-based, and offline 
training services (Integrated Learning Services)
Training services are provided by The Blacksmith Company 
Limited (“BLACKSMITH”), providing both offline and online 
training courses. Currently, this business primarily offers offline 
courses. 

BLACKSMITH currently offers more than 50 offline training 
courses and over 400 online training courses, including hard 
and soft skills courses. Offline training courses are mostly 
offered to corporate customers. The learning is not in the form 
of general training but will be in Integrated Learning Services 
because PRTR is involved in the human resources business, 
which includes training personnel to be ready for work at all 
levels. This allows PRTR to understand the weaknesses of 
conventional training where the content does not go in depth, 
so learners cannot adapt the course content to meet all needs 
or engage as much as they should. During the training,      
BLACKSMITH can develop courses with instructors to meet the 
needs of customers and help solve the problems of each 
organization as much as possible. The training model will be a 
combination of education, learning from case studies, 
workshops where participants can apply their knowledge 
gained in real-life situations, feedback after the training, and 
follow-up and answering questions that may arise after the  

training when participants apply the knowledge in real life. 
Offline courses include: 
• Influencing Communication in Action Course: This course 

teaches us four ways to communicate with different personalities 
to increase cooperation and techniques for persuading change 
or changing actions for success at work.

• Positive Leadership Course: This course is designed to develop 
supervisors, managers, and executives to become positive 
leaders. The course will teach participants how to identify 
new opportunities, manage quality work, and motivate their 
teams to show their best ability by using positive psychology.

• From Conflict to Collaboration Course: This course creates an 
attitude of collaboration and encourages teams to solve 
problems together creatively and express viewpoints with 
understanding of others in order to reduce conflicts and 
manage them into cooperation within the organization.

• The Critical Thinking for Problem Solving and Decision-Making 
Course: This course teaches critical thinking skills to break the 
root cause of a problem, find solutions to problems, and 
make effective decisions without prejudice.

• Strategic Thinking and Planning Course: This course is for 
managers and executives. It teaches them the tools and 
methods of analyzing the internal and external environment 
to come up with a strategic plan to meet business goals that 
is put into practice.

 Purchasing offline training courses will be charged once.

There are more than 400 online training courses, focusing on 
serving both individual and corporate customers, as well as 
offline training courses. From PRTR understanding the 
weaknesses of conventional training, although online training 
cannot engage participants as much as offline training, BLACK-
SMITH will develop the curriculum with trainers to meet and 
answer questions that trainees may have in the course so that 
the trainees can get the maximum knowledge and benefits. 
BLACKSMITH provides two forms of online training courses: 
(1)  Single Purchasing: Trainees pay for courses they are 
interested in by being able to resume the course purchased 
within the specified period.
(2)  Subscription Purchasing: Trainees pay for the training and 
can take an unlimited number of courses within the specified 
period.
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Human Capital Management Software Service Business
Human Capital Management Program business services are operated under Pinno Solutions Co., Ltd. (“Pinno”). Based on past personnel 
services, PRTR found that there are still many corporate customers who want to manage their human resources on their own but still lack 
appropriate software applications. PRTR therefore envisages a business opportunity in this area by providing the personnel management 
software application “IPOP,” which is software developed and serviced by I AM Consulting Co., Ltd. (“I AM”). The software is flexible to 
deploy and can meet the needs of a variety of corporate customers. Whether it is a small or large organization, or how complicated the 
workflow can be, employees, supervisors, the HR Department of that organization can easily and rapidly manage human resource data and 
tasks anywhere, anytime, and reduce procedures and paperwork. The software application supports all devices, whether it is a PC/ 
notebook, smartphone, or tablet and supports both iOS and Android systems.

 The online training courses will include courses that BLACKSMITH developed with trainers, which are exclusive to BLACKSMITH, 
and courses that are exclusively copyrighted by the trainers. Each trainer is an expert and has experience in various fields. 

Candidates can take online training courses on the BLACKSMITH website at https://theblacksmith.io/   anytime, anywhere. When they 
complete the course, there will be a test for the learners’ knowledge. For those learners who pass the test, they will receive a certificate 
for that course. 

 With PRTR’s experience in both staffing and recruitment services that understand the needs of both jobseekers and job-seeking 
companies, this makes it possible to design BLACKSMITH training courses that meet the needs of both parties. PRTR also contributes 
to BLACKSMITH’s opportunity to reach out to corporate customers, which are the existing customer base of PRTR. 

Examples of training courses include:
• Winning Mindset Course: This course teaches techniques to 

develop a growth mindset to tackle challenges, recover 
from failures, and embrace change with a positive attitude, 
including continuous self-improvement techniques with Grit.

• Effective Communication for Success Course: This course provides 
knowledge and understanding of effective communication, 
the structure of the message to make speakers and listeners 
understand each other, as well as being able to adapt their 
communication and feedback to suit audiences with 
different personalities. This results in mutual understanding, 
being collaborative, and working efficiently. 

• Innovative and Design Thinking Course: It is a training course 
that applies the concept of design thinking to innovate to 
design new products and services, including adjusting existing 
work processes to better meet the needs of customers or users.

• AI Tools for Productivity at Work Course: This is a course that 
will help participants learn techniques for using various AI 
tools to make their work easier, reduce work time, and be 
more efficient.

• Essential Leadership Course: It teaches managers and leaders 
to excel in management, team management, and people 
management and learn how to inspire and motivate teams to 
perform effectively.
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IPOP has three main systems that are essential to the organization: 
A. Employee Profile

• Classify data storage categorically. The system supports 
storing hierarchical organizational structures to define 
approval lines.

• Employees can review/edit/add personal information to 
keep it up to date and accurate, including submitting 
requests for certifications for various purposes, without 
having to go through the HR Department.

• Be able to record employee records from entry, tenure, 
and affiliated departments to retirement by period of 
time, as well as reviewing historical data.

B.  Time Management  
• Support setting holiday calendars, work schedules, leave 

types, and leave entitlements based on employee 
entitlements.

• Employees can check in/check out from their smartphones 
to record entry and exit times, including using Self 
Service to create leave requests, overtime requests, 
work schedule switching, and off-site operations.

• Supervisors can schedule work and review team performance 
data, as well as manually approving requests.

• Time recording can be accurately matched against work 
schedules, holiday calendars, and overtime requests to 
process and apply the results for payroll calculations.

C.  Payroll
• Support unlimited types of income and deductions, and 

define a variety of processing cycles based on the type 
of employee, including special payments.

• Employees can save allowances, request changes to the 
provident fund accumulation rate, and view Payslip and 
50 bis via the Self Service system.

• Accurately process salary, overtime, and other types of 
compensation; automatically calculate historical payouts.

• Legal reports can be issued to submit to the Revenue 
Department, Social Security, and fund managers, as well 
as reports necessary for reconciliation and validation.

• Support the formulation of various welfare plans and 
types of benefits by determining the right to reimburse 
benefits for employees and their families, as well as the 
limit and period of exercise according to the Company’s 
conditions.

• Employees can create a request for welfare claims, 
check the balance, check the balance, and attach 
supporting documents for reimbursement in person 
through the Self Service system.

• Reports can be issued to verify information on the 
employee benefit plan and employee claims. 
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The summary of the essence of the joint venture is as follows:

Pinno’s Business Operations Provide personnel management software application, which is a personnel 
management software developed by I AM.

Relationship between PRTR              
and I AM 

There is no connection between them, 49% of I AM’s major shareholders are TIS 
Inc., a Japanese juristic person, and TISI (Thailand) Co., Ltd., a Thai juristic person 
engaged in various management consulting businesses.

The Amount of Investment Used by 
Pinno   

• Pinno will purchase the IPOP software from I AM for approximately 32 million 
baht by Q2/2023 using funds from paid-up registered capital.

Nature of Pinno’s Business Operations • Provide software applications to the general public as personnel management 
applications, which store information about attendance, absence, lateness, 
leave, leave entitlement, and the calculation of workers’ remuneration.

• Provide technology services related to personnel management.
• Other business as agreed between PRTR and I AM.  

Important Terms of the Joint 
Venture Agreement in Subsidiaries 

• Appointment of Directors:  Pinno will have five directors. PRTR has the right to 
appoint directors in proportion to its shareholding (3 persons).

• Authorized Director: Two directors sign together with at least one director from 
PRTR.

• PRTR Role: Responsible for business strategy, financial management, accounting, 
and staffing.

• I AM Role: Responsible for the development, software implementation, and 
software-related activities to ensure smooth operations.

• Right of First Refusal: If a party wishes to sell some or all of its shares to another 
person, that party must offer the shares to the other party in writing at a 
reasonable price. If the party receiving the offering does not respond within 30 
days, the party wishing to sell the shares can sell the shares to another party 
at a price that is no better than that offered to the other party.

• If I AM develops software identical to the software provided by Pinno in the 
future, PRTR must be accorded the right of refusal before proceeding.

• I AM will not develop people management software to compete with IPOP.

I AM is a Thai juristic person company that has been established since 2004. It operates software development and software consulting 
businesses and has continuous performance, and is known in the software consulting business. The major shareholders of I AM are TIS 
Inc. (a Japanese juristic person) and TISI (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (a Thai juristic person), which hold 100% of the shares and are part of TIS 
INTEC Group in Japan, a listed company on the Japan Stock Exchange and one of the leading IT companies in Japan. It operates in the 
management business and is a service provider of IT, cloud computing, software development, and business solutions. Accordingly, it 
is a co-investor that PRTR deems to have potential. 

PRTR will operate the human capital management program through its subsidiary, Pinno Solutions Co., Ltd. (“Pinno”), in which PRTR 
holds 60% of the shares and representatives from I AM hold the other 40% of the shares. Pinno was established in February 2023 with 
a registered capital of 50 million baht. PRTR has acquired 60% of the shares, representing an investment of 30 million baht.

023
Annual Report 2023  (Form 56-1 One Report)
PRTR Group Public Company Limited

Company Structure and Operations



Policies and Strategies

1)  Marketing Strategy
Building PRTR brand awareness to be recognized by both 
candidates and customer companies through marketing tools 
such as search engines on web browsers to help searchers find 
the PRTR brand at the top of the list, as well as building a credible 
brand image through quality service and making PRTR’s website 
the main platform for communicating to the target audience. This 
also includes sharing human resources knowledge in the form of 
articles on PRTR’s main website and through various social media 
channels.

2)  Recruitment Strategy  
Recruiting the number and quality of employees required by 
customers is important for outsourcing and recruitment services 
businesses. The candidate database is the core that gives the 
Company the opportunity to access candidate information, so 
having a large database increases the chances of reaching 
qualified candidates they are searching for. Therefore, the 
Company places importance on developing the database system 
to work efficiently and collect more application information. 
Currently, the Company has a database of more than 500,000 
applicants in the system, which comes from the profiles of those 
who have applied through PRTR and various leading job websites. 
In addition, candidates are recruited through other online 
channels, such as Line Groups of employee networks, Facebook 
of employee networks, and offline channels, such as creating a 
communication network, booths at places, for example, community 
sites near workplaces, educational institutions or universities, and 
attending labor meetings. 

 For outsourcing businesses, once the Company has 
recruited employees, they will enter into an employment 
contract with an employment period equal to the duration of the 
service contract with the customer (back-to-back).

2. Marketing and Competition 3)   Customer Relationship Retention Strategy
After the service, the Company will periodically monitor the 
feedback and satisfaction of customers to improve the service 
process. It also regularly provides advice and support to 
customers by holding monthly or quarterly meetings to 
monitor the situation and candidates’ performance and collect 
new customer needs. 

4)  Pricing Strategy
The Company has a policy to determine the price of services 
for the outsourcing service business based on the cost of 
services, which can be divided into three main parts: (1) the 
cost of employees provided by the Company, such as salaries, 
commissions, overtime, and other compensations; (2) the cost 
of employees of the Company providing services, such as the 
cost of the company team and the cost throughout the recruit-
ment process; (3) the cost of interest, which depends on a 
period of credit to customers; and (4) other expenses such as 
employee uniforms and medical examination fees. The service 
fee consideration will be taken into account in conjunction with 
the size of the number of employees required by the Compa-
ny, the complexity of the service, and the length of time that 
the customer company needs employees. The Company has 
set the service fee for the work in the standard service fee (cost 
calculation template), which will be reviewed and updated 
every year. In this regard, the Company will charge the custom-
er the service fee on a monthly basis as defined in the Service 
Contract, except for other expenses that will be charged on a 
one-time basis as per the actual occurrence.

 For the recruitment business, the Company will 
collect recruitment fees from customers, which are based on 
the proportion of the remuneration that each candidate will 
receive. The fee is only for selected candidates. The Company 
has set the standard term according to the candidate’s job 
level but will not charge for recruiting candidates at any level 
of employees.

With PRTR’s experience in both staffing and recruitment services that understand the needs of both employers and employees, PRTR 
believes that IPOP software application services will meet customers’ needs, and PRTR will be able to market and provide personnel 
management software applications to customers, whether they are existing or new customers in all businesses.
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Electrical Appliances/Mobile Phones

Telecommunications

E-commerce, IT

Construction

Energy

Automotive and Industries

Other Businesses

22.8%

11.3%

11.1%

10.3%

9.3%

3.7%

31.5%

Type of Business
Proportion of Service Income

2022 2023
22.7%

12.3%

12.3%

11.3%

9.2%

5.2%

27.0%

Channels for Contacts and Customer Services
An important channel to reach customers is direct contact with target customers, where the Company has sales staff who are 
responsible for recruiting customers, with a team separated by business type to be able to present complete information and 
services for each business customer. Customers who are interested in the Company’s services can also contact them through the 
Company’s website. They will coordinate and provide customers with complete information about the service. Moreover, the 
Company takes into account the quality and needs of customers as a priority; as a result, existing customers will spread the word. 
This is another channel that gives the Company the opportunity to reach new groups of customers. 

Competitive Conditions
An outsourcing service business has many entrepreneurs in small, medium, and large sizes and groups of customers from a wide range of 
businesses and different natures of work, such as drivers, security guards, cleaners, or groups of employees that the company focuses on 
outsourcing service, such as department store salesmen, field engineers, office workers, and production line workers in various industries. 
Although outsourcing services has many entrepreneurs, considering the size of its revenue (source: Business Online Public Company Limited 
(BOL)), the Company is considered to be one of the three market leaders in outsourcing services in Thailand, mainly comprised of                
international companies, namely Adecco and Manpower. In addition, the Company has competitors listed on the Stock Exchange of 
Thailand, such as Siamrajthani Public Company Limited and Burapha Technical Engineering Public Company Limited, and competitors that 
are other foreign affiliated companies, such as IFS Support Group.  

For recruitment services, operators in Thailand must obtain a business license from the Department of Employment, which is the government 
agency regulating such businesses directly. As of January 31, 2023, there are a total of 309 companies or offices that have been granted 
recruitment licenses for jobseekers in the country (source: Central Employment Registration and Workers Protection Division), all of which 
are considered direct competitors of the Company. If considering the size of revenue (source: Business Online Public Company Limited 
(BOL)), the Company is considered to be one of the four market leaders in recruitment services in Thailand, comprising Robert Walter, 
Michel Page, and JAC, and has other key competitors such as RGF Group and Argyll Scott, etc.

Characteristics of Customers and Target Customers
The Company’s main customers, both outsourcing services and recruitment services, are divided into two groups: private companies and 
government agencies, including state enterprises. For customers, major private companies can be divided by business characteristics, 
including consumer products, electrical appliances, telecommunications, e-commerce, IT, energy and petrochemicals, automotive, 
financial institutions, construction, and industrial plants. The Company’s geographical target customers will focus on areas with high 
economic growth, including Bangkok and its vicinity, and the Eastern Seaboard, such as Chonburi, Rayong, and Chachoengsao. 
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Industry Overview and Trends
The labor situation as of Q3/2023 has improved, with a total of 40.1 million people employed, which has grown from Q3/2022 to 1.3%, 
with non-agricultural employment growing by 2.0%. The industries that are the main drivers of employment include the hotel/restaurant 
sector, which has grown 8.3% according to the number of foreign tourists doubling from a year ago, while the agricultural sector has grown 
1% (source: Office of the National Economic and Social Development Council). As of Q3/2023, unemployment decreased to four hundred 
thousand people, representing an unemployment rate of 0.99%, while the same period in 2022 was 1.2%. The expansion of the labor 
sector adjusts in the same direction as the growth of the economy and the recovery of each industry. In the first nine months of 2023, GDP 
(Gross Domestic Product) had a growth rate of 1.9% (source: Office of the National Economic and Social Development Council).

Source: Number of Employments, Office of the National Statistical Office 

Number of Employee Change Rate (Right axis)

Source: LFS and Social Security Office, Ministry of Labour
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According to data from the Ministry of Finance, the Thai economy 
in 2023 was expected to continue expanding at 2.5% per year, 
and in 2024 it is projected to expand in the range of 2.7% to 3.7%. 
Contributing factors include (1) the recovery of export expansion; 
(2) the expansion of consumption and private investment; and (3) 
the continued recovery of the tourism sector. However, 
Thailand’s service sector plays a steadily increasing role, with a 
proportion of the service sector at 60.2% of GDP in 2022 and a 
proportion of employment at 53% of the total labor force, in line 
with the global economic structure that has shifted from depen-
dence on the manufacturing sector to the service sector. It is 
reflected in the increase to 64.3% of the world’s GDP in 2019 
compared to 60.4% in 2008. In developed countries such as the 
U.S. and the U.K., the service sector accounts for 75% of GDP and 
accounts for more than 70% of total employment, led by 
modern services such as IT services and intellectual and financial 
copyrights, which use advanced technology and labor skills to 
create considerable added value to the economy. 

Source: Gross National Product, Office of the National Economic and Social Development Council

Source: Ratio of Service Sector to GDP, Krungsri Research, Thai 
Business and Industry Trends 2024–2026
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Changes in service sector-dependent economic structure and the 
rapid development of technology have resulted in changing 
market demand for personnel. According to Job DB data, in the 
first half of 2021, the top five most in-demand lines of the job 
market were sales, customer service, and business development, 
which accounted for 15.3%; IT, which accounted for 14.8%; 
engineering, which accounted for 10.0%; marketing or public 
relations, which accounted for 8.6%; and accounting, which 
accounted for 6.7%.

Source:  Outsourcing and Shared Services 2019 – 2023, Deloitte
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 Due to the constantly growing economy and increasing demand, many organizations have to expand their businesses to 
accommodate changes that lead to an increase in the demand for workers, so the outsourcing services industry is likely to continue 
to grow. The research on outsourcing and shared services for 2019–2023, Deloitte estimates that during 2018–2023, the global 
outsourcing services market will grow by an average of 4% per year. It is expected that in 2023 the market value will reach USD 713.3 
million. The reasons that organizations use outsourcing services include: (1) it allows organizations to focus resources on core organizational 
activities; (2) it is able to solve personnel inadequacies; (3) it reduces administrative costs; and (4) it increases the efficiency of work 
outcomes from the specialized expertise of outsourcing personnel. 

Staffing is considered to be the core of both staffing and recruitment services. For this reason, PRTR places great emphasis on the 

database system for storing candidate data by upgrading the CRM (Customer Relationship Management) system to be more efficient 

and able to collect application data. As a result of this development, the Company has an active candidate database of more than 

500,000 candidates in the system, which is subdivided into engineering, technician, and construction, with about 20,000 candidates 

sorted by job description, education, and salary. Candidate information is sourced from PRTR and leading job websites to ensure that 

PRTR has access to the largest candidate database. 

Staffing Procedures

Outsourcing Services

Procedures for providing outsourcing services
1. The sales team contacts to receive customer needs, including 

job description and qualifications/capabilities of the required 
personnel.

2. Prepare a draft contract for outsourcing services and present it 
to the customer for consideration and signature.

3. The recruitment team conducts recruitment through resume 
screening, competency testing, criminal background and case 
checks (where required by the client), as well as interviewing 
candidates to find the one that best meets the customer’s 
needs.

4. If the candidate’s qualifications meet the requirements of the 
customer, PRTR will send the candidate’s resume to the 
customer company for further selection.

5. The customer arranges interviews with the candidates and 
submits the acknowledgment results and decision on the 
selection.

6. The customer company submits the interview results to the 
PRTR team for further operations.

7. PRTR receives the interview results. If the customer is not 
satisfied with the qualifications of the candidates selected by 
PRTR, their supervisor or the client company must specify a 
reasonable reason to benefit the recruitment team in the 
further selection of other candidates. 

8.  For successful candidates, PRTR will notify them of the result 
    of the application.  
9.  PRTR notifies the candidate of the start date and prepares    
     a salary and remuneration proposal for the customer.
10.  The customer approves the proposals on the wage rates 
      and remuneration. 
11.  The coordinating team conducts the employment process 
       and requires the employee to sign an employment contract.
12.  Deliver employees to work with customers on site as specified 
       in the contract and provide an orientation to employees to 
       have an understanding of the rules, regulations, requirements, 
       conditions, and policies, including the welfare and benefits, 
       before the commencement of work.   
13.  Pay wages and other benefits to employees as specified in 
      the employment contract. 
14.  Collect the service fee according to the outsourcing contract 
       from the client company. 
15.  Discuss and evaluate customer satisfaction, and use the 
       feedback received to improve the work to develop and 
       improve the service. 
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PRTR CUSTOMER (COMPANY/ORGANIZATION)

The Candidate dose not meet the requirements.

1. Contact
customer

and receive
the customer’s

needs.

2. Draft
and prepare
a contract 

sign.

3. Recruit
personnel
that meet

the customer's
needs.

4. Send the list
of selected

applicants to
the customer.

5. Schedule
an interview

and interview
the applicant.

6. Give feedback
and decide

on candidates.

7. Follow up
on interview

results.

8. Contact
candidates to

inform them of
job application

results.

9. Inform
the candidate

of the start date
and propose
a wage rate.

10. Approve
the proposed

wage rate.

11. Start
employment

and have
employees sign

employment
contracts.

12. Deliver
employees to
work and give

orientation.

13. Pay wages
and benefits
as specified

in the contract.

14. Collect
service fees

according to the
contract from
the customer.

15. Evaluate
customer

satisfaction
and make

improvements.
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PRTR CUSTOMER (COMPANY/ORGANIZATION)

1. Contact
the customer
and receive

the customer’s
needs.

2. Prepare
service contracts
for the customer

to sign.

3. Recruit
personnel
that meet

the customer’s
needs.

9. The candidate
starts working.

10. Collect
service fees.

11. Follow up on
the applicant's
performance.

5. Interview
and test

candidates

4. Send the list
of selected

candidates to
the customer for

consideration

8. Sign
an employment

contract with
the candidate

6. Notify
the results of
the interview.

7. Contact
the candidate to
inform them of
the interview 

The customer is not satisfied with the candidate's qualifications.

The candidate is unable to perform the job.

Recruitment Services

Recruitment Service Procedure 
1. Contact the customer to know the customer’s needs by 

asking for details about the job, including directly talking to 
the relevant supervisor to understand the desired work style 
and personnel characteristics.

2. Prepare a draft service agreement and present it to the 
customer for consideration and signature.

3. The recruitment team conducts the selection of qualified 
candidates from a database containing candidate data for 
more than 500,000 individuals, including websites and social 
media channels.

4. Arrange the appointment with candidates whose qualifications 
meet the needs of the customer to test the knowledge of 
various aspects as required by the customer, as well as 
interviewing them to assess their abilities and attitudes to 
check whether they are suitable for the job.

5. Submit the list of candidates who have passed the preliminary 
test for the customer to schedule the test and interview.

6.  The customer informs the interview results. In case the candidate 
    does not meet the needs, the team will discuss with the 
     customer in the interest of recruiting new candidates.
7.  For successful candidates, the Company will coordinate with 
     the candidates to make an appointment to sign an employment 
     contract with the client company.
8.  The candidate signs an employment contract with the client 
     company.
9.  The candidate commences his/her duties as an employee of 
     the client company.
10. On the date the candidate starts the job, the staff will record 
     the candidate’s information in the system to proceed with 
     the billing of services from the customer.
11. Follow up on the employee’s performance. In the event 
     that the employee is unable to perform the required work 
     in a period of three months, the recruitment team will select 
     a new candidate to replace the previous employee at no
     additional cost to the customer.
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ISO 27001:2013, licensed by SCK Certifications PV.t Ltd., is the information security management standard for the processes of policy 

formulation, processes, designation of responsible persons, control, monitoring, risk assessment, etc., to effectively protect business 

data and resources.

Lease Improvements 6.8 Owner No

Office Furniture 5.0 Owner No

Office Equipment (Printers, Fingerprint Scanners, Notebook Computers, Other Equipment) 19.2 Owner No

Right-of-Use Assets – Lease Improvements 33.0 Not owning the leased 
property

Not owning the leased 
property

Obligated by lease 
contract

Obligated by lease 
contract

Right-of-Use Assets – Office Equipment (Notebook Computers, Data Network 

Management System, Photocopiers)
3.5 Not owning the leased 

property
Obligated by lease 

contract

Right-of-Use Assets – Cars 2.5

Total 70.0

Item (Unit : Million Baht)
Net Accounting

Value as of
Dec. 31, 2023

Nature
of Ownership Obligation

As of December 31, 2023, PRTR has the main assets used in the 
business operation, namely, the right-of-use assets – leasehold 
improvement, the right-of-use assets – office equipment, and 
the right-of-use assets – cars.

Location of lease improvements and right-of-use assets – 
lease improvements are
• PRTR Head Office, 2034/81-83 Italthai Tower, New 

Petchburi Road, Bang Kapi Subdistrict, Huai Khwang District, 
Bangkok.

• PRTR Branch Office, No. 848/20 Village No. 3, Bo Win 
Subdistrict, Sriracha District, Chonburi.

• RE Office, No. 2034/97-99 Italthai Tower Building, New 
Petchburi Road, Bang Kapi Subdistrict, Huai Khwang District, 
Bangkok.

• ES Office, No. 1103/1, 11th Floor, Talay Thong Tower, 
Sukhumvit Road, Thung Sukla Subdistrict, Sriracha District, 
Chonburi.

• NEXMOVE Office, No. 2034/83 Italthai Tower, New 
Petchburi Road, Bang Kapi, Huai Khwang, Bangkok.

• BLACKSMITH Office, No. 2034/97 Italthai Tower, New 
Petchburi Road, Bang Kapi Subdistrict, Huai Khwang District, 
Bangkok.

• PRTR Global Office, No. 2034/81 Italthai Tower, New 
Petchburi Road, Bang Kapi Subdistrict, Huai Khwang District, 
Bangkok.

Standards Relating to PRTR Operations

The Company recognizes the importance of the environment, including the efficient use of energy and resources. The Company has a 
campaign to encourage employees to preserve the environment for society and communities, not create pollution, and use resources 
and energy efficiently.

The Company has a policy to save electricity consumption by campaigning for employees to turn off the lights in unused areas and a 
hybrid work policy where employees do not have to come to the office every day to reduce fuel consumption, including campaigning 
for employees to use water sparingly and to close the faucet completely after use. Moreover, it has a campaign to refrain from using 
paper by allowing employees to approve important items through the online system, which contributes to the sustainable reduction 
of paper and ink consumption.

Environmental Impact Management

3. Assets Used in Business Operations

(3.1) Rental Office and Equipment Improvements
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Computer Programs 53.0 Owner No

Platform 23.4 Owner No

Right-of-Use – Computer Programs - Owner
Obligated by
lease contract

Computer Programs in the Process of Installation 12.4

88.8

Owner

Owner

No

Total

1

2

3

4

Item (Unit : Million Baht) Net Accounting Value
as of Dec. 31, 2023 Nature of Ownership Obligation

(3.2) Intangible Assets

Type of TrademarkTrademark Ownership Duration
of Trademark

Renewal

(3.3) Trademarks of PRTR

The trademarks of PRTR are all registered in Thailand.

Type 35: Recruitment, Staffing, Personnel 

Services, HR Management Assistance,    

Payroll Services, etc. 

PRTR, RE,

ES

PRTR, RE,

ES

Every

10 Years

Every

10 Years

NEXMOVE

BLACKSMITH

Every

10 Years

Every

10 Years

10 Years

(Nov. 25, 2019

– Nov. 25, 2029)

10 Years

(Feb. 4, 2021

– Feb. 4, 2031)

10 Years

(Oct. 11, 2022

– Oct. 11, 2032) 

10 Years

(Dec. 28, 2022

– Dec. 28, 2032)

Type 41: Basic and High-level Training for 

Human Resource Development, Personnel 

Training, Training Management, Seminar 

Management, Job Interview Training, etc.

Type 38: Services to Access the Platform     

on the Internet, Website on the Internet

Type 41: Lecture Instruction, Production       

of Teaching/Learning Materials/Education  

/Audio and Video Recordings, Conference   

and Seminar Proceedings
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Note:  
1. Licenses No. 1, 2, and 7 are issued to juristic persons that meet the criteria of the Employment and Jobseeker Protection Act, B.E. 2528 (1985) under the 

supervision of the Department of Employment, which requires that in the case the applicant for employment permission is a juristic person, it must have Thai 
nationality, a Thai manager (licensee), and one of the directors who has the right to sign to bind the Company. 

2. ใFor License No. 5., PRTR currently does not have customers who are debt collection companies and/or activities related to debt collection. The reason for 
applying for such a license is that financial institution customers in the past asked PRTR to apply for a license before entering into a service contract with PRTR.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Issued byLicense To End
Date

Start
Date Type of Permission

(3.4) Important Licenses for Business Operations

Employment license 

for jobseekers to 

work in the country

Employment license 

for jobseekers to 

work in the country 

Employee ID card  

for RE

Employee ID card  

for ES

Debt collection 

business license (for 

outsource business)

Certificate of Membership 

of the Office of Small  

and Medium Enterprises 

Promotion 

Employment license 

for jobseekers to 

work in the country

Direct marketing 

business license

Jun. 16,

2023 

Jun. 27,

2025 

Dec. 5,

2022 

Dec. 5,

2024 

Nov. 28,

2019 

No expiry 

date.

Jun. 21,

2022

No expiry 

date.

Aug. 15,

2022

Aug. 14,

2024 

Dec. 2,

2022

No expiry 

date.

Granted permission to 
recruit jobseekers to 

work in the country with 
an employment zone 

within Bangkok. 

Granted permission to 
recruit jobseekers to 

work in the country with 
an employment zone 

within Chonburi. 

Granted permission to 
recruit jobseekers to 

work in the country with 
an employment zone 

within Bangkok. 

Granted permission to 

recruit jobseeker in the 

country. 

Granted permission to 

recruit jobseeker in the 

country. 

Operate a training 

business. 

Operate a debt 

collection business.

Operate a training 

business.

Valid for one year. The 

ID card of all employees 

has not expired yet.

Central Employment 

Registration Office 

RE by

Mr. Luck Dendee 

Employment

Registration Office, 

Chonburi Province 

ES by Ms. Janyaporn 

Wirojwutthikul 

Central Employment 

Registration Office 
RE employees working 

as recruiters

ES employees working 

as recruiters

Central Employment 

Registration Office

Deputy Commissioner of 

Metropolitan Police for 

the Metropolitan Police 

Commander

PRTR

The Office of Small and 

Medium Enterprises 

Promotion

Central Employment 

Registration Office 

Office of the Consumer 

Protection Board

BLACKSMITH

NEXMOVE by Ms. Jariya 

Boonpitaksatit

BLACKSMITH

Valid for one year. The 

ID card of all employees 

has not expired yet.
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(3.5) Office Lease Agreements

As of   December 31, 2023, PRTR and its subsidiaries have the following office lease agreements, which are recorded as part of the 

right-of-use assets – lease agreement improvements in the financial statements. 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Contract
Date Leased Property Lease

Period Rent Contractual TermsParties

Bangkok Office 3 
Company Limited 
(“Lessor”)
PRTR (“Lessee”)  

Office Building No. 2034/81, 

2034/82 (18-02/2), 2034/83 

(18-03) Italthai Tower, New 

Petchburi Road, Bang Kapi 

Subdistrict, Huai Khwang District, 

Bangkok for use as head office. 

• The Lessee pays a rental deposit in the amount of 
856,512 baht to the Lessor. At the expiration of 
the lease term, the Lessor will return such a 
deposit to the Lessee within 60 days if the leased 
property is in good condition.

• Office Building No. 2034/83 has been used for the 
operation of NEXMOVE, a subsidiary of the Lessee, 
with the Lessor’s consent.

• The Employer pays a deposit in the amount of 
1,284,768 baht to the Service Provider. At the 
expiration of the lease term, the Lessor will return 
such a deposit to the Lessee within 60 days after 
the end date of the lease agreement.

• The Employer is obliged to pay for other services, 
such as utilities, at the rate stipulated by the 
agreement.

• The Lessee pays a rental deposit in the amount of 
485,464.32 baht to the Lessor. At the expiration of 
the lease term, the Lessor will return such a 
deposit to the Lessee within 60 days if the leased 
property is in good condition.

• Office Building No. 2034/97 has been used for the 
operation of BLACKSMITH, a subsidiary of the 
Lessee, with the Lessor’s consent. 

• The Employer pays a deposit in the amount of 
728,196.48 baht to the Service Provider. At the 
expiration of the lease term, the Lessor will return 
such a deposit to the Lessee within 60 days after 
the end date of the lease agreement.

• The Employer is obliged to pay for other services, 
such as utilities, at the rate stipulated by the 
agreement.

• The Lessee pays a rental deposit in the amount of 
24,000 baht to the Lessor. At the expiration of the lease 
term, the Lessor will return such a deposit to the Lessee 
within 3 months after the end date of the lease 
agreement.

• The Lessee pays a service contract deposit in the 
amount of 115,200 baht to the Lessor. At the expiration 
of the lease term, the Lessor will return such a deposit 
to the Lessee within 3 months after the end date of the 
lease agreement. 

• The Lessee pays a rental deposit in the amount of 
14,400 baht to the Lessor. At the expiration of the lease 
term, the Lessor will return such a deposit to the Lessee 
within 3 months after the end date of the lease 
agreement.

• The Lessee pays a service contract deposit in the 
amount of 69,120 Baht to the Lessor. At the expiration 
of the lease term, the Lessor will return such a deposit 
to the Lessee within 3 months after the end date of the 
lease agreement. 

• The Lessee pays the Lessor a rental deposit in the 
amount of 7,200 baht. At the expiration of the lease 
term, the Lessor will return such deposit to the Lessee 
within 3 months after the end date of the lease 
agreement.

• The Lessee pays a service contract deposit in the 
amount of 40,320 baht to the Lessor. At the expiration 
of the lease term, the Lessor will return such a deposit 
to the Lessee within 3 months after the end date of the 
lease agreement.

• The Lessee pays the rent in advance and the 
rental deposit in the total amount of 72,000 baht 
to the Lessor. At the expiration of the lease term, 
the Lessor will return such a deposit to the Lessee 
within 30 days after the end date of the lease 
agreement. 

Space rental fee: 
249,816 

baht/month
Fixture rental fee: 

35,688 baht/month.

The service fee is 
428,256 

baht/month, 
payable by the 5th 
of every month.

The service fee is 
242,732.16 

baht/month, payable 
by the 5th of every 

month.

Space rental fee: 
8,000 baht/month.
Space service fee: 

38,400 baht/month, 
payable by the 5th   
of every month.

Space rental fee: 
4,800 baht/month
Space service fee: 

23,240 baht/month, 
payable by the 5th   
of every month.

Space rental fee: 
2,400 baht/month.
Spade service fee: 

13,440 baht/month, 
payable by the 5th   
of every month. 

Rent: 24,000 baht 
/month, payable 

from the 25th to 5th  
of every month.

Space rental fee: 
141,593.76 baht/month

Fixture rental fee: 
20,227.68 baht/month, 

payable by the 5th      
of every month. 

The service agreement for 
Lease Agreement No. 1, 

which consists of services for 
17 parking spaces, common 

areas, and various 
maintenance costs.

Office Building No. 
2034/97-99, Italthai Tower, 
New Petchburi Road, Bang 

Kapi Subdistrict, Huai 
Khwang District, Bangkok for 

the purpose of business 
operation. 

The service agreement for 
Lease Agreement No. 3, 

which consists of services 
for 12 parking spaces, 
common areas, and 

various maintenance costs.

Office and Parking Building 1, 
No. 1101, 11th Floor, Talay 
Thong Tower, Sukhumvit 

Road, Thung Sukla Subdistrict, 
Sriracha District, Chonburi 

Province for the purpose of 
business operation.

Office and Parking Building 1, 
No. 1102, 11th Floor, Talay 
Thong Tower, Sukhumvit 

Road, Thung Sukla Subdistrict, 
Sriracha District, Chonburi 
Province for the purpose   
of business operation.

Office and Parking Building 1, 
No. 1103/1, 11th Floor, Talay 

Thong Tower, Sukhumvit 
Road, Thung Sukla Subdistrict, 

Sriracha District, Chonburi 
Province for the purpose of 

business operation. 

2 commercial buildings, No. 
848/20, Village No. 3, Bowin 
Subdistrict, Sriracha District, 
Chonburi Province for the 

purpose of business operation 

Feb. 1, 2022 
(Renewed 

Agreement)

May 16, 2022 – 
May 15, 2025

(3 Years) 

May 16, 2022 – 
May 15, 2025

(3 Years)

Feb. 5, 2022 – 
Feb. 4, 2025

(3 Years)

Feb. 5, 2022 – 
Feb. 4, 2025

(3 Years)

Oct. 1, 2023 – 
Sep. 30, 2024

(1 Year)

Jul. 1, 2023 – 
Jun. 30, 2025

(2 Years)

Mar. 1, 2022 – 
Feb. 29, 2024

(2 Years)

Jun. 14, 2022 – 
Dec. 31, 2024

(3 Years)

Feb. 1, 2022 
(Renewed 

Agreement) 

Feb. 1, 2022 
(Renewed 

Agreement) 

Feb. 1, 2022 
(Renewed 

Agreement)

Jul. 17, 2023 

May 11, 2023

Feb. 14, 2022

Jun. 14, 2022

Bangkok Office 3 
Company Limited 
(“Service Provider”)
PRTR (the “Employer”) 

Bangkok Office 3 
Company Limited 
(“Lessor”)
RE (“Lessee”) 

Bangkok Office 3 
Company Limited 
(“Service Provider”)
RE (“Employer”)

Laemchabang City 
Center Co., Ltd.  
(“Lessor”)
ES (“Lessee”)

Laemchabang City 
Center Co., Ltd. 
(“Lessor”)
ES (“Lessee”) 

Laemchabang City 
Center Co., Ltd. 
(“Lessor”)
ES (“Lessee”)

Charoensin Asset Co., Ltd. 
(“Lessor”)
PRTR (“Lessee”)
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Note:  
1 The DSCR (Debt Service Coverage Ratio) is calculated by dividing earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and amortization 

(EBITDA) by the long-term liabilities due in that accounting period, which includes interest on both long- and short-term loans.

1

2

3

Total Loan
Limit

(Million
Baht)

Outstanding
Loan

(Million Baht)
as of December

31, 2022 Bo
rro

we
r

Le
nd

er Loan
Type

Contract
Date

Interest Rate
per Year

(%)

Collateral, Guarantee (Financial
Institution Has A Letter of Consent
to Cancel The Directors’ Guarantees
When PRTR Is Listed on The Stock

Exchange of Thailand)

Important
Financial

Conditions

(3.6) Loan Agreements

PRTR SCB

PRTR KBANK

PRTR UOB

PN

OD

LG

-

-

-

-

Maintained 

D/E Ratio no 

exceeding 

3.50 times1

• Registered trade receivables as 
business collateral in the amount 
of 285.0 million baht

• Granted the right to the deposit 
account as collateral 

• Registered trade receivables as 
business collateral in the amount 
of 218.0 million baht

• Registered trade receivables as 
business collateral in the amount 
of 110.0 million baht

Sep. 27, 2019 250.0 -

-

-

-

14.2

-

5.4

-

20.0 MOR

Up to 11.37% 
per annum or 
as determined 
by the bank  

15.0 -

Sep. 27, 2019

Sep. 27, 2019

PN

OD

200.0 MLR-1.7%

10.0 MOR

Oct. 22, 2020

PN 100.0 As 
determined 
by the bank 

Nov. 28, 2019

Oct. 22, 2020

LG 14.3 -Oct. 22, 2020

LG 10.0 -Nov. 28, 2019

-550.0Total Loans

17.739.3Total LG

(3.7) Leasing Agreements

As of December 31, 2023, PRTR has leasing agreements for software, notebook computers, information network management systems, 

and cars, which are shown in the right-of-use assets: computer programs, office equipment, cars. The agreement establishes the right 

to purchase when the lease agreement is due. All agreements are guaranteed by Ms. Risara Charoenpanich.
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(3.8) Insurance Policies

As of December 31, 2023, PRTR has the following insurance arrangements.

1

2

3

4

5

Coverage Details Insurance
Characteristics

Insurance
Limit (Baht) Beneficiary Insurance

Start Date
Expiration

DateCompanyNo.

PRTR
and 

Subsidiaries.

Insurance
Company

PRTR
and 

Subsidiaries.

PRTR
Group
PCL.

PRTR
and 

Subsidiaries.

PRTR

• Coverage for damages from recruitment, 
outsourcing, training (Integrated Learning 
Services), and web applications related to 
recruitment and outsourcing.

• Obligatory liability period after the end of 
insurance = 12 months.

• Underwriting Scope = Global, except U.S. 
and Canada.

• Coverage for general damage by specifying the 
indemnity limit per customer in the policy. The 
indemnity limit is 35,000,000 baht per time and for 
all, except for some customers that the indemnity 
limit may be specified per time and for all higher 
or lower than 35 million baht in the policy. 

• Coverage for furniture, furnishings, office equipment, 
electrical appliances, including notebook computers, air 
conditioners, televisions, etc. (excluding software)

• Coverage for such assets at locations of the Company 
and branches according to the certificates of PRTR, RE, 
ES, NEXMOVE, BLACKSMITH, Pinno, PRTR Global. 

• Zone of coverage within the insured workplace
• Coverage for legal liability from business 

operations and arising within or due to the use  
of the insured premises

Generali Life 
Assurance 
(Thailand)          
Plc., Ltd.

• The insurance company will compensate the employer 
for the amount of actual direct damage from fraudulent 
acts, embezzlement, or theft by detecting it in the 
period of insurance or later within 6 months or within      
6 months after the employment contract is terminated, 
as the case may be, whichever is earlier, and cover the 
contractual liability of the employer who has assigned 
the duty to the employee to help sell the goods 
purchased by another person from the employer for 
continued distribution.

• The insurance company will indemnify the employer in 
the amount of the actual direct damage for loss or 
damage to the property or contractual responsibility of 
the employer in relation to the goods distribution 
contract caused by the employee’s actions, which in the 
contract stipulates that the employee shall indemnify 
the employer.

Miscellaneous 

Professional 

Liability

PRTR
and 

Subsidiaries.

Jan. 9, 2024

Jun. 30, 2023

Jan. 9, 2025

Jun. 30, 2024

Mar. 3, 2023 Mar. 3, 2024

Mar. 3, 2023 Mar. 3, 2024

A period of 1 year (individual 

starting and ending periods)

PRTR
and 

Subsidiaries.

PRTR
and 

Subsidiaries.

PRTR
and 

Subsidiaries.

PRTR and/or 

Customer

50,000,000 

35,000,000 

50,000 - 

300,000

36,317,000

2,000,000 
per time and 

total 
throughout  
the policy 

period

General Liability 

/ Miscellaneous 

Accident Policy

Guaranteed for 

each employee

Property Risk

Third party 

liability

Dhipaya 
Insurance    
Plc., Ltd.

LMG Insurance 
Plc., Ltd.

LMG Insurance 
Plc., Ltd.

LMG Insurance 
Plc., Ltd.

6 PRTR
and 

Subsidiaries.

• Coverage for damages arising from mismanagement 
of directors and executive officers, covering 
responsibility from IPO.

Sep. 1, 2023 Aug. 31, 2024Minority 

shareholders, 

employees

100,000,000 Liability of 

directors and 

executive officers 

(D&O Insurance)

AIG Insurance 
(Thailand)    
Plc., Ltd.
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- None -

- None -

4. Undelivered Work

5. Future Projects

1.3.1 Shareholding Structure of the Group

1.3  Shareholding Structure of the Group

 The Company began its recruitment service business in 1993 by the Thai and English founders. In 2000, the Company expanded 
its services to include outsourcing. During 2005–2012, the shareholders established a group of companies to meet different business 
objectives, including (1) establishing EXE in 2005 to conduct recruitment business for senior management positions; (2) establishing ES 
in 2006 to conduct recruitment business on the East Coast; (3) establishing BPO in 2010 to conduct recruitment and outsourcing 
business; and (4) establishing JP in 2012 to conduct recruitment business for Japanese organizations in Thailand.

In 2019, RE was established to separate the recruitment business from PRTR and start restructuring the Group. PRTR acquired RE and 
ES shares from existing shareholders, making PRTR the majority shareholder of the two companies with a 99.9% shareholding after the 
transaction, and proceeded to discontinue the business with similar business operations in order to eliminate conflicts of interest, 
including JP and EXE. BPO is currently unable to compete with PRTR and its subsidiaries due to its termination as a recruitment company 
on March 20, 2020, and the majority of BPO shareholders signed a non-compete agreement with PRTR.

In 2021, the Company had a strategy to expand its customer base to other businesses. Therefore, NEXMOVE was established to 
operate a job platform, and BLACKSMITH was established to operate an online training service through the platform and offline 
(Integrated Learning Services). PRTR is the majority shareholder, with 99.9% shareholding in both companies. 

In 2022, the Company increased its capital in NEXMOVE to expand the business in a growing phase and grant rights to key personnel, 
driving the business to subscribe for additional shares of 25.0%, thus causing PRTR to hold 74.9% of shares in NEXMOVE.

(1) Policy for the Division of Operations of Companies in the Group
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Currently, PRTR has six subsidiaries. The information and shareholding proportions of PRTR are as follows:

LocationCompany name Business Type Telephone
Number of Ordinary

Shares Sold
by the Company 

Shareholding
Ratio by PRTR

2034/99 Italthai Tower, 22nd 
Floor, New Petchaburi Road, 
Bang Kapi Subdistrict, Huai 
Khwang District, Bangkok    

PRTR Recruitment             

Co., Ltd.  
Recruitment

53 Village No. 9, Talay Thong 
Tower, 11th Floor, Sukhumvit 
Road, Thung Sukla Subdistrict,   

Si Racha District, Chonburi   

Recruitment
PRTR Recruitment             

and Outsourcing (Eastern 

Seaboard) Co., Ltd. 

02-716-0000

038-494-700

99.9%

99.9%

20,000

(Par value of 100 baht   

per share)

80,000

(Par value of 100 baht  

per share)

2034/83 Italthai Tower Building, 
18th Floor, New Petchaburi Road, 

Bang Kapi Subdistrict, Huai 
Khwang District, Bangkok 

Recruitment in the 

Form of Online Job 

Platform

NEXMOVE Platform 

Recruitment Co., Ltd. 02-716-0000 74.9%

450,000

(Par value of 100 baht  

per share)

2034/97 Italthai Tower Building, 
22nd Floor, New Petchaburi 

Road, Bang Kapi Subdistrict, Huai 
Khwang District, Bangkok 

The business providing 
training services online 
through the platform 
and offline (Integrated 

Learning services)

The BLACKSMITH               

Co., Ltd. 02-716-0000 84.9%

10,000

(Par value of 100 baht  

per share)

2034/84 Italthai Tower Building, 
18th Floor, New Petchaburi Road, 

Bang Kapi Subdistrict, Huai 
Khwang District, Bangkok

The business providing 
a service of software 

application for human 
capital management 

program

Pinno Solutions Co., Ltd.
02-716-0000 59.9%

500,000

(Par value of 100 baht  

per share)

2034/81 Italthai Tower Building, 
18th Floor, New Petchaburi Road, 

Bang Kapi Subdistrict, Huai 
Khwang District, Bangkok 

Recruitment
PRTR Global Recruitment 

Co.,Ltd.
02-716-0000 99.9%

50,000

(Par value of 100 baht  

per share)

Figure of Business Structure and Shareholding of the Group

Outsourcing Services
PRTR Group PCL

PRTR Recruitment Co., Ltd.
Recruitment Services

99.9%

PRTR Global 
Recruitment Co.,Ltd
Recruitment Services

99.9%

PRTR Recruitment and 
Outsourcing (Eastern 
Seaboard) Co., Ltd.

Recruitment Services
99.9%

(2) Business Structure

NEXMOVE Platform 
Recruitment Co., Ltd.
Online job Platform

74.9%

The Blacksmith Co., Ltd.
integrated Learning 

Services
84.9%

PINNO Solutions Co., Ltd.
Human Capital 

Management Program
59.9%
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Other shareholders 148,663,909 24.82 

Ms. Risara Charoenpanich1 99,211,600 16.53 

Ms. Onrudee Kettawee2 90,267,000 15.04 

JMART Group Holdings Public Company Limited3 90,000,000 15.00 

Mr. Luck Dendee4 48,078,000 8.01 

Mr. Paul David Chaundy 5 29,851,588 4.97 

Mr. Somsak Atisaitrakul6 22,854,300 3.80 

Thai NVDR Company Limited7 20,307,191 3.38 

Ms. Jaruwan Panichcharoen8 18,770,506 3.12 

Mr. Richard Hugh Bennett 9 17,415,906 2.90 

Mr. David William Pollock 10 14,580,000 2.43 

ShareholderNo. Number of Shares Proportion (Percentage)

1.3.3 List of the Top 10 Major Shareholders of the Company
as of December 28, 2023

1.3.2 Relationship with Majority Shareholders’ Business Groups

 The Company and its subsidiaries do not have a related transaction or rely on other companies that may have conflicts of 
majority shareholders. In addition, there are no other businesses of the majority shareholders that do business in the same way as the 
Company, namely, outsourcing, recruitment, job platform, and Integrated Learning services.

 On March 20, 2020, BPO, whose major shareholders are Ms. Risara Charoenphanich, Ms. Jaruwan Panichcharoen, and Mr. Paul 
David Chaundy, ceased to be a recruitment company under the Employment and Jobseeker Protection Act B.E. 2528 (1985). As a result, 
it cannot conduct business in competition with PRTR and its subsidiaries. Besides this, on June 27, 2022, the BPO Board of Directors’ 
Meeting approved to cease operations and filed a registration to dissolve the company in 2022, and on June 29, 2022, the majority 
shareholders of BPO signed a non-compete agreement with PRTR to prevent conflicts of interest among themselves and to comply 
with the practices under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 (1992) on the protection of minority shareholders’ 

 Nowadays, PRTR has Ms. Risara Charoenpanich as the majority shareholder, holding 16.35% of the shares and being the 
Company’s chief executive. In the meeting of the Board of Directors, if there is an agenda that may have conflicts of interest or related 
transactions, the Company will proceed according to the SET rules in order to preserve the interests of the Company and the 
shareholders as a whole. Stakeholder directors will not participate in the decision-making of the agenda with interests. 

Source: Thailand Securities Depository Company Limited

- Shareholder No. 3 (JMART) agreed and consented that all of the PRTR shares held by the company are prohibited from sale by reference 
to the Stock Exchange of Thailand’s regulations on the Acquisition of Ordinary Shares or Preferred Shares as Listed Securities B.E. 2558 
(2015), and all shares of PRTR will be deposited in a brokerage account with KGI Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited. 
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 On July 22, 2022, the Board of Directors of JMART approved in principle the entry into the PRTR Share Sale and Purchase 

Agreement (“Share Sale and Purchase Agreement”) from the seller group with the following substantive matters:

August 9, 2022Contract Date

Purchaser: JMART 
Seller: Mr. Paul David Chaundy, Ms. Jaruwan Panitcharoen, and Mr. Richard Hugh Bennett, 
collectively referred to as the “Seller Group”  

Party

• JMART and the seller group agreed to buy and sell 90,000,000 shares at par value of 0.50 baht per share, 
representing 15.00% of the total issued and paid-up shares after the IPO on the first trading day of PRTR 
shares on the Stock Exchange of Thailand.

• The purchase of shares from the seller group totaling 90,000,000 shares is as follows: 
   1) Mr. Paul David Chaundy, 34,576,212 shares
   2) Ms. Jaruwan Panichcharoen, 27,711,894 shares
   3) Mr. Richard Hugh Bennett, 27,711,894 shares
• Trading of shares will be conducted through the Big-Lot Board, including any other procedures 

prescribed by the Stock Exchange of Thailand.

Key Agreements

IPO Price

• The seller has no obligations with respect to any shares and no claims from any person claiming to 
be a shareholder or having rights to such shares, including voting rights, partnership rights of all or part 
of such shares.

• As of the date of this Agreement, the Seller shall not enter into a share negotiation and/or enter into 
a share purchase agreement with any other person. 

Stock Trading Price

Key Seller Testimonials

The Stock Exchange of Thailand agrees to accept all shares of PRTR listed on the Stock Exchange of 
Thailand. 

Important Transaction 
Conditions 

Thai LawsGoverning Law

• Mutual agreement of both parties
• When either party seriously breaches the Agreement and cannot be modified or waived by the other 

party within 15 working days upon notification.  

Termination of the Agreement

 In addition, on July 22, 2022, JMART’s Board of Directors approved in principle JMART to sign a memorandum of understand-
ing (MOU) with PRTR with the objective of agreeing and consenting that all of the PRTR shares held by the company are prohibited 
from sale in accordance with the Stock Exchange of Thailand’s regulations on the Acquisition of Ordinary Shares or Preferred Shares as 
Listed Securities B.E. 2558 (2015), and all shares of PRTR will be deposited in a brokerage account with KGI Securities (Thailand) Public 
Company Limited. This includes a mutual agreement on material matters such as the right to nominate directors of JMART, and 
non-competing actions with PRTR. The subject matters of the MOU are as follows:
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August 9, 2022Date of MOU

JMART and PRTR  Parties

• After the acquisition, JMART agreed and consented that all of the PRTR shares held by the company are 

prohibited from sale by reference to the Stock Exchange of Thailand’s regulations on the Acquisition of Ordinary 

Shares or Preferred Shares as Listed Securities B.E. 2558 (2015), and all shares of PRTR will be deposited in a 

brokerage account with KGI Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited.

• Throughout the period JMART holds shares in PRTR in the proportion of 10% or more of the total outstanding 

shares of PRTR after the capital increase and IPO, JMART will have the right to nominate one person to be 

appointed as a director of PRTR.

• As long as JMART remains the majority shareholder and within one year from the termination of PRTR’s majority 

shareholding, JMART agrees not to take any of the following actions:

   1) Engage in any business or become a partner or shareholder or invest in any juristic person or jointly invest 

        in that juristic person or be the managing authority or take any other action resulting in his benefit or interest 

       in the Company, joint venture, any other juristic person, or business participation in any manner engaging in 

       the same business or in competition with PRTR’s business in Thailand.

   2) Soliciting or doing anything to make directors, staff, and/or employees of PRTR resign from being directors, 

      staff, and/or employees of PRTR.  

Key Agreements

1.3.5 Investment Policy in Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

 However, the Financial Adviser and PRTR have reviewed information from public sources (SETSMART, BOL) as of the date of 
signing the MOU and have not found that JMART holds shares in any company engaging in similar business or competing with PRTR’s 
business. 

Nevertheless, the above share turnover is subject to the limits approved by the JMART Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 3/2023 held on February 23, 2023, resolved to propose to the 2023 Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders to consider and approve the appointment of Mr. Panya Chutisiriwong, a director nominated by JMART as a director of 
PRTR. PRTR will specify the record date and the date of the 2023 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, which will be carried out 
in accordance with the Stock Exchange of Thailand’s rules and announced to all shareholders. The 2023 Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders was expected to be held by April 2023.

The Company has a policy to invest in companies with growth potential and generate good returns from investment, which may be 
the same type of business as the Company’s core business or businesses that support the Company’s core business or companies that 
are strategic partners. Such investments must be consistent with business conditions, the Company’s strategic plan, and the rules, 
regulations, and requirements of the regulatory agencies. The Company will focus on long-term investment and consider fundamental 
factors, the tendency of businesses to invest, and investment in appropriate proportions to be able to participate in the supervision 
and determination of business practices in that company, as well as promoting the invested businesses for sustainable growth. The 
Company will consider the investment and proceed with caution and prudence, provide a feasibility analysis of the investment plan, 
take into account risks and returns, the financial liquidity of the Company, and the economic situation of the country. The investment 
plan is proposed to the Board of Directors and/or shareholders for approval. The Company will establish a system to control, monitor, 
and report investments to the Board of Directors on a regular basis.

1.3.4 The agreement between major shareholders affects the issuance and offering
of securities or the administration of PRTR and material to its operations. 

- None -  
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1.4  Number of Registered Capital and Paid-up Capital

The Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders No. 1/2565 held on June 7, 2022, approved the capital increase and allocation of 
newly issued ordinary shares of PRTR in the amount of 290,000,000 baht, divided into 580,000,000 shares with a par value of 0.5 baht 
per share, to be offered to existing shareholders on a pro rata basis of 430,000,000 shares, as well as an IPO of 150,000,000 shares with 
a par value of 0.5 baht per share. 

As of December 31, 2022, PRTR had a registered capital of 300,000,000 baht, divided into 600,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value 
of 0.5 baht per share, and a paid-up capital of 225,000,000 baht, divided into 450,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of 0.5 baht 
per share. 

During March 8–10, 2023, PRTR offered 150,000,000 newly issued ordinary shares at a price of 7.20 baht per share to the general public 
for the first time (IPO) with a par value of 0.5 baht per share. This resulted in a surplus of ordinary shares amounting to 971.41 million 
baht. This is net of operating expenses for the IPO. PRTR received a share payment of 1,080 million baht. After the IPO, PRTR have        
a paid-up capital of 300,000,000 baht, divided into 600,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of 0.5 baht per share.

1.6  Dividend Payment Policy

The Company has a dividend payment policy of not less than 40% of the net profit according to the separate financial statements after 
deducting corporate income tax, legal reserves, and other reserves. However, dividend payments are subject to change based on 
performance, financial position, liquidity, the need for working capital for operations, the investment plan and business expansion in 
the future, market conditions, suitability, and other factors related to the operation and management of the Company and its subsidiaries. 
The dividend shall be paid in equal numbers of shares when the Board of Directors’ meeting approves the dividend payment and must 
be presented for approval at the shareholders’ meeting. Unless it is an interim dividend payment, the Board of Directors has the 
authority to approve the interim dividend payment and report to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders at the next meeting. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s registered capital was 300.0 million baht, which is the issued and paid-up capital, and legal 
reserves were allocated 13.8 million baht. The Company will comply with the Public Company Act by gradually allocating a portion of 
its annual net profit as a reserve of not less than 5% of its annual net profit, less the accumulated loss amount (if any), until this reserve 
amount is not less than 10% of the registered capital, or 30.0 million baht. However, the profits allocated as statutory reserves cannot 
be paid as dividends.

1.5  Issuance of Other Securities
- None -  

1.5.1 Convertible Securities

- None -  

1.5.2 Debt Instruments

- None -  
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2.1 Risk Management Policy and Plan

Risk Management Structure

1. PRTR is committed to providing the Company with good corporate governance by adopting the ERM (Enterprise Risk Management) 
principles in accordance with the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission) risk management     
framework, which is an international standard risk management guideline for the Company and its subsidiaries. The Board of Directors, 
executives and employees at all levels must comply with the risk management policy to achieve effective and efficient risk management.

2. PRTR prepares a risk register according to the COSO ERM guidelines and reviews it at least once a year. At this point, PRTR will prepare 
and review to manage risks to an acceptable level or deviation not exceeding the acceptable level. 

 PRTR is committed to stable and sustainable business operations; therefore, it recognizes the importance of assessing                
the organization’s risks, and regularly reviewing and developing risk management plans under social, economic and environmental 
uncertainties, and today’s rapidly changing technology in order to sustainably operate the business and achieve the organization’s goals. 
Risk management is a cornerstone of the risk identification process, risk assessment, and finding measures to regularly control, oversee, 
monitor, and review risks to ensure that if new risks arise, the Company will be able to manage potential risks to a level that it can accept, 
so that departments in the Company have a risk management approach in the same direction. PRTR has established guidelines                      
in accordance with the risk management policy as follows:  

The Company has defined the roles and duties of risk management as follows:

1. The Board of Directors is responsible for supporting, promoting 
and overseeing risk management, and approving risk management 
policies, and providing actions to ensure that the Company 
and its subsidiaries adequately and appropriately manage risks 
that may have severe impacts, and understand the risks that 
may have severe impacts on the Company.

2. The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing and 
monitoring risk management independently, and reviewing 
the internal control system to ensure that the Company and 
its subsidiaries have adequate and appropriate corporate risk 
management, communicating with the Executive Committee 
to understand key risks linked to internal control and internal 
audit, and reporting to the Board of Directors on risks and risk 
management at least once a year.

3. The Executive Committee has overall responsibility for the risk 
management of the organization. It considers and approves 
the risk management policy, proposes it to the Audit Committee 
for approval before presenting it to the Board of Directors for 
approval, considers and approves the risk management 
framework and risk management plan, monitors the development 
of the risk management framework and risk identification and 
assessment process, communicates with the Audit Committee 
about key risks, and reports to the Audit Committee on risks 
and risk management at least once a year.

4. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for preparing and 
reviewing the risk management policy, and the Company’s 
regulations on risk management in accordance with changing

      circumstances, proposing to the Executive Committee for 
     approval, monitoring significant risks, providing an adequate 
     and appropriate risk management plan, including supporting 
     and promoting the implementation of the risk management 
     policy, and ensuring that the risk management process is 
     implemented throughout the Company.
5.  The department risk management person is responsible for 
     providing the department with the framework, plans and 
     processes for risk management, proposing to the Executive 
     Committee for approval, supporting and monitoring the 
     department’s risk management, as well as encouraging and 
     motivating employees to realize the importance of risk 
     management.
6.  PRTR personnel at all levels and departments are responsible 
     for identifying, measuring, controlling, monitoring and reporting 
     risks related to the departments’ operations to persons 
     responsible for the risk management of the departments, 
    including jointly developing risk management plans and the 
    implementation of plans.
7.  The internal auditor is responsible for reviewing the internal 
    control system and ensuring that the Company implements 
    the risk management system appropriately and practices 
    throughout the Company, having adequate and appropriate 
    internal controls for risk management, and ensuring that internal 
    controls are effectively followed, reviewing risk management 
    practices and communicating to reach understanding with
    executives and auditees about risks to plan risk-based auditing.

2. Risk Management

Annual Report 2023  (Form 56-1 One Report)
PRTR Group Public Company Limited

043
Risk Management



Types of Risk 

An operational risk refers to the risk arising from operational processes that may directly affect the business performance 
and goals, such as the risk of personnel shortage due to high turnover rates, reliance on skilled personnel, delayed 
or erroneous service, and expansion of the customer base and market share to meet the targets, etc. 

A strategic risk refers to the risk that may affect the defined strategy and may be not in accordance with the 
operational plan, such as a shortage of human resources for the Company, making it impossible to support 
the expansion of the business, dependence on executives, etc.

A financial risk refers to risks related to financial liquidity, financial management and financial statements, such as 
risks from improper budget allocation, inadequate working capital and credit risks from the failure of the parties 
to comply with their obligations, or fluctuations in interest rates, etc. 

The Company has assessed and considered the types of risks involved as follows:

2. Operational
Risk

1. Strategic
Risk

3. Financial
Risk

4. Information
Technology

Risk

5. Compliance
Risk

6. Emerging
Risk

7. Fraud
and Corruption

Risk

Information Technology Risk refers to the risk of loss of employee data and information, which is the main asset 
of the Company, the risk of misuse of information; the risk of computer system failure and long interruptions 
affecting the Company’s operations and reliability, etc. 

An emerging risk refers to the loss that arises from risks that are not currently present but may occur in the 

future due to changing environmental conditions. This type of risk is a slow-occurring one that is difficult to 

identify. It has a low frequency of occurrence, but when it occurs, it will have a severe impact. This emerging 

risk is often the result of political, legal, social, technological, physical environment or natural changes. The 

impact of this type of risk sometimes may not be identified at present, such as problems arising from natural 

disasters or epidemics, etc.  

A compliance risk refers to the risk of changes in the relevant laws, rules and regulations or failure to comply 
with the relevant laws, rules and regulations that may affect the Company’s business operations, etc.

Fraud and corruption risk refers to the risk that may arise for unlawful exploitation, such as receiving or giving 
bribes, things, gifts or financial assistance, directly or indirectly, in order to obtain unlawful benefits, etc.
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2.2 Risk Factors for the Company’s Business Operations

1. Risk of Outsourcing Staff Shortage  
 Currently, more than 95% of the service revenue comes from the outsourcing business, which covers the recruitment of 
outsourcing staff and staff management to meet the needs of each customer, including the preparation and payment of salaries and staff 
training to meet the diverse needs of customers in a comprehensive way. Therefore, the personnel is an important mechanism that drives 
the Company’s business. 

 It can be seen that in the past period from 2020 to 2023, the number of PRTR outsourcing employees has steadily increased, 
which has grown in line with the growth of revenue from outsourcing services.

 The nature of the HR outsourcing services business is typical of businesses that have to manage a large number of employees 

and a variety of positions and industries where employees have to work regularly at the customer’s establishment. Therefore, it is 

normal that there are always employee turnovers, no matter that:

Number of Outsourcing Employees (persons) 14,597 14,896

16.0% 2.0%

5,341.5 5,869.0

14.1% 9.9%

16,813

12.8%

6,104.3

4.0%

Growth of the Number of Employees

Service Revenue – Outsourcing Business (Million Baht)

Growth in Service Business Revenue

2021
12,586

7.1%

4,679.5

9.1%

2020 2022 2023

• Employees who leave to work elsewhere or in other 
occupations.  

• It is normal for businesses to have an employment contract 
with a term equal to the duration of the service contract 
with the customer (Back-to-Back). When the contract is due 
and the project is over, the employee will voluntarily resign 
to find a new job. 

• Increased staffing in either a short, seasonal or long-term 
period.

• Transfer of employees to the customer’s company, in which 
case the client’s company will be required to pay a conversion 
fee to PRTR.  

 The turnovers in accordance with such a business nature cause PRTR to have a high turnover rate of more than 50%. Therefore, 
staffing to maintain a sufficient number of employees to meet the needs of the customer is very important to PRTR. If PRTR is unable to 
provide qualified employees in an adequate number to meet the needs of its customers, it will adversely affect the quality of service and 
reputation of PRTR in a way that it fails to comply with the requirements of the contract with the customer, which may cause PRTR to be 
in breach of the contract and may be subject to penalties, termination or non-renewal of the contract, which will affect PRTR’s revenue 
and net profit. 

     offline, such as posting jobs on PRTR’s website, job websites 
     and social media channels; creating Line groups of employee 
     networks; creating Facebook for employee networks; creating 
     a word-of-mouth network; creating booths at various locations, 
     such as communities near the workplace, educational 
     institutions or universities; attending labor meeting events, etc. 
     It also includes a database of more than 500,000 candidates 
     in the system, which comes from profiles of people who have 
     ever applied for jobs through PRTR and leading job websites. 

Risk Prevention and Management Measures  
• PRTR regularly develops a recruitment plan with customers to 

be able to recruit employees with specific knowledge and 
expertise to match job positions and qualifications required by 
customers according to the plan. 

• PRTR has an outsourcing team to support its business expansion. 
As of December 31, 2023, PRTR has 119 outsourcing staff. This 
outsourcing team recruit employees based on the qualifications 
required by its customers in various ways, both online and 

2.2.1 Risks to the Company’s Business Operations
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2.  Risk of Compensation Payment to Employees under the Labor Protection Act B.E. 2541 (1998) 
 Compensation payments to employees under the Labor Protection Act B.E. 2541 (1998) stipulate that compensation will be 
paid at the end of the contract or termination of employment. This is because outsourcing staff are employees of PRTR (PRTR is a legal 
employer). If compensation is paid to employees not in accordance with the Labor Protection Act B.E. 2541 (1998), PRTR will be guilty 
of an offence under the law. 

Risk Prevention and Management Measures
 PRTR closely monitors such matters. In the employment contract, the employee will have a term equal to the term of the 
service contract with the customer (Back-to-Back) in order to have the same understanding between PRTR and the employee that the 
customer’s project has an end period. When the contract is due and the project ends, the employee will voluntarily resign to find a new 
job. In such a case, PRTR is not required to pay compensation under Section 118 because it is a voluntary resignation. In the past, PRTR did 
not have to pay compensation and this is likely to continue in the future. 

(4)  Violation of work regulations, rules or orders of the employer 
     that are lawful and fair, and the employer has given a written 
     warning, unless, in serious cases, the employer is not required 
     to give a warning. The warning letter shall be effective for no 
     more than one year after the date the employee commits
     the offence;
(5)  Abandonment of duty for three consecutive working days, 
     whether or not there is a holiday, without reasonable cause;
(6)  Being sentenced to imprisonment upon a final judgment, 
      except as a punishment for an offence committed by 
      negligence or a petty offence. 

 In addition, PRTR has labor legal counsel to give 
opinions on various aspects in order to comply with the relevant 
laws. 

 However, if it is a termination of employment before 
the project ends, PRTR is legally obliged to pay compensation. In 
this respect, PRTR can collect almost all compensation from the 
customer, as specified in the contract with the customer. However, 
PRTR is not required to pay compensation if the employee 
behaves in a manner of dismissal without compensation under 
Section 119 of the Labor Protection Act B.E. 2541 (1998), as 
follows:

(1)  Malfeasance or intentional criminal offence against
     the employer; 
(2)  Intention to cause damage to the employer;
(3)  Negligence causing serious damage to the employer;

     other than the employment contract or non-conformity with 
     the law. The employment contract of employees has been 
     reviewed by legal counsel to ensure that it complies with the 
     law. 
• PRTR will properly take care of employees by setting up a 

team of PRTR coordinators to oversee the labor relations 
between employees and customers. There are regular discussions 
with employees to listen to comments or questions that may 
provide clarification or resolution of any conflicts that may 
arise. Moreover, PRTR provides complaint hotline channels, an 
annual party, coordination with banks to give employees 
access to house loans or personal loans to reduce the impact 
of informal loans, accidental death insurance, scholarships for 
employees’ children, financial assistance in the event of 
family death, etc. 

• PRTR provides training in key skills, whether soft skills or 
specific skills for the job. PRTR coordinates to organize training, 
either by PRTR or through the Blacksmith Platform by PRTR, as 
well as inviting external personnel or regularly sending its staff 
to attend training organized by the relevant agencies to 
develop the Company’s potential.

• PRTR has a policy to pay employees at all levels fairly and 
appropriately based on the employee’s experience and 
performance, including PRTR’s turnover. PRTR uses the data 
obtained from the salary and benefits survey, which was 
already conducted internally by PRTER, to be presented to 
customers for consideration of employee remuneration in the 
same business and maintains punctuality in paying agreed 
remuneration without deductions for incorrect expenses
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Risk Prevention and Management Measures
 In the past, the turnover rate was quite high due to the above reasons. However, PRTR is aware of such risks, so it has taken 
the following measures to prevent the risk of personnel shortages and reduce the turnover rate of employees:

 Note: 1 The turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of employees who resigned throughout the year by the average number of 
  employees at the end of the current and previous years.

 In 2023, the turnover rate increased, with approximately 159 resigned employees in the outsourcing business. In recruitment and 
operations, there is an expansion to support the growing business. The group of newly admitted and resigned employees were fresh 
graduates who had no work experience, making employees unfamiliar with the job and unable to work toward their goals. This is part of 
the reason why employees decide to leave or do not pass the probationary period. However, PRTR has recognized this risk and established 
a correction, which is setting more flexible goals for new hires and adjusting the coaching system to enable employees to work on their 
goals, as well as improving the criteria for selecting employees with some work experience to become familiar with the work they are 
responsible for.

Number of Office Employees at the End of the Year (including 
seven executives, excluding outsourced employees)

335 422 595

151 136 213

42.5% 35.9% 41.6%

590

40.5%

240Resignation during the Year 

% Turnover Rate1

2020% Turnover Rate after a 119-day Probation Period 2021 2022 2023

• Provide a mentoring system for new employees.
• Increase the selection process for candidates to better match 

the nature of the job.
• PRTR prepares a regular recruitment plan by recruiting 

employees with specific knowledge and expertise to match 
job positions and qualifications required by customers.   

• PRTR provides training in key skills, whether soft skills or 
specific skills for the job. PRTR coordinates to organize training, 
either by PRTR or through the Blacksmith Platform by PRTR, as 
well as inviting external personnel or regularly sending its staff 
to attend training organized by the relevant agencies to 
develop the Company’s potential.

• PRTR has a policy to pay employees at all levels fairly and 
appropriately based on the employee’s experience and 
performance, including PRTR’s turnover. PRTR presents the 
data obtained from the salary and benefits survey, which was 
already conducted internally by PRTR, to customers for 
consideration of employee remuneration in the same 
business, and maintains punctuality in paying agreed 
remuneration without deductions for incorrect expenses 
other than those specified in the employment contract or 
non-compliance with the law. The employment contracts of 
employees have been reviewed by legal counsel.

• PRTR provides appropriate benefits for employees to have a 
good quality of life by providing various benefits, including 
health insurance, life and accident insurance, a provident 
fund, an annual health check-up, etc.

3. Risk of a Shortage of PRTR Office Staff
 In addition to outsourcing employees being an important resource in generating income from outsourcing business, PRTR’s 
office staff performing various functions in the Group are equally important human resources. Due to the nature and content of 
outsourcing and recruitment businesses, they have to work under pressure to maintain the quality of service within a specified period 
of time as well as to solve problems at hand. If it is an outsourcing business, working with customers will be in the form of ongoing 
projects. The office staff in the outsourcing business will contact customers to know their needs, track the customer needs that may 
change, recruit and coordinate to outsource employees, plan to increase or decrease employees for customers, and solve problems 
for customers within the specified period of time. If it is a recruitment business, it involves recruiting employees from time to time, 
which requires skills and experience in contacting and persuading jobseekers, and providing qualified people that customers need 
within the specified period of time. Therefore, in the event that employees do not meet the qualifications or are not familiar with the 
nature of the work and may not be able to perform the work or are not satisfied with the work, which makes it one of the reasons for 
resignation, if PRTR is unable to find sufficient office staff, it will affect the quality of the work and not be able to provide services as 
customers require, which may affect PRTR’s revenue and net profit. 
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5. Risk of Non-Renewal of the Service Contract 
 The main revenue-generating business for PRTR is the outsourcing business, which is in the form of a continuous contract. If 
the customer is still satisfied with the quality and service of PRTR, which is comprehensive, and there are no other conditions that 
cause the service to be stopped, the customer will continue to use PRTR’s services. Although PRTR does not rely on revenue from 
any customer for more than 30% of the total revenue, if several major customers combined do not renew their service contracts, it 
may affect the revenue and net profit of PRTR. 

• In 2019, the government announced an increase in the 
minimum wage from 308-330 baht/day to 313-336 baht/day, 
effective January 1, 2020. The provinces with the highest 
wage of 336 baht/day are Chonburi and Phuket, while 
Bangkok and its vicinity have a minimum wage of 331 
baht/day.

• On September 13, 2022, the Cabinet meeting approved an 
increase in the minimum wage as proposed by the Ministry of 
Labor. The minimum wage was increased from 313-336 
baht/day to 328-354 baht/day and effective October 1, 2022. 

• On December 8, 2023, the Cabinet meeting approved an 
increase in the minimum wage as proposed by the Ministry of 
Labor. The minimum wage was increased from 328-354 
baht/day to 330-370 baht/day and effective January 1, 2024. 

 Increased labor costs may result in an increase in the 
Company’s costs, which may affect the Company’s operating 
results.   

Risk Prevention and Management Measures
 PRTR’s contract structure with customers is a service fee based on the actual salary costs and remuneration. If there is a 
legal increase in the minimum wage, all companies must take steps to comply with the law and PRTR can pass on such costs to 
customers. In addition, an increase in the minimum wage will result in an increase in PRTR’s service revenue.

Risk Prevention and Management Measures
 PRTR has measures to reduce risk. PRTR recognizes that satisfaction begins at the pre-service stage. Before entering into                
a contract or before changing an order, the PRTR team must meet the customer to know the customer’s requirements and needs, and 
have a discussion until it understands the customer’s needs, and then both parties enter into a contract. Once the contract is concluded, 
there will be a meeting of the customer care team to discuss the details of the contractual service for each customer, including holding 
regular meetings with the customer. The customer care team consists of teams that have different duties, covering the entire scope of the 
work according to the contract, namely: 

4. Risk of Wage Increase for Outsourced Employees
 The main cost of PRTR is the remuneration of outsourcing employees. When looking at the increase in the statutory 
minimum wage in the past ten years, the following increases have been observed:

• In 2012, the government increased the minimum wage from 
159 to 221 baht/day to 222/300 baht/day, effective April 1, 
2012. The provinces with a maximum wage of 300 baht/day 
include Bangkok, Nakhon Pathom, Nonthaburi, Pathum Thani, 
Samut Prakan, Samut Sakhon and Phuket, for a total of seven 
provinces.

• In 2013, the government increased the minimum wage to 
every province in Thailand with the same minimum wage rate 
of 300 baht/day, effective January 1, 2013.

• In 2017, the government announced an increase in the 
minimum wage from 300 baht/day to 300-310 baht/day 
effective January 1, 2017. The provinces with the highest wage 
of 310 baht/day include Bangkok, Nakhon Pathom, Nonthaburi, 
Pathum Thani, Samut Prakan, Samut Sakhon and Phuket.

• In 2018, the government announced an increase in the 
minimum wage from 300-310 baht/day to 308-330 baht/day, 
effective April 1, 2018. The provinces with a maximum wage 
of 330 baht/day are Chonburi, Rayong and Phuket. Bangkok 
and its vicinity have a minimum wage of 325 baht/day.    
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• General damage insurance (General Liability/Miscellaneous 
Accident Policy)

• Insurance covering guarantee contracts for employees as 
specified by the customer or in accordance with the nature 
of each type of work, such as salespeople, accountants, 
employees taking care of high-value assets, etc. (The 
insurance company will directly indemnify the employer for 
the amount of actual damage caused by fraud, embezzlement 
or corruption of the insured person by detecting it during 
the period of insurance.)

• Miscellaneous Professional Liability  

 Please refer to Clause 2.2.1, Structure and Operation 
of the Company, Subsection 4.8 Insurance Policy for more 
details on insurance arrangements.

 In addition, PRTR has provided comprehensive 
insurance as required in the service contract between PRTR 
and certain customers, which specifies a performance bond 
limit as insurance against any damage that may occur and 
requires that relevant insurance be arranged according to the 
related limit, such as insurance that provides coverage for 
liability arising within the workplace or due to the operation of 
the insured (public liability insurance), general damage 
insurance, etc. PRTR is of the opinion that the above insurance 
is adequate and covers the potential damage consequences of 
such risks.    

6. Risks of Defects and Operational Damage by Employees Sent to Work with Customers (Outsourced Employees) 
 If the performance of outsourced employees occasionally results in defects or damages, PRTR and the customer will jointly 
determine whether the cause of such damage is directly caused by the fault of the PRTR employees or by a mistake made, while following 
the customer’s instructions, and such damage will not be PRTR’s responsibility. However, in the event that defects and damage from work 
are caused by the defect of outsourced employees, whether intentionally or unintentionally, or by corruption, embezzlement or fraud, 
PRTR shall be liable to indemnify the customer and then collect from the employee. This is because outsourced employees are considered 
employees of PRTR and are directly under the responsibility of PRTR. 

Risk Prevention and Management Measures
 PRTR is aware of this potential risk. If the damage that PRTR has to compensate has a material value, it will affect PRTR’s 
income and net profit, as well as PRTR’s reputation and liquidity. PRTR has therefore arranged for comprehensive insurance to reduce 
the risk of potential damage from outsourced employees, as follows:

 PRTR’s strengths include being a long-time operator in this business, having a corporate culture that works closely with 
customers as a business partner, understanding of the corporate culture and needs of customers, and being ready to help solve 
problems as if they were in the same team. This makes the majority of customers remain satisfied and continue to use PRTR services. 
If considering the contract renewal rate of customers, it is in the proportion of about 95%, and most customers have been customers 
of the Company for many years and renewed their contracts with PRTR continuously.

• Sales Department, which is the main point of contact for 
overall project supervision and responsible for acknowledging 
opinions and problems from customers.

• Human Resources Department team, which oversees staffing 
to plan with customers to recruit employees according to the 
customer’s plan, so that the customer’s business operations 
are uninterrupted.  

• Human Resources Department team, which takes care of 
employees in terms of orientations, remuneration 
payments, payroll calculations and benefits. It closely 
coordinates with customers to ensure that employees can 
work effectively to keep customers’ business operations 
uninterrupted.  
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As for the debt-to-equity ratio (D/E Ratio) as of December 31, 2022, and 2023, it was 2.3 times and 0.4 times, respectively. The decrease 
in the ratio in 2023 was caused by the increase in capital received from the initial public offering (IPO) amounting to 1,046.4 million 
baht and the money was used to repay all loans from financial institutions.   

Based on operating activities cashflow, cash and cash equivalents, and the aforementioned debt-to-equity ratio combined with weekly 
liquidity management, the management is confident that PRTR will have sufficient working capital to meet current demand and for 
the next twelve months. 

2. Risk of Non-Compliance with the Loan Agreement
 Currently, PRTR has a limit with a financial institution that is specified in the loan agreement for PRTR to maintain a 
debt-to-equity ratio (D/E Ratio) not higher than 3.5 times. If PRTR breaches such an agreement, the financial institution has the right 
to require PRTR to repay all outstanding loans. This will affect the liquidity and business of PRTR. However, as of December 31, 2023, 
PRTR has a D/E Ratio of 0.4 times, and, in the past, PRTR has been able to maintain such a ratio at all times. PRTR has managed liquidity 
closely every week and has a process to closely monitor payments from customers, so it is confident that such events will not occur. 

1. Risks of Dependence on the Management
 Most of PRTR’s executives have been working with PRTR for more than 10 years. They are considered a group of experienced 
players in the outsourcing and recruitment service business, and are a key driver that enables PRTR to become a leader in the 
business. There is steady growth in income and net profit, including an expansion into the job online platform and training businesses, 
although almost all executives are not close to the PRTR retirement age of 60.

Risk Prevention and Management Measures
 PRTR has already developed a succession plan for all key management positions. Throughout the years, PRTR has had an 
organizational culture that encourages executives and employees of all departments to express their opinions, and have the freedom 
to perform their duties to achieve maximum results under the business plan and annual strategic goals in order to reduce the risk of 
relying on one executive, as well as developing skills for employees and executives to provide opportunities for advancement and 
creativity in work, so that employees and executives grow together with the organization. 

2.2.3 Management Risks

 PRTR is committed to sustainable business operations and focuses on good corporate governance, especially anti-corruption. 
PRTR has announced its intention to become a member of the Thai Private Sector Collective Action Coalition Against Corruption (CAC) in 
order to be a part of the effort to solve corruption problems in Thailand’s business sector. In 2023, PRTR formulated an anti-corruption 
policy, and regularly communicated and emphasized to employees the guidelines, such as whistleblowing and complaints, a no gift policy 
during festivals, related risk assessments, etc. 

2.2.4 Fraud and Corruption Risks

1. Risk of a Lack of Financial Liquidity
 As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, PRTR had a liquidity ratio of 1.4 times and 4.5 times, respectively, and PRTR had cash 
and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2022 and 2023 in the amount of 112.5 million baht and 480.3 million baht, with future 
operating activities cashflow and unused credit lines that have not yet been drawn down as of December 31, 2023, namely the 
promissory note (P/N) limit of 550.0 million baht and the overdraft limit of 30.0 million baht.    

2.2.2 Financial Risks
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 At present, it must be acknowledged that information technology is an important tool to increase the potential of business 
operations. The transition of every organization into digital transformation, the creation of online platforms, or online transactions has 
become more a part of daily life, forcing every organization to develop information technology to be up-to-date, with an emphasis 
on the security of information technology that the Company uses to drive the organization. PRTR is well-aware of the importance of 
information technology and information technology security. Nowadays, the Company has established policies related to the use and 
security of its information technology and developed security standards until it has obtained the ISO/IEC 27001 certification for 
information security management systems. Besides, the Company has set up an internal audit unit to inspect the work control 
standards and has a plan to regularly test the vulnerabilities of the system to ensure that the Company’s information technology 
security systems are best maintained without affecting or interrupting the Company’s business operations.

 PRTR recognizes that changes in the relevant laws may affect the Company’s operations; therefore, risk assessments regarding 
changes in the laws have been made and measures have been established to accommodate and prevent potential risks. For example, 
in 2022, the Personal Data Protection Act B.E. 2562 (2019) was enacted. The Company prepared to hire consultants to help in planning 
and staff training, so that the Company is ready and able to take action according to the law, as well as provide an internal audit unit 
to follow up and review the work in accordance with the regulations and policies set forth by the Company, etc. The Company 
required a regular review of relevant risks, or at least once a year, in order to have a risk assessment and prepare plans to support and 
prevent risks appropriately without affecting the Company’s business operations.  

2.2.5 Legal Risks

2.2.6 Information Technology Risks

2.2.7 Risks to Investments of Securities Holders

- None - 

2.2.8 Risks from Investment in Foreign Securities

- None - 
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3. Driving Business Towards Sustainability

3.1 Sustainability Management
Policy and Objectives
The Company is firmly convinced that effective corporate 
governance contributes to sound management, efficiency and 
effectiveness. It fosters conciseness, transparency, verifiability, 
confidence and trust among shareholders, stakeholders, and 
all concerned parties. This, in turn, facilitates the Company in 
achieving its strategies, objectives, and goals, ensuring a 
well-performing business that can adapt to changes, creating 
long-term value, stability and sustainability. In accordance with 
the Corporate Governance Code (CG Code) set by the Office of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Company 
establishes a Corporate Governance Policy. This policy is 
intended to serve as a guideline and practice framework for 
stakeholders to implement and adhere to. The Company

stipulates a regular reviews of the Corporate Governance 
Policy, at least once annually. The most recent review and 
approval of this policy occurred during the Board of Directors’ 
meeting No. 6/2023 on November 10, 2023. The review 
covered topics such as risk management, monitoring and 
managing potential conflicts of interest, the mechanism for 
handling complaints, adequacy of financial flexibility, debt 
repayment capability, sustainability reporting and communica-
tion with stakeholders. This ensures the policy’s appropriate-
ness to the business environment and aligns with Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs), the organization’s vision, mission, 
strategy and objectives for sustainable business growth.

 With over 30 years of business operations in the human 
resources services sector, PRTR is steadfast in recognizing the 
paramount importance of “people” as a key driver for social, 
economic and environmental advancement. Our business is 
dedicated to fulfilling the organization’s mission, striving to create 
improved employment opportunities for enhanced quality of life 
and a better society—pursuing the ethos of “Better Career, 
Better Life, Better Society,” which aligns with the organization’s 
vision, strategy, and goals to foster sustainable business growth. 

 PRTR is dedicated to continuous business and service 
development to provide comprehensive and globally standardized 
services. We leverage various technologies to support business 
growth efficiently, ensuring good financial performance while 
operating responsibly within the framework of corporate 
governance principles. Our commitment extends to social and 
environmental responsibility under the principles of good 
corporate governance to fortify a stable business foundation 
for the benefit of stakeholders and remain adaptable to 
various changes that may arise, be it in the economic, social, or 
environmental aspects.
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3.2  Managing Impact on Stakeholders
       in the Value Chain

3.2.1 Value Chain

Core activities within the value chain of the Company include: 

Supporting activities within the value chain of the Company include:

Customer
Engagement

Recruitment
of Applicants

Employee
Deployment

Post-Sales
Service

Contact customers and 
present services to enhance 
opportunities for expanding 

the customer base into other 
industries and increasing 

competitiveness, 

Conduct recruitment 
processes to attract 

applicants with qualifications 
that align with the quantity 
and requirements specified 
by customers, maximizing 

the selection pool. 

Deploy employees and 
maintain regular coordination 

with customers to 
consistently ensure the 

highest satisfaction for both 
employees and customers.

Provide professional 
post-sales services, promptly 
address and resolve customer 
issues and conduct customer 

satisfaction assessments       
to improve service delivery   

in the future.

Human Resource
Management 

Technology
Development
for Services 

Infrastructure

Encourage consistent training 
and knowledge development 

for both management and 
employees. 

Prioritize the integration of 
technology in work processes 

to enhance efficiency and 
derive maximum benefits.

Care for, develop and 
continuously improve key 
systems with up-to-date 

technology to support the 
organization’s workflow, 

ensuring smooth, accurate 
and timely task execution   

by employees. 

Attend to compensation, 
benefits and provide 

adequate support in terms of 
work equipment to ensure 
suitability for fulfilling job 

responsibilities. 
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3.2.2 Analysis of Stakeholder Impact in Value Chain
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Shareholders /
Investors / Analysts

Customers Employees Society
and Community

• Good compensation.
• Good Corporate Governance.
• The Company is growing 

steadily and sustainably.
• Accurate, complete and 

timely information is obtained, 
ensuring transparency.

• There is a risk management 
system in place.

• There is an effective system 
of audits and controls. 

• Receives services that meet 
requirements accurately.

• Services are reasonably 
priced.

• Receives quality services 
within the specified 
timeframe.

• The Company can resolve 
issues promptly.

• The Company maintains 
the confidentiality of 
customer information. 

• Customer meetings.
• Close coordination with 

customers at every stage.
• Customer satisfaction 

surveys.

• Oversee business transparently, 
ethically and verifiably.

• Uphold an anti-corruption 
policy.

• Maintain confidentiality of 
customer information.

• Enhance service delivery 
systems to meet customer 
needs.

• Emphasizing the confidentiality 
of customer information.

• Arrange shareholders’ 
meetings.

• Presentation of quarterly 
performance.

• Arrange analyst meetings.
• Opportunity Day.
• Receiving feedback or 

inquiries from shareholders 
through investorrelations 
channels. 

• Conduct business efficiently 
to meet shareholder 
expectations and distribute 
dividends appropriately.

• Transparently disclose 
information.

• Develop business plans and 
strategies.

• Implement comprehensive 
risk management.  

• Good compensation and 
benefits

• Growth in career opportunities
• The Company is stable.
• Work environment and 

facilities are suitable for 
operations

• Adequacy and availability 
of equipment used in job 
performance

• Collaborate in development, 
promote skills, and 
provide knowledge to 
individuals in society to 
create opportunities for 
accessing desired 
professions. 

• Appropriate communication 
channels for relevant 
information

• Receiving and considering 
feedback and suggestions 
through various channels 
of the Company. 

• Organize activities to 
promote knowledge.

• Share knowledge through 
the Company’s                     
communication channels. 

• Appropriate communication 
channels for relevant 
information.

• Employee satisfaction 
assessments.

• Receiving and considering 
feedback and suggestions 
through various channels.

• Establish policies and plans 
for workforce development.

• Develop a Succession Plan 
to strategize growth in 
various key positions.   

The Company conducts evaluations of stakeholder expectations at least annually, utilizing processes such as feedback sessions, 
surveys, meetings and other collaborative channels. This ensures a continuous understanding of the impacts and issues relevant to 
both positive and negative aspects between the Company and stakeholders to facilitate well-rounded and sustainable development. 
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3.3.1 Environmental Policy
and Practices

3.3.2 Environmental Performance
Results

3.3  Sustainability Management in Environmental Dimension

The Company places importance on the environment, including 
the efficient use of resources and energy conservation. It promotes 
campaigns to instill environmental awareness among employees, 
encouraging them to uphold environmental preservation for 
society and communities, avoid pollution and utilize resources 
and energy efficiently. Furthermore, the Company actively 
engages in beneficial activities for the continuous care, conservation 
and sustainable use of natural resources, the environment and 
various forms of energy. 
In addition, the Company fosters collaboration and participates 
in activities with other sectors of society to conserve, maintain 
and enhance environmental quality. 

Electricity and Water Consumption 
The Company has a policy to conserve electricity, encouraging 
employees to turn off lights during lunch breaks and after work. 
Additionally, there is an emphasis on water conservation, with 
reminders for employees to use water sparingly and close taps 
tightly after use. 

Waste, Hazardous Materials and Pollution Management  
The Company initiated a Digital Transformation policy in the 
mid-2020, approving various key internal processes through an 
online system. To reduce paper usage, the Company implemented 
a policy that prohibits the printing of resumes, allowing updates 
or comments regarding applicant information only within the 
system. Additionally, the PRTR Connect system, which is the 
timekeeping system for outsourced employees, facilitates the 
export of data for salary calculation in subsequent processes. 
Previously, there was a requirement for approximately ten 
thousand employees to fill out timesheets on paper to record 
working hours, which were then manually entered into the salary 
calculation system. The transition to a digital work system has 
sustainably reduced the volume of paper usage and printing ink. 
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Greenhouse Gas Management 
The Company has a policy to choose energy-efficient electrical 
appliances to reduce electricity consumption. Since the outbreak 
of COVID-19, the Company has implemented a Hybrid Working 
policy, allowing employees to alternate between working at the 
office and working from home. Even as the COVID-19 situation 
has eased, the Company continues to uphold this policy, 
enabling employees to work remotely without the need to 
commute to the office daily. This practice contributes to a reduction 
in the consumption of fossil fuels and energy. 

The Company does not have plans to prepare a greenhouse gas 
emissions report due to the nature of its business operations 
primarily conducted in office settings. These operations are not 
associated with production processes involving fuel consumption, 
and there is no significant emission of greenhouse gases. The cost 
of preparing a greenhouse gas emissions report is deemed 
unjustifiable when compared to the potential benefits, as such a 
report would not provide valuable or pertinent information 
influencing investor decisions. Nevertheless, the Company remains 
committed to participating in initiatives aimed at mitigating 
greenhouse gas issues to the extent feasible, as outlined in the 
previous summary. 

3.4.1 Social Policy and Practices

Social Responsibility Policy

1. Compliance
with Laws
and Respect
for Rights 

2. Fair Treatment
of Labor

3. Responsibilities
towards Customers

4. Community
or Social
Development
Collaboration 

3.4  Sustainability Management
        in Social Dimension

The company has established a social responsibility policy, summarized as follows:

The Company prioritizes social and environmental responsibility, 
alongside corporate governance, as integral components of its 
business operations. Firmly believing that sustainable business 
growth requires a responsible approach, the Company mandates 
that executives, employees, and affiliated personnel must be 
conscious of the potential impact their actions may have on 
society and the environment. Furthermore, a commitment to 
honesty and integrity is emphasized, with a focus on creating 
value at every stage of the work processes (ESG in process).  
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2. Fair Treatment of Labor

3. Responsibilities towards
Customers

1. Compliance with Laws
and Respect for Rights

• Conduct business in accordance with relevant laws, such as the 

Labor Protection Act and other labor-related laws, the Personal 

Data Protection Act, the Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 

(1992), the Public Company Limited Act B.E. 2535 (1992), etc. The 

Board of Directors, executives and employees of the company are 

strictly obliged to adhere to these laws.

• Implement a Code of Conduct for the company and ethical 

guidelines for executives and employees to uphold and practice.

• Conduct business with respect for and without violation of human 

rights, which are fundamental rights that all individuals inherently 

possess. Uphold the dignity of humanity, rights, freedoms and equality 

in both thought and action. Adopt a policy of non-discrimination, 

without segregating based on race, religion, gender or physical ability, 

in accordance with Thai labor standards and the social responsibility 

requirements for labor practices in business (MorRorTor. 8001-2020) 

issued by the Ministry of Labor. Furthermore, the Company 

establishes criteria for selecting and screening business partners 

systematically and verifiably.

The Company recognizes the importance of its employees and firmly 

believes that they are the most crucial resource to drive the business 

towards growth, stability and sustainability. The Company places great 

emphasis on caring for the well-being of its employees, ensuring that 

their welfare is maintained at a level not less than mandated by law. 

There is a commitment to promote and support continuous learning and 

self-development among the workforces. The company also prioritizes 

efficient human resource management, starting from the recruitment 

process, employee development, fair compensation practices, and the 

provision of appropriate benefits to elevate the professionalism of 

employees. The Company not only supports continuous learning and 

development but also provides opportunities for career advancement. 

Additionally, the Company fosters a positive working environment and 

strives to enhance the overall quality of life for its employees, promoting 

both physical and mental well-being. This approach aims to contribute to 

efficient and highly effective work outcomes, leading to the highest levels 

of productivity and results. 

The Company promotes direct and indirect contributions to the 

well-being of communities and society, encompassing areas such as 

education, religion, sports, human resource development, employment 

opportunities and off-site job recruitment initiatives, etc. Moreover, 

The Company actively engages and collaborates with universities        

to organize events that impart knowledge and prepare students for       

a high-quality entry into the job market. This commitment serves as      

a crucial force in contributing to the economic development of the 

country. 

The Company is dedicated to developing its services for the utmost 

satisfaction and benefit of its customers. It is committed to serving 

customers with responsibility, honesty, and continuous care, emphasizing 

the efficiency of service delivery. Additionally, the Company firmly 

adheres to fair marketing practices, and it pledges to keep customer 

information confidential and refrain from using such information in any 

unauthorized manner. 

4. Community or Social
Development Collaboration

3.4.2 Social Performance Results

(1) Employees and Labors

As a human resources service provider, the Company places importance on ensuring that employees are treated fairly and that they 
are provided with fair compensation, benefits, security and ongoing support for learning and self-development. This is aimed at 
enabling employees to advance in their careers, improve their quality of life and contribute to the advancement of society.
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Employment

The employment at the Company involves sourcing candidates who possess qualifications suitable for the organization and the job 
positions. Equal treatment is practiced in dealing with employees, without discrimination based on factors such as gender, age, ethnicity or 
religion. Instead, emphasis is placed on abilities and suitability for the position. Through a selection process that includes skill testing, 
knowledge assessment and attitude evaluation, the Company aims to ensure that employees are successful in their roles. 

Human Resource Development

The Company acknowledges the value of human resources, recognizing employees as crucial assets for achieving organizational 
success. The Company plans training and development initiatives to enhance the knowledge, expertise and proficiency of its workforce, 
enabling them to perform their duties effectively and achieve organizational goals. Through the E-Learning system, which offers over 
400 courses, every employee has the opportunity to engage in learning and personal development. The Human Resources department 
arranges both in-house and external training sessions by designing training courses tailored to job roles and performance levels, such 
as “Effective Communication,” “Leader as a Coach” and “Growth Mindset,” etc. The organization ensures alignment with its core 
values: “Be Better, Move Faster, Think of Others.” These initiatives focus on encouraging employees to continuously improve 
themselves every day, fostering more efficient work practices and empowering them to support and assist others, including colleagues, 
supervisors and company clients, in achieving mutual success.

Safety, Occupational Health and Environment in the Workplace

The Company ensures the well-being of employees regarding workplace safety, occupational health and environment through the 
following measures:

• Organizing training, drills and fire evacuation exercises at least once a year.
• Providing basic first aid and rescue training.
• Conducting annual health check-ups and offering health insurance to employees.
• Conducting surveys to assess employee satisfaction, aiming to identify areas for improvement and enhance employee happiness 

in the workplace. 
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In addition, the Company organizes various activities to promote and foster employee engagement within the organization, aiming to 
provide opportunities for socializing and relaxation to alleviate workplace stress. These activities allow employees to interact and 
exchange ideas with colleagues and management, such as Christmas parties, annual employee gatherings and Songkran celebrations. 
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 Employee information, employment and human resource development for the years 2021-2023:

(2) Customers

The Company aims to be a leader in providing Total HR Solutions. Therefore, it emphasizes the development of services to be 
comprehensive, standardized and integrates technology to enhance efficiency, delivering improved services to customers.

Total HR Solutions

The Company has expanded its services to comprehensively cover human resources for customers. In the years 2021-2023, the following 
additional services have been introduced:   

• Integrated Learning Services
• Job Platform
• Human Capital Management Program

Total number of employees People 416 590

Number of male employees People 109 176

Number of female employees People 307 414

589

168

421

Employee Information

Number of Employees

Number of employees under 30 years old People 172 264

Number of employees aged 30-50 years old People 231 314

Number of employees over 50 years old People 13 12

287

293

9

Number of employees categorized by age

Number of operational level employees People 394 553

Number of managerial level employees People 12 25

Number of senior management executives People 10 12

565

13

11

Number of employees categorized by position level

Average number of training hours per employee Hours /
person / year - 10.0

Employee Satisfaction Level % 75%

2.30

76%

Employee Development

Unit 2021 2022 2023
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Technology Integration

International Standard Development of Services

In addition, technology has been employed to enhance work efficiency. For instance, the PRTR Connect application facilitates easier 
management of employees’ tasks for both staff and supervisors. Tasks such as recording work hours, managing work schedules and 
requesting various types of leave can now be conveniently processed and approved through the system, ensuring swift and accurate 
information handling.

The Company also prioritizes the development of services to meet international standards. For example, measures are implemented to 
ensure control over the security aspects of information technology systems according to ISO/IEC 27001, which is the global standard for 
Information Security Management Systems (ISMS). Efforts include raising awareness among employees regarding computer and information 
technology security, along with providing training on personal data protection in accordance with the Personal Data Protection Act to instill 
confidence in customers utilizing the Company’s services.

(3) Community and Society

Managed by

PRTR Connect

The Company recognizes the importance of society and the environment and actively participates in activities to assist and develop 
the community, as outlined below: 

1.  Organized a seminar on “The Transformation of Post-Pandemic Workplace” on July 5, 2022, to provide knowledge about essential 
skills for working in the post-COVID-19 world. The participation in the seminar was free of charge.
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2. Organized the PRTR Career and Life Launcher for the Next Generation project (Resume Technique and How to Prepare for Job 
Interviews). The primary objectives of the activity were to provide students with knowledge on preparing resumes, mastering job 
interview skills, including job application techniques. Additionally, a workshop was conducted on selecting suitable job opportunities 
aligned with individual qualifications, aiming to prepare participants for the real-world working environment. Benefits for participants in 
the training include: 1) Participants can create a concise resume and be well-prepared for job applications and interviews, increasing 
their chances of success. 2) It assists the training group in selecting jobs that align with their individual strengths and capabilities.             
3) Participants receive guidance from PRTR’s experienced team, specialized in job placement across various industries in the private 
sector. 4) Participants gain opportunities to apply for positions and interview with numerous private companies that are clients of PRTR, 
offering a wide range of job opportunities for recent graduates. The activities are conducted in both online and offline formats, taking 
into consideration suitability and the prevailing COVID-19 situation.
 Since 2021 to 2023, PRTR has organized the following activities to provide opportunities for students from various universities 
to participate: 

• International educational institutions Ramkhamhaeng 
University, February 15, 2023

• Dusit Thani College, March 31, 2023
• Faculty of Political Science, Chiang Mai University, 

September 15, 19, 2023
• International College Panyapiwat Institute of Management, 

December 1, 2023

• Bangkok University, September 7, 2021
• Stamford International University, September 15, 2021
• Dusit Thani College, 17-18 September 2021
• Faculty of Economics Chulalongkorn University, March 30, 

2022
• Faculty of Economics Chulalongkorn University, January 19, 

2023

3. In collaboration with the Baan Nokkamin Foundation, PRTR initiated the project “Leftover-Wish.” The resources generated from this 
project will be utilized to transform these donations into a funding source for students’ education. This initiative aims to benefit students 
in need and enhance their opportunities for growth. PRTR utilizes this project to reflect its mission: to assist people in obtaining better jobs, 
improving their lives, and contributing to the development of a better society.
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3.5.1 Governance Policy and Practices

In addition to emphasizing social and environmental dimensions, corporate governance is another crucial aspect. Adapting corporate 
governance to align with the Company’s business operations involves establishing a robust framework for governance, monitoring, and 
evaluation. It entails fostering awareness among executives, employees and stakeholders regarding the potential social and environmental 
impacts of their actions, promoting a culture of honesty and integrity in their work. The Company firmly believes that this approach not 
only sustains business growth but also serves as a mechanism for driving sustainable economic development in the country. 

The Company has developed a policy on good corporate governance, adhering to the principles of good governance practices. 

For listed companies, there are specified guidelines regarding the structure of corporate governance, the roles and responsibilities of the 
board of directors, as well as the principles guiding transparent, clear management practices by executives that are subject to verification. 
These guidelines serve as a framework for management, instilling confidence that the Company’s operations are conducted fairly, building 
trust, and contributing to sustainable business growth. These policies or guidelines on good corporate governance can be found in the 56-1 
One Report for the year 2023 under the section titled “Corporate Governance.”

The Company has established an anti-corruption policy, recognizing the importance of conducting business with transparency, integrity 
and a sense of responsibility towards society and stakeholders, which are fundamental principles of good corporate governance. It has 
outlined guidelines and action plans for combating corruption, as follows:

• Implement a anti-corruption policy in the operations of the 
Company and its subsidiaries.

• Refrain from engaging in any form of corruption. Uphold 
integrity and ethics following the principles of Good Corporate 
Governance, manage corporate affairs transparently and 
take responsibility for all stakeholders.

• Combat corruption and bribery in all forms, whether through 
solicitation, acceptance, payment, or offering of bribes or any 
other benefits to government officials or any other individuals 
conducting business with the Company. Guidelines for 
appropriate conduct have been established for the Board of 
Directors, executives, and employees.

• Promote ethical business practices among the Company’s 
business partners, ensuring compliance with the law and 
transparency to foster collaboration for sustainable social 
development. 

• Conduct assessments of risks related to corruption and 
corporate malpractice.

• Supervise and ensure that employees adhere to the 
anti-corruption policies. Establish communication channels 
to receive complaints or reports regarding questionable or 
unethical actions, directing them to the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee as specified in the Whistleblower Policy.

• Declaration of Intent to join CAC

The evaluation of the Company’s good corporate governance practices for the year 2023
has received an excellent rating. 

Good Corporate Governance Performance Results

Anti-Corruption

Good Corporate Governance

3.5  Sustainability Management in Governance Dimension

81% 81% 82% 94%

Overall Listed
Companies Service Business Market Cap.

3,000 - 9,999 MB. PRTR
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The Company has established a policy for receiving complaints and whistleblowing concerning corporate governance or compliance 
from all stakeholders, whether they originate from internal personnel or external individuals. Complaints are required to be submitted 
in writing and can be processed or monitored through the following channels:

Upon receipt of a complaint, the Chairman of the Audit Committee will assign the responsible person to coordinate, investigate and 
gather findings for reporting to the Audit Committee.

It is crucial to ensure the highest level of security for the Company’s information technology systems, networks and computers. Maintaining 
the utmost security is paramount for sustainable business operations, as the security of systems and data significantly impacts user trust. 
Given the substantial collection, storage and processing of personal data from employees and candidates, the Company places great 
importance on safeguarding and preserving this data, particularly in an era of increasingly sophisticated technology and cyber threats. 

The Company has established processes for controlling 
information technology security in accordance with the ISO/IEC 
27001 standard, a global standard for Information Security 
Management Systems (ISMS). Additionally, the Company 
complies with the Personal Data Protection Act B.E. 2562 
(2019) (PDPA) by formulating a Personal Data Protection Policy. 
This policy serves as a guideline for the board of directors, 
management, employees and stakeholders, ensuring that their 
work aligns with and adheres to legal requirements. 

Whistleblowing

Anti-Corruption Performance Results

Cybersecurity and Personal Data Protection

Audit Committee Chairman

whistle-blowing@prtr.com  

Recipient:

Email:

https://www.prtr.com/Website:

PRTR Group Public Company Limited
2034/82 Ital-Thai Tower, 18th Floor, New Petchburi 
Road, Bangkapi, Huaykwang, Bangkok

Postal Address:

Whistleblowing and Complaint Channels

• Implemented an anti-corruption policy in the Company’s and 
subsidiaries’ business operations, establishing roles, responsibilities 
and appropriate practices to effectively communicate to the 
board of directors, management and all employees within the 
organization to ensure understanding and compliance.

• Conducted annual risk assessments on corruption.

• Provided training and communication to employees regarding 
policies, guidelines, as well as channels for whistleblowing and 
complaints.

• In 2023, the Company announced its commitment to join the 
Collective Action Against Corruption (CAC) to participate in the 
collective effort to combat corporate corruption in the Thai 
private sector, aiming to be part of the solution to address 
corruption issues in the year 2023.
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• Information Security
• Asset Management
• Access Control
• Cryptography
• Physical and Environmental Security
• Operations Security
• Communications Security

• System Acquisition, Development and Maintenance
• Supplier Relationships
• Third-party Management
• Information Security Incident Management
• Cloud Services Policy
• Compliance

The Company places great importance on monitoring and protecting personal data, as well as respecting the privacy rights of customers, 
partners, employees and/or individuals associated with the company’s business. To ensure confidence that the personal data of these 
individuals is fully protected and respected according to the Personal Data Protection Act B.E. 2562 (2019), the Company has developed a 
Personal Data Protection Policy. This policy is intended for executives, employees, and stakeholders to adhere to, with clear and appropri-
ate criteria, oversight measures, and management of personal data. This aims to reduce the risk of personal data breaches, enhance the 
security of personal data and foster confidence among customers and stakeholders. 

Furthermore, the Company has appointed a Data Protection Officer to oversee, supervise and provide guidance on the collection, usage or 
disclosure of personal data, including coordinating and cooperating with the Personal Data Protection Office. Additionally, appropriate 
technical measures and management practices have been implemented to prevent and maintain the security of personal data. This 
includes encryption for data transmission over the internet network and controlling access to personal data, both in document and 
electronic formats. For more details on personal data protection, please refer to the Company’s website.

Information Security Policy 

• Connectivity of computers, electronic devices to the Company’s 
internal network

• Copyright infringement and intellectual property rights
• Password Responsibility
• Access control of computer centers and information devices.
• Testing of developed systems or system modifications.

• Prevention of unauthorized programs (Malware Virus, Worm, 
etc.). 

• E-Mail Usage
• Remote Access
• Internet And Intranet Usage
• Incident Response 

Information Usage Policy

Personal Data Protection

The Company has established a policy for maintaining information security and for the proper use of information systems to instill 
confidence and ensure the security of information technology systems and computer networks. These policies are designed to 
facilitate the efficient and effective operation of the company’s information technology systems and networks and serve as guidelines 
for carrying out tasks to ensure accurate and consistent understanding. They encompass the following topics:

Cybersecurity

Recovery Plan for Critical Work Systems
The Company has established and conducted drills for the annual preparation and recovery plan for the organization’s critical systems. 
The Company’s Information Technology department conducts tests to ensure that the business can continue uninterrupted in the event 
of an emergency. These tests simulate computer security threats and recovery system tests are conducted to ensure that systems can 
be restored to normal operations according to the plan.

Cybersecurity and Personal Data Protection Performance Results
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Communication and Knowledge Dissemination Channels concerning Cybersecurity 
The Information Technology department facilitates communication and knowledge dissemination regarding cybersecurity through various 
channels such as the Company’s Line Application, the Intranet system and email. These platforms are utilized to provide information, 
announcements and news to raise awareness and establish a foundation for cybersecurity awareness and system usage within the 
Company. Additionally, the department organizes training sessions to educate new employees about data security practices.

Personal Data Protection Awareness Training 

The Company has developed a training plan to provide knowledge and raise awareness about personal data protection in compliance 

with regulations and the Personal Data Protection Act. Employees are required to undergo training annually and new employees must 

complete the training course to ensure understanding, acknowledgment of penalties and the ability to apply the knowledge correctly. 

This is aimed at reducing the risk of errors and potential breaches resulting from data leaks or improper data usage.
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4. Management Discussion and Analysis

4.1  Operating Results

Overall Operating Results

 The PRTR Group Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as “PRTR” or “the Company”) reported 
their operating results for the year ended on December 31, 2023. The total revenue amounted to 6,422.0 million Baht, with a net profit 
attributable to the parent company of 206.4 million Baht. The significant changes are detailed as follows: 

December 31, 2022

million Baht % million Baht % million Baht %

Income Statement
and Other Comprehensive Income  December 31, 2023

Financial statements for the year ended on

Change

6,407.8 99.8% 296.1 4.8%

14.2 0.2% 9.2 184.0%

5,762.3 89.7% 286.3 5.2%

411.3 6.4% 34.9 9.3%

6,173.6 96.1% 321.2 5.5%

248.4 3.9% (15.9) (6.0%)

9.7 0.2% (11.7) (54.7%)

238.7 3.7% (4.2) (1.7%)

40.5 0.6% (3.0) (6.9%)

198.2 3.1% (1.2) (0.6%)

206.4 3.2% 4.2 2.1%

(8.2) (0.1%) (5.4) (188.1%)

208.1 3.2% 4.1 2.0%

(8.2) (0.1%) (5.5) (198.6%)

6,422.0 100.0% 305.3 5.0%

Income

Service Revenue

Other Income

Total Income

Costs and Expenses

Cost of Service Provision

Administrative Expenses

Total Costs and Expenses

Profit before Financial Costs and Income Tax Expenses 

Financial Costs

Profit before Income Tax Expenses

Income Tax Expenses

Net Profit for the Year

Profit Distribution

Portion attributable to the Parent Company

Portion attributable to Non-controlling Interests

Comprehensive Profit

Net Profit

Other Comprehensive Income - Net of Tax

199.9 3.1%

6,111.7 99.9%

5.0 0.1%

5,476.0 89.5%

376.4 6.2%

5,852.4 95.7%

264.3 4.3%

21.4 0.3%

242.9 4.0%

43.5 0.7%

199.4 3.3%

202.2 3.3%

(2.8) (0.0%)

204.0 3.3%

(2.7) 0.0%

6,116.7 100.0%

201.3 3.3% (1.4) (0.7%)

The total income, comprising service revenue and other income, for the years ending December 31, 2022, and 2023, was 6,116.7 million 
Baht and 6,422.0 million Baht, respectively. This represents an increase of 305.3 million Baht or 5.0 percent.

Total Income

Comprehensive Profit
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9.7 0.2% (11.7) (54.6%)

238.7 3.7% (4.2) (1.7%)

40.5 0.6% (3.0) (6.9%)

198.2 3.1% (1.2) (0.6%)

Financial Costs

Profit before Income Tax Expenses

Income Tax Expenses

Net Profit for the Period

21.4 0.3%

242.9 4.0%

43.5 0.7%

199.4 3.3%

5,638.1 87.8% 248.4 4.6%

101.6 1.6% 20.4 25.2%

5,762.3 89.7% 286.3 5.2%

Costs and Expenses
Cost of Outsource Service

Cost of Recruitment Service

Total Costs

5,389.7 88.1%

81.2 1.3%

9.9 0.2% 5.2 108.6%Cost of Training Service 4.7 0.1%

2.1 0.0% 1.7 100.0%Cost of Jobs Platform Service 0.4 0.0%

10.6 0.2% 10.6 100.0%Cost of HRIS Platform Service - -

411.3 6.4% 34.9 9.3%Sales and Administrative Expenses 376.4 6.2%

5,476.0 89.5%

6,173.6 96.1% 321.2 5.5%Total Costs and Expenses 5,852.4 95.7%

248.4 3.9% (15.9) (6.0%)Profit before Financial Costs and Income Tax Expenses 264.3 4.3%

For the year ending December 31, 2022, and 2023, the Company recorded revenues from service provision amounting to 6,111.7 million 
Baht and 6,407.8 million Baht, respectively. This represents an increase of 296.1 million Baht or 4.8 percent. The growth is attributed to 
continuous expansion in the core business segments, including the outsourcing of personnel (Outsource) and the recruitment services 
(Recruitment) business. Additionally, the introduction of new services such as Integrated Learning Service and HRIS Platform contributed to 
the overall growth in revenue from service provision. Overall, the revenue from service provision continues to exhibit sustained growth, 
driven by the consistent quality of service and the ability to offer comprehensive services. These services encompass the outsourcing of 
personnel across various industries and the recruitment of employees at all levels, providing customers with a complete and integrated 
service experience.

Revenue from Service Provision

 Revenue breakdown by business segment includes:

Remark * The Company began generating revenue in the end of the year 2021.
 ** The Company began generating revenue in the fourth quarter of 2022.
 *** The Company began generating revenue in the second quarter of 2023. 

Revenue from Outsource Service

Revenue from Recruitment Service

Revenue from Integrated learning Service*

6,422.0 100.0%

6,104.3

267.3

19.4

95.1%

4.2%

0.3%

Revenue from Online Job Platform** 2.3 0.0%

6,116.7 100.0%

5,869.0

233.1

9.5

96.0%

3.8%

0.2%

0.1 0.0%

235.3

34.1

9.9

4.0%

14.6%

103.3%

2.2 2,260.2%

Revenue from HRIS Platform*** 14.5 0.2%- - 14.5 100.0%

Others

Total Revenue

14.2 0.2%5.0 0.1% 9.1 181.0%

305.3 5.0%

List
Financial statements for the year ended on

million Baht Ratio Ratio %million Baht million Baht

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 Change

List
Financial statements for the year ended on

million Baht Ratio Ratio %million Baht million Baht

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 Change
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Gross Profit from Outsource Service

Gross Profit from Recruitment Service

Gross Profit from Integrated Learning Service*

645.5 10.1%

466.2

165.6

9.5

7.6%

62.0%

48.9%

Gross Profit from Online Job Platform** 0.2 8.5%

635.7 10.4%

479.3

151.9

4.8

8.2%

65.2%

50.2%

(0.3) (305.1%)

(13.1)

13.7

4.7

(2.7%)

9.0%

98.0%

0.5 (166.1%)

Gross Profit from HRIS Platform*** 4.0 27.6%- - 4.0 -

Total Gross Profit 9.7 1.5%

Gross Profit Breakdown
by Business Segment 

Financial statements for the year ended on

million Baht Ratio Ratio %million Baht million Baht

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 Change

1) Revenue from Outsource Service

For the year ending December 31, 2022, and 2023, the Company incurred total service provision costs of 5,476.0 million Baht and 
5,762.3 million Baht, respectively. This represents an increase of 286.3 million Baht or 5.2 percent. The primary causes for this increase 
include: 
 
1. Costs of the Outsource Service Business amounted to 5,638.1 million Baht, an increase of 248.4 million Baht or 4.6 percent. This 

includes increased salary and labor costs resulting from new customers in the sales personnel group, and salary expenses for certain 
groups such as company employees and factory workers, both of which have seen an increase. Sales personnel also received higher 
incentives and commissions due to increased product usage, along with bonus payments to employees. In this regard, the Company’s 
revenue has increased in line with these costs. 

2. Costs of the Recruitment Service amounted to 101.6 million Baht, with an increase of 20.4 million Baht or 25.2 percent from the 
previous year. This increase is attributed to expanding the Company’s recruitment team to accommodate business expansion.

Cost of Service Provision

For the year ending December 31, 2022, and 2023, the Company generated revenue from the Outsource service business amounting to 
5,869.0 million Baht and 6,104.3 million Baht, respectively. This represents an increase of 235.3 million Baht or 4.0 percent. The growth        
is attributed to new clients within the retail/wholesale consumer goods business, the electrical appliances/mobile phone industry, and the 
construction materials business. Additionally, there was a notable increase in consumer spending during the early months of 2023, along 
with bonus payments to employees, contributing to sustained growth in the customer base within the electrical appliances/mobile phone 
industry. 

2) Revenue from Recruitment Service

For the year ending December 31, 2022, and 2023, the Company reported revenue from the Recruitment service business amounting to 
233.1 million Baht and 267.3 million Baht, respectively. This represents an increase of 34.1 million Baht or 14.6 percent. The growth is 
attributed to the continuous rise in demand for personnel recruitment, particularly in the Junior and Executive positions, as well as an 
increase in revenue from new clients. 

For the platform services business, comprising (3) Integrated Learning Service, providing both online and offline training, (4) Online Job 
Platform for job placement, and (5) HRIS Platform for salary calculation, these ventures are in the early stages of development. For the 
year ending December 31, 2022, and 2023, the Company generated revenue from the Integrated Learning Service business amounting 
to 9.5 million Baht and 19.4 million Baht, respectively. This represents an increase of 9.9 million Baht or 103.3 percent. Additionally, 
there was revenue from a new business, the HRIS Platform, amounting to 14.5 million Baht.

Gross Profit

Remark * The Company began generating revenue in the end of the year 2021.
 ** The Company began generating revenue in the fourth quarter of 2022.
 *** The Company began generating revenue in the second quarter of 2023. 
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For the years ending December 31, 2022, and 2023, the Company reported gross profits of 635.7 million Baht and 645.5 million Baht, 
respectively, with gross profit margins of 10.4 percent and 10.1 percent, respectively. The slight drop in the gross profit margin during this 
period can be attributed to the following factors: 1) An increase in the variable income of employees, which is higher, but with a service 
rate lower than the fixed income. 2) Adjustment to reduce the social security contribution rate by employers in 2022, resulting in a decrease 
of approximately 16 million Baht in social security contributions for the year 2022. 3) Expansion of the Company’s recruitment team to 
accommodate business growth.  

For the years ending December 31, 2022, and 2023, administrative expenses amounted to 376.4 million Baht and 411.3 million Baht, 
respectively. This represents an increase of 34.9 million Baht or 9.3 percent. The primary reasons for this increase are as follows: 1) 
Expenditure in the new business HRIS Platform 2) Expansion of the workforce to accommodate business growth, resulting in higher 
personnel-related expenses, including salaries and other associated costs such as software license fees related to operations. 3) Costs 
associated with the initial public offering (IPO), including roadshow expenses, advertising and public relations costs, consulting fees and 
various other fees. These are one-time expenses.  

Financial costs amounted to 9.7 million Baht, showing a decrease of 11.7 million Baht from the previous year. This reduction is attributed 
to the decrease in interest expenses on loans from financial institutions. Additionally, during the year ending December 31, 2023, the 
Company fully repaid short-term loans from financial institutions. 

 The effective tax rate is lower than 20 percent due to allowable deductions, some of which are double-counted for 
tax purposes. Additionally, expenses related to the initial public offering (IPO), where accounting records deduct excess common 
stock value, can be recognized as tax-deductible expenses. 

Financial Costs

Administrative Expenses

Total Assets

Total Liabilities

Shareholder’s Equity

2,084.1

545.9

1,538.2

100%

26.2%

73.8%

1,505.7

1,054.6

451.1

100.0%

70.0%

30.0%

578.4

(508.7)

1,087.1

38.4%

(48.2%)

241.0%

List
As of

million Baht Ratio Ratio %million Baht million Baht

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 Change

Statement of financial position

Profit before Income Tax

Income Tax Expenses

Effective Tax Rate

242.9

43.5

17.9%

238.7

40.5

17.0%

Income Tax
For the year ended on

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023

Income Tax Expenses
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Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Net cash (outflow) investing activities

376.8 4,197.9%

5.4

(8.4)

5.0%

-17.4%

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

(9.0) 367.8

109.5

(48.4)

114.9

(56.7)

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Net cash used in financing activities 379.7 541.6%(70.1) 309.6

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(9.0) -7.4%121.5 112.5Net cash and cash equivalents as of January 1

367.8 326.9%112.5 480.3Cash and Cash Equivalents as of

Cash Flow Statement (unit : million Baht) 
For the year ended on

%December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 Change

Liquidity and Adequacy of Capital

Total Assets

Total Liabilities

Shareholder’s Equity

Gross Profit Margin (GPM) (%)

Net Profit Margin (NPM) (%)

Current Ratio (times)

10.4

3.3

1.4

10.1

3.2

4.5

D/E Ratio (times) 2.4 0.4

Earning Per Share (EPS) (Baht) 0.8 0.4

Income Tax
For the year ended on

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023

Key Financial Ratios

As of December 31, 2023, the total assets amount to 2,084.1 million Baht, reflecting an increase of 578.4 million Baht compared to the 
end of 2022, which was 1,505.7 million Baht. This growth is primarily attributed to the increase in cash and cash equivalents, amounting 
to 367.8 million Baht, stemming from the Company’s initial public offering (IPO) conducted in 2023. The increase also includes assets 
arising from investments in intangible assets (HRIS Platform) in the year 2023

As of December 31, 2023, total liabilities amount to 545.9 million Baht, showing a decrease of 48.2 percent compared to the end of 

2022, which was 1,054.6 million Baht. This reduction is primarily due to the repayment of loans from financial institutions.

The Shareholder’s Equity as of December 31, 2023, amounts to 1,538.2 million Baht, showing an increase of 1,087.1 million Baht or 
241.0 percent compared to the end of 2022, which was 451.1 million Baht. This increase is primarily due to 1) The issuance of common 
shares and the excess of common stock value from the initial public offering (IPO), totaling 1,046.4 million Baht. 2) Net profit from 
operations for the year ending December 31, 2023, amounting to 198.2 million Baht. 3) Dividend payments totaling 183.0 million Baht. 
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As of December 31, 2023, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of 480.3 million Baht. The cash inflow from operating activities 
amounted to 114.9 million Baht. Net cash outflow from investing activities was 56.7 million Baht, primarily used for the purchase of intangi-
ble assets, specifically software for HRIS Platform and Jobs Platform, totaling 50.9 million Baht. The cash outflow from financing activities 
was 309.6 million Baht, comprising loan repayments to financial institutions amounting to 548.5 million Baht, dividend payments of 183.0 
million Baht and cash received from a capital increase of 1,046.4 million Baht

4.2   Key Financial Ratios

Liquidity Ratio

Quick Ratio

1.41.3

Accounts Receivable Current Ratio 6.77.0

Average Collection Period 5452

Accounts Payable Current Ratio 3330

Average Payment Period 1112

Cash Cycle 4340

Profitability Ratios

Gross Profit Ratio 10.410.0

Operating Profit Ratio 4.34.4

Other Income to Total Income Ratio 0.10.0

Cash to Profitability Ratio

Net Profit Ratio

Return on Equity * 53.658.1

Efficiency Ratios

Return on Assets 14.113.9

Return on Fixed Assets

Total Asset Turnover Ratio 4.34.2

Financial Policy Ratios

Debt-to-Equity Ratio 2.43.4

Time Interest Earned Ratio 13.715.3

Interest Bearing Debt to EBITDA Ratio ** 2.12.2

EBITDA Coverage Ratio 0.50.5

Time(s)

1.21.1Time(s)

Time(s)

Day(s)

Time(s)

Day(s)

Day(s)

%

%

%

41.476.8%

3.33.3%

200.4

4.5

6.4

57

34

11

46

10.1

3.9

0.2

21.0

11.5

3.6

0.4

28.8

0.1

16.3

3.8

46.3

3.2

164.0197.1%

%

%

Time(s)

Time(s)

Time(s)

Time(s)

Time(s)

Liquidity Ratios

2021 2022UnitKey Financial Ratios 2023

  Note:

* Return on Equity (ROE) is calculated by dividing the net profit of owners in the income statement by the average owner's equity

** Interest-Bearing Debt to EBITDA Ratio is calculated by dividing the total interest-bearing debt by Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and Amortization 

(EBITDA).
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5. General and Other
Important Information

5.1  General Information

Company Name:   บริษัท พีอาร์ทีอาร์ กรุ๊ป จํากัด (มหาชน) (“PRTR”)
Company Name in English:  PRTR GROUP PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
Company Registration Number:  0107565000352

• Thailand Securities Depository Company Limited, 93 14th 

Floor, Ratchadapisek Road, Din Daeng Sub-district,        

Din Daeng District, Bangkok 10400                                         

Telephone:  0-2009-9999 

Business Type

Securities Registrar 

• KGI Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited                 

Asia Center Building, 8th-11th Floor, 173 South Sathorn 

Road, Bangkok 10120                                                                    

Telephone:  0-2658-8888 

Financial Advisor

• Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyot Audit Co., Ltd.                         

No. 11/1 AIA Sathorn Tower Building, 23rd-27th Floors, 

South Sathorn Road, Yannawa Subdistrict, Sathorn District, 

Bangkok 10120                                                                 

Telephone:  0-2034-0000                                                    

Fax:   0-2034 0100 

Auditor

1. Provide HR outsourcing services or outsource and provide a 
full range of HR management services, including hiring 
personnel in various positions to be sufficient for the needs 
of customers, preparing salary information, remuneration, 
employee benefits, employee management and training.

2. Provide recruitment services from a staff level to an executive 
level by acting as an intermediary between candidates and 
companies seeking employees to work in various areas.

3. Provide an online job search platform (Job Platform).
4. Provide online training services through the platform and 

offline (Integrated Learning Services).
5. Provide personnel management software (“Human Capital 

Management Program”).
6. Provide overseas recruitment services. 

Head Office Location
2034/82 Italthai Tower, 18th Floor, New Petchburi Road, Bang 

Kapi, Huai Khwang, Bangkok

Telephone  :  02-716-0000

Company Website  : https://www.prtr.com  

Branch Office Location
848/20 Village No. 3, Bowin Sub0district, Sriracha District, 

Chonburi Province 

Registered Capital
300,000,000 บาท

Paid-up Capital
300,000,000 บาท

Par value
0.50 Baht per share
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5.2  Other Important Information

5.2.1 Other important information affecting the investor's decision

5.2.3 Legal Disputes

             As of December 30, 2023, the Company had no legal disputes that may cause damage to the Company’s assets in excess of 
5% of the shareholders’ equity and no other legal disputes that may have a significant impact on the Company’s business operations. 

- None -

5.2.2 Restriction of Overseas Shareholders: in the event that the Company
has a policy to seek a resolution at the shareholders’ meeting on the offering
of a right offering or issuing the right certificate for transferable subscription
right (hereinafter referred to as TSR) to shareholders in proportion to their
shareholding without issuing and offering to shareholders, that will make
the Company obligated by foreign law.

- None -
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Part 2

Good Corporate Governance



6. Corporate Governance Policy

 The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate governance as an important aspect of promoting efficient operations 
and sustainable growth that will lead to the greatest benefit to all stakeholders, from employees to investors, shareholders, and other 
stakeholders. Therefore, the Board of Directors has agreed to establish a good corporate governance policy covering the main 
principles ranging from the structure, roles, duties, and responsibilities of the Board of Directors, sub-committees, and executives, as 
well as the nomination and remuneration of directors and executives, independence of the board of directors from management, 
director development, evaluation of the performance of directors, and supervision of subsidiaries and associated companies. It also 
includes the principles of transparent, clear, and accountable management of executives based on the Good Corporate Governance 
Guidelines for Listed Companies B.E. 2560 (2017) of the Securities and Exchange Commission (hereinafter referred to as “SEC”) to serve 
as a guideline for the Board of Directors to ensure that the business has good long-term performance and credibility for shareholders, 
investors, and all stakeholders as a listed company on the Stock Exchange of Thailand (hereinafter referred to as “SET”) and as a 
guideline for corporate management to ensure that any operations of the Company are fair and take into account the best interests 
of shareholders and all stakeholders. In addition, the Board of Directors also adheres to the principles of effective management and 
ethics in operations, conducts business that is beneficial to society, and develops or reduces negative impacts on the environment, 
including being able to adapt to changes in business conditions for the benefit of creating sustainable value for the business that meets 
the expectations of the overall business sector, investors, and capital markets, as well as society. 

 Moreover, the Board of Directors has appointed sub-committees to oversee the audit system, internal control, risk management, 
and corporate governance of the Company, along with encouraging executives and employees to operate with transparency and 
fairness so that all stakeholders can be confident that the Company complies with good corporate governance principles and believe 
that the Company will continue to grow sustainably. The Board of Directors places importance on compliance with the principles of 
good corporate governance, covering eight principles of corporate governance, based on the principles of creating value for the 
Company for sustainability, in addition to building confidence for investors, which will lead to governance outcomes, which the Board 
of Directors will consider following under the framework.

• Competitiveness and good performance by taking long-term impact into account
• Business conduct with ethics, and respects for the rights and responsibilities of shareholders and stakeholders.
• Benefits for society and the development or reduction of negative environmental impacts
• Adaptability under changing factors
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Principle 1
Establish Clear

Leadership Role
and Responsibilities

of the Board

Principle 3
Strengthen Efficiency

of the Board
of Directors

Principle 5
Encourage Innovation

and Responsible
Business

Operations

Principle 4
Recruitment

and Development
of Senior Management

and Personnel
Management

Principle 7
Maintain Financial

Credibility
and Disclosure
of Information

Principle 6
Ensure Appropriate
Risk Management

and Internal
Control Systems

are Available

Principle 8
Encourage

Participation
and Communication

with Shareholders

Principle 2
Define Objectives

that Promote
Sustainable Value

Creation

An overview of the Company’s corporate governance policy and guidelines can be summarized below. The full corporate governance 
policy and guidelines can be found in Attachment 4, the Corporate Governance Policy, Guidelines, and Code of Conduct.

Principle 1: Recognizing the Roles and Responsibilities of the Board of Directors as a Corporate Leader Who Creates Sustainable 
    Value for the Business.  
1. The Board of Directors will understand its role and recognize its responsibilities as a leader who must supervise the organization 

to have good management. This includes setting objectives and goals, formulating strategies, and operational policies, allocating 
key resources to achieve objectives and goals and monitoring, evaluating, and overseeing performance reporting.

2. The Board of Directors will supervise the Company to lead to at least good governance outcomes. For example, the Company is 
able to compete and have good operating results by taking into account long-term impacts, conducting business ethically, 
respecting the rights, and having responsibility to shareholders and stakeholders, being beneficial to society, developing or reducing 
negative impacts on the environment, and being able to adapt to changing factors of business conditions.

3. The Board of Directors will ensure that all directors and executives perform their duties with duty of care and duty of loyalty and 
that operations comply with the law, regulations, and resolutions of the shareholders’ meeting, as well as the policies or 
guidelines set forth. It includes the process of approving important operations such as investments, transactions that have a 
significant impact on the Company, transactions with connected parties, the acquisition/disposition of property, dividend 
payments, etc., which must be in accordance with the law.

4. The Board of Directors will understand the scope of duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors and clearly define the 
scope of delegation of duties and responsibilities to the Chief Executive Officer and the management, as well as monitoring the 
Chief Executive Officer and the management to perform their duties as assigned. The charter of the Board of Directors specifying 
the duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors is prepared and reviewed regularly, at least once a year. The Board of 
Directors also delegates the management authority to the management in writing, namely the power to approve transactions 
(Delegation of Authority).  

6.1 Overview of Corporate Governance Policy and Guidelines

6.1.1 The policies and guidelines related to the Board of Directors are set out
in the Good Corporate Governance Policy as follows:
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Principle 2: Define the Company’s Main Objectives and Goals for Sustainability.
1. The Board of Directors will determine or ensure that the Company’s main objectives and goals are implemented for sustainability. 

These objectives and goals are consistent with value creation for the Company, customers, and business partners, as well as other 
stakeholders and society as a whole.

2. The Board of Directors will ensure that the Company’s core objectives and goals, as well as its medium-term (3-5 years) and/or 
annual strategies, are aligned with the achievement of the Company’s main objectives and goals, with appropriate and safe use of 
technology. The Board of Directors will set targets to suit the Company’s business environment and potential. It will consider setting 
both monetary and non-monetary targets to suit the business environment, and context potential and be aware of the risks of 
setting targets that may lead to illegal or unethical conduct. Furthermore, the Board of Directors will oversee the appropriate allocation 
of resources and operational controls, as well as monitor the implementation of annual strategies and plans. 

Principle 3: Strengthen Efficiency of the Board of Directors
1. The Board of Directors is responsible for determining and reviewing the Board of Directors’ structure in terms of size, composition, and 

an appropriate proportion of independent directors, including skills, experience, abilities and particular characteristics, gender and age 
necessary to achieve the main objectives and goals of the organization. The Board of Directors will consider the appropriate number of 
directors who can perform their duties effectively, with a minimum of five directors and not more than twelve. A proportion of executive 
and non-executive directors will be determined to reflect appropriately balanced powers. The number and qualifications of independent 
directors are in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the Board of Directors will ensure that 
independent directors can work effectively with the Board of Directors and express their opinions freely.

2. The Board of Directors will select a suitable person to be the Chairman of the Board of Directors and ensure that the composition and 
operations of the Board of Directors are conducive to the exercise of discretion in making independent decisions. The Chairman will be 
an independent director. If the Chairman is not an independent director, the composition of the Board of Directors must consist of more 
than half of the independent directors or an independent director must be appointed to determine the agenda of the Board of 
Directors’ meetings to achieve a balance of power between the Board of Directors and the management. The Company will separate 
the person who holds the position of Chairman from the person who holds the position of Chief Executive Officer. The duties of the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors are defined, and the Company has a policy for independent directors to hold office continuously for 
no more than nine years from the date of their first appointment as independent directors. In the event that an independent director 
is appointed to continue in office, the Board of Directors will reasonably consider such a necessity. In addition, in order for important 
matters to be carefully considered in detail, the Board of Directors will consider appointing sub-committees to consider specific issues, 
screen information, and propose guidelines for consideration before proposing them to the Board of Directors for approval.

3. The Board of Directors appoints the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, whose majority of the members and the Chairman are 
independent directors. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee will hold a meeting to consider criteria and methods for recruiting 
qualified directors who will provide the Committee with the appropriate composition of knowledge and expertise. The Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee will consider the profile of such persons and propose opinions to the Board of Directors before presenting to 
the shareholders’ meeting to appoint directors. In this regard, the shareholders will be provided with sufficient information about the 
nominated persons for decision-making. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee will review the criteria and procedures for 
recruiting directors to make recommendations to the Board of Directors before the recruitment of directors whose terms have expired. 
In the event that the Nomination and Remuneration Committee nominates an existing director, it must take into account the performance 
of such director’s duties.

4. In proposing remuneration of the Board of Directors for approval of the shareholders’ meeting, the Board of Directors, on the recommendations 
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, will consider that the structure and remuneration rates of the Board of Directors are 
appropriate to their responsibilities and motivate the Board of Directors to lead the organization to achieve both short- and long-term 
goals in line with the Company’s strategy and long-term goals, experience, obligations, scope of accountability and responsibilities, 
including expected benefits from each director by comparing to the level practiced in the industry. Shareholders approve the structure 
and remuneration of directors in both monetary and non-monetary forms. The Board of Directors will disclose policy and criteria for 
determining directors’ remuneration that reflect the obligations and responsibilities of each director, including the form and amount of 
remuneration.
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1. The Board of Directors will ensure that the Chief Executive Officer and senior executives are recruited and developed to have the 
knowledge, skills, experience and characteristics necessary to drive the organization towards its goals and will ensure that the 
Company has a succession plan in order to prepare for the succession of the Chief Executive Officer and senior executives. The 
Chief Executive Officer must report the performance of the succession plan to the Board of Directors periodically, or at least once 
a year.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the fact that all directors are responsible for performing their duties and allocating 
sufficient time. There is a mechanism to support directors in understanding their roles and duties and setting the criteria for holding 
directorship in other companies by considering the performance of directors who hold positions in many companies. To ensure that 
directors can dedicate sufficient time to performing their duties in the Company, the number of listed companies in which each director 
will hold a position is determined to be appropriate for the nature or business condition of the Company not more than five listed 
companies in total, as well as providing a reporting system for other directors’ positions and disclosing them to the public. The Board 
of Directors must also ensure that the Company has adequate measures to prevent conflicts of interest. In addition, each director is 
required to attend at least 75% of the total number of Board of Directors’ meetings held in the year, except in cases of necessity. 
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that there is a framework and mechanism to oversee the policies and operations of 
the subsidiaries and other businesses in which the Company invests significantly at an appropriate level for each business, including 
subsidiaries and other businesses invested by the Company to have a correct understanding. The Board of Directors will appoint a 
person representing the Company as a director, an executive, or a controlling person in each subsidiary or other businesses invested by 
the Company in proportion to its shareholding in each company in order to supervise subsidiaries or other businesses to comply with 
the laws and the Company’s policies, including the following announcements of the acquisition or disposal of assets or relevant related 
transactions. The Company will establish plans and take necessary actions to ensure that the said subsidiaries and other businesses have 
adequate and appropriate disclosure of information and internal control systems for business operations. To participate in other 
businesses with 20%-50% voting shareholdings and investment amounts that may require significant additional investment, if necessary, 
the Board of Directors will prepare a Shareholders’ Agreement or other agreements to clarify management authority and participate in 
decision-making on important matters.
The Board of Directors and sub-committees must conduct an assessment of the performance of the Board of Directors at least once a 
year, including evaluating the performance of individual directors, using the self-assessment method to review the performance, 
problems, and obstacles each year so that the assessment results can be used to develop and improve the performance in various 
areas.
The Board of Directors will supervise the Board of Directors and each director to have knowledge and understanding of their roles, 
duties, nature of business, and laws related to business operations, as well as encourage all directors to be equipped with skills and 
knowledge for performing their duties regularly.
The Board of Directors will ensure that the operations of the Board of Directors are conducted in an orderly manner, have access to 
necessary information, and have a Company Secretary with the necessary and appropriate knowledge and experience to support the 
operations of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors will arrange a meeting schedule and agenda of the Board of Directors’ 
meeting in advance so that the directors can arrange time and attend the meeting, and the number of meetings will be not less than 
six times a year. The Board of Directors will ensure that there is a mechanism for each director and the management to be free to 
propose matters of interest to the Company to the agenda, and supporting documents will be sent to the directors at least five working 
days before the meeting date. Unless it is urgently necessary to preserve the rights or interests of the Company, the meeting appointment 
will be notified by other means and the meeting date is set earlier. The Board of Directors will encourage the Chief Executive Officer to 
invite senior executives to attend the Board of Directors’ meeting to provide additional information and to have the opportunity to know 
senior executives for consideration of succession plans. Besides, the Board of Directors will ensure that the Company Secretary receives 
continuous training and knowledge development that will be beneficial to the performance of duties. In the case of a certified program, 
the Company Secretary will also be considered for such training.
 The Company has clearly divided duties and responsibilities between the Board of Directors and the management, and the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors must not be the same person as the Chief Executive Officer. The roles, duties and responsibilities of 
the Board of Directors, Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and management are clearly defined in the Good 
Corporate Governance Policy.

6.

5.

7.

9.

8.

Principle 4: Recruitment and Development of Senior Management and Personnel Management
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1. The Board of Directors values and supports actions that bring value to the business, create a corporate culture that encourages innova-
tion along with creating benefits for customers or related parties, have social and environmental responsibility and do not support 
improper behavior, illegal or unethical activities.

2. The Board of Directors will monitor and ensure that the management conducts business with social and environmental responsibility 
and reflects it in the operational plan to ensure that all parties of the organization operate in line with the Company’s objectives, main 
goals, and strategies. The Board of Directors will develop a code of conduct to cover the following matters: 1) Responsibility to staff and 
employees; 2) Responsibility to customers; 3) Responsibility to partners; 4) Social responsibility; 5) Environmental responsibility; 6) Fair 
competition; and 7) Anti-corruption.

3. The Board of Directors will monitor and ensure that the management allocates and manages resources efficiently and effectively, taking 
into account the impacts and resources throughout the value chain in order to sustainably achieve the main objectives and goals.

4. The Board of Directors provides an organizational information technology governance and management framework consistent with the 
Company’s needs, including overseeing the adoption of information technology to increase business opportunities and development 
in operations, and risk management in order for the Company to achieve its core objectives and goals. Therefore, the Board of Directors 
establishes policies and measures for information security and information systems.

1. The Board of Directors will ensure that the Company and its subsidiaries or other businesses significantly invested in by the Company 
have a risk management and internal control system that will effectively achieve its objectives and comply with relevant laws and 
standards. The Board of Directors will also ensure the identification of external and internal risks, assessment of the impact and 
likelihood of risks and appropriate risk management methods, as well as regular monitoring and evaluation of the effectiveness of risk 
management.

2. The Board of Directors will set up an audit committee that can perform its duties effectively and independently, consisting of at least 
three directors, all of whom must be independent directors and have qualifications and duties in accordance with the criteria of the SEC 
and the Stock Exchange of Thailand, and the duties of the Audit Committee will be stipulated in writing. The Board of Directors will 
ensure that the Company provides mechanisms or tools to enable the Audit Committee to access information necessary for the 
performance of its assigned duties, such as enabling the Audit Committee to call on relevant parties to provide information, to discuss 
with the auditor, or to seek independent opinions from any other professional advisors for the consideration of the Audit Committee. 
The Board of Directors will appoint an independent person or internal audit unit to be responsible for developing and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the risk management system and internal control, as well as reporting to the Audit Committee and disclosing the review 
report in the annual report. In this regard, the Audit Committee must give an opinion on the adequacy of the risk management and 
internal control systems and disclose it in the annual report.

3. The Board of Directors will monitor and manage conflicts of interest that may arise between the Company and the management, the 
Board of Directors, or shareholders. This includes preventing the undue use of the Company’s assets, information, opportunities, and 
transactions with those who have unreasonable relationships with the Company. The Board of Directors will supervise directors who 
have interests that may impair their independence and refrain from participating in the meeting when considering that agenda item.

Principle 5: Encourage Innovation and Responsible Business Operations

Principle 6: Ensure Appropriate Risk Management and Internal Control Systems are Available.

The Board of Directors, on the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, will supervise the establishment of 
an appropriate remuneration structure and evaluation, including the establishment of criteria and factors for performance evaluation for 
the entire organization.
In addition to remuneration in the form of salary, provident fund contributions, social security contributions, and health insurance, the 
Company currently provides remuneration for executives and key employees (Senior Vice President or SVP or above) in the form of 
incentives, based on the performance of that year and other considerations, such as the sustainability of income, the ability to maintain 
an existing customer base, the renewal of existing customers’ contracts, the acquisition of new customers, etc. This incentive remuneration 
must be agreed upon by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board of Directors, and it must be at a 
level that can motivate executives and key employees to lead the organization to achieve both short- and long-term goals.
The Board of Directors will have an understanding of the structure and relationships of shareholders that may affect the management 
and operations of the Company and ensure that appropriate information is disclosed. 
The Board of Directors will monitor and supervise the management and development of personnel to have appropriate knowledge, 
skills, experience, and motivation and to be treated fairly

2.

3.

4.
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1. The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that the financial reporting system and disclosure of important information are 
accurate, adequate, timely, and in accordance with relevant rules, standards, and guidelines. It will oversee top executives of accounting 
and finance, bookkeepers, internal auditors, company secretary, and investor relations to have knowledge, skills, and experience 
appropriate to their duties and responsibilities and adequate in number.

2. The Board of Directors will monitor the adequacy of financial liquidity and solvency by having the management regularly monitor, 
evaluate and report the financial position to the Board of Directors.

3. In the event that the Company encounters financial problems or is likely to encounter problems, the Board of Directors will ensure that 
the Company has a plan to resolve the problems or has other mechanisms to solve financial problems, as well as regularly monitor the 
resolution under consideration of the rights of stakeholders.

4. The Board of Directors will prepare a sustainability report as appropriate.
5. The Board of Directors will supervise the management to establish a unit or persons in charge of investor relations responsible for 

communicating with shareholders and other stakeholders, such as investors and analysts, in an appropriate, equitable and timely 
manner. The Board of Directors will ensure that the management sets directions and supports the investor relations work.

6. The Board of Directors will promote the use of information technology in the dissemination of information.

Principle 7: Maintain Financial Credibility and Disclosure of Information

1. The Board of Directors will ensure that shareholders are involved in making decisions on important matters of the Company by ensuring 
that both the issues stipulated in the law and those that may affect the direction of the Company’s operations have passed the consideration 
and/or approval of shareholders. The Board of Directors will support the participation of shareholders, such as setting criteria for minority 
shareholders to propose additional agendas before the shareholders’ meeting date, as well as allowing minority shareholders to 
nominate persons to serve as directors, ensuring that the notice of the shareholders’ meeting contains accurate, complete and sufficient 
information for the exercise of the rights of shareholders, sending the notice of the shareholders’ meeting together with relevant 
documents according to the period prescribed by relevant laws or regulations  and publicizing them on the  Company’s website at least 
28 days before the meeting date or as required by relevant laws or regulations and providing shareholders with an opportunity to submit 
questions in advance of the meeting date.

2. The Board of Directors will ensure that the proceedings on the day of the shareholders’ meeting are carried out orderly, transparently 
and efficiently and allow the shareholders to exercise their rights. The Board of Directors will determine the date, time and place of the 
meeting by taking into account the convenience of attending the shareholders’ meeting, such as an appropriate and sufficient period of 
time for discussion, meeting venues that are convenient for transportation, etc. The Board of Directors will ensure that there is no action 
that restricts the opportunity to attend the meeting or creates an undue burden on shareholders. For example, shareholders or proxies 
are not required to bring documents or proof of identity beyond those specified in the guidelines of the relevant regulatory agencies.  
The Board of Directors will promote the use of technology for shareholders’ meetings. It will encourage all directors and relevant executives 
to attend the meeting so that shareholders can ask questions on relevant issues and will encourage the use of ballots on important 
agendas. The Board of Directors also encourages independent persons to count or monitor votes at the meeting and clearly disclose the 
results of votes on each agenda, as well as recording the meeting for the purpose of preparing the minutes of the meeting. 

Principle 8: Encourage Participation and Communication with Shareholders

6.1.2 Policies and guidelines relating to shareholders and stakeholders
have the guidelines set out in the Good Corporate Governance Policy,
Practice 8, as follows:

The Board of Directors will oversee the establishment of clear anti-corruption policies and guidelines and communicate them at all 
levels of the organization and to outsiders for practical implementation, including supporting activities that encourage and instill in all 
employees to comply with relevant laws and regulations. 
The Board of Directors will supervise the Company to have a mechanism for receiving complaints and taking action in the case of 
whistleblowing, including establishing channels for whistleblowing through the Company’s website, email, or postal mail, and through 
the Chairman of the Audit Committee. It also provides a process for reviewing information, taking action, and reporting to the Board of 
Directors. The Board of Directors will ensure that appropriate protection measures are provided to whistleblowers who report 
whistleblowing in good 

4.

5.
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Persons obliged to comply with the practices in this code of conduct and ethics include directors, executives, staff, employees, consultants, 
counterparties, as well as persons acting on behalf of or assigned to act on behalf of the Company or on behalf of the aforementioned 
persons of the Company, subsidiaries and associated companies.

 The Company establishes a policy regarding stakeholders in the Good Corporate Governance Policy, Principle 2, as a policy 
for the PRTR Group to conduct business sustainably and meet the expectations of all groups of stakeholders fairly and responsibly.

In 2023, the Company provided information and communicated with investors and shareholders as follows:

Role of Stakeholders

The Company has a department or persons in charge of investor relations to communicate and disseminate its information, both financial 
information and general information, to shareholders, investors, securities analysts and investment credit rating institutions through the 
Company’s website under the topic “Contact Investor Relations” so that interested parties can easily study the information. If shareholders, 
investors, and related parties have questions, please contact us via telephone at 063-237-3997 or e-mail at ir@prtr.com.

6.2 Code of Conduct

6.2.1 Responsible Persons

1. Perform duties with honesty, integrity, morality and responsibility.
2. Comply with the laws and requirements of the authorities and regulatory agencies.
3. Maintain confidentiality and non-disclosure of confidential information.
4. Have knowledge, competence, skills, and experience to perform duties and develop themselves in various areas at all times       

to fulfill the services. 

6.2.2 Basic Principles

The Company will adhere to the following code of conduct and ethics:

6.2.3 Guidelines

Type of Activity Number (Time)

IPO Day 1

8

1

3

Analyst Meeting

Company Visit

Opp Day

The Board of Directors will ensure that the disclosure of the resolutions of the meeting and the preparation of the minutes of the 
shareholders’ meeting are accurate and complete and the Company will disclose the resolutions of the shareholders’ meeting together 
with the voting results by the next business day through the news system of the Stock Exchange of Thailand and on the Company’s 
website. Moreover, the Board of Directors will ensure that a copy of the minutes of the shareholders’ meeting is sent to the Stock 
Exchange of Thailand within 14 days from the date of the shareholders’ meeting.

3.
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19. Treat partners and creditors equitably and fairly based on fair returns to both parties.
20. Strictly comply with contracts or conditions. In the event that the contract cannot be fulfilled, the partner and creditors must be 
     informed as soon as possible to mutually consider solutions.
21. Report accurate financial information to creditors.

22. Provide fair compensation to employees and maintain an environment that is safe for their lives and property.

23. Appoint, transfer, reward and punish employees honestly based on their knowledge, competence and conduct.

24. Strictly comply with the requirements related to employees.

25. The management is responsible for the preparation of accurate, complete, and timely financial reports in accordance with accepted 
     accounting standards. 

Treatment of Partners and Creditors

Treatment of Employees

Financial Reporting

11. Keep, maintain and protect confidential information about the Company, customers, business partners and candidates in order to 
     build confidence for customers, stakeholders and related parties.
12. Do not disclose confidential information about the Company, customers, business partners or candidates to third parties, especially 
     the Company’s competitors. 

Confidentiality

13. Conduct business responsibly like a professional and strive to achieve the Company’s strategy, objectives and goals.
14. Respond rapidly to customer needs, society, technical and economic changes and adapt to customer needs now and in the future. 
15. Perform duties using knowledge, abilities, skills, and experience in management to the best of their ability for the benefit of the 
     Company and its shareholders.
16. Commit to customer satisfaction by offering quality services and providing excellent service to the Company’s customers.
17. Strive for continuous excellent performance, taking into account current and future risks.
18. Recruit, employ, and continuously develop people to a higher level of competence and provide incentives comparable to leading 
     companies.

Functional Competencies

8.  Operate business in accordance with the laws and requirements of the authorities and regulatory agencies, such as the Securities 
     and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 (1992), the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535 (1992), the requirements of the Stock Exchange of 
     Thailand, the Securities and Exchange Commission, etc. 
9.  Do not cooperate, assist, promote or support any activities and transactions that are illegal.
10. Maintain political neutrality, refrain from acting in political groups and political parties, aiming to create prosperity that benefits 
     society and conserves the environment. 

Compliance with Laws and Requirements

1. Adhere to honesty in all aspects.
2. Perform duties with honesty and integrity and make decisions with purity, transparency and benefit to the Company and its 

shareholders.
3. Do not seek benefits for themselves or related parties using information that has not yet been disclosed to the public.
4. Believe in giving good faith to all parties and try to avoid bias or situations that cause conflicts of interest.
5. Adhere to principled and disciplined business operations and ensure that business decisions and operations are made in accordance 

with laws and regulations by complying with good code of conduct standards and good practices.
6. Do not take any action in a manner that may cause a conflict of interest with the Company without notifying the Company.
7. Compete within the framework of good competition. 

Honesty
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6.3 Key Changes and Developments in Corporate Governance Policy,
Guidelines and Systems in the Past Year

6.3.1 Significant changes and developments regarding the review of corporate
governance policy, guidelines, and systems, or the Charter of the Board of Directors

6.2.4 Whistleblowing and Complaint
Channels

Stakeholders who witness a violation or non-compliance with 
the code of conduct can ask questions or comment through 
the following channels: 

Channel 1:   https://www.prtr.com
Contact:  Chairman of the Audit Committee

Channel 2:  E-mail
Contact:  Chairman of the Audit Committee
E-mail address:  whistle-blowing@prtr.com
  
Channel 3:  Postal Mail 
PRTR Group Public Company Limited 
2034/82 Italthai Tower, 18th Floor, New Petchburi Road, Bang Kapi 
Sub-district, Huai Khwang District Bangkok 10320

 The Chairman of the Audit Committee will assign a 
responsible person to coordinate the inspection, follow up and 
report the results of the inspection to the Audit Committee.

 The Board of Directors at the meeting No. 6/2023 on November 10, 2023, reviewed, amended and added a total of 26 copies 
of policies, manuals, approval powers and charters related to the Company’s governance for the year 2023 to be more appropriate 
and clearer. In this review, there are three amended policies, namely the Anti-Corruption Policy, Conflict of Interest Policy and Approval 
and Action Authority and one new policy was approved, which is the Anti-Money Laundering, Combating the Financing of Terrorism and 
the Proliferation of Weapons of Mass Destruction Policy. 

 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee approved the criteria for evaluating the performance of the CEO for the year 
2023 and the CEO and senior management development plan and reviewed the succession plan of the CEO and senior management. 

26. Be responsible for and adhere to environmental stewardship and local customs and traditions in which the organization is located 
     and regularly conduct activities to contribute to society, the community and the environment.

Social and Public Responsibility
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6.3.3 Compliance with the principles of good corporate governance in other matters

 In 2023, the Board of Directors approved the operating plan to become a member of the Thai Private Sector Collective Action 
against Corruption (CAC) and appointed a Team Champion working group, including determining the powers, duties and responsibilities 
of the working group to comply with good corporate governance guidelines and preparing to enter into the submission of a certification 
of membership of the Thai Private Sector Collective Action against Corruption by 2024.

 The Board of Directors at the meeting No. 4/2019 on November 21, 2019, considered applying the principles of good corporate 
governance for listed companies in 2017 of the Securities and Exchange Commission to the Company’s good corporate governance policy 
and recorded it as part of the Board of Directors’ resolution.

6.3.2 Implementation of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Good
Corporate Governance Principles for Listed Companies in 2017
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7. Corporate Governance Structure and
Important Information on the Board of Directors,
Sub-Committees, Executives, Employees and Others 

7.1  Corporate Governance Structure

 As of December 31, 2023, the Company had a corporate governance structure consisting of the Board of Directors, which 
operates within the scope of the law, objectives, Articles of Association of the Company and resolutions of the shareholders’ meetings. The 
Board of Directors has established three sub-committees, namely the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and 
the Executive Committee. The Chief Executive Officer is the chief executive of the Company, managing the following departments:   

Mr. Phukphong 
Ratanaprapai

Senior Vice President of 
Outsourcing Operations 

Services

Mr. Luck Dendee
Senior Vice President of 
Recruitment Services

Ms. Risara Charoenpanich
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. David Pollock
Senior Vice President of 
Executive Recruitment 

Services

Ms. Onrudee Kettawee
Senior Vice President of 

Outsourcing Sales & 
Recruitment Services

Ms. Narita
Adulkaewphaluek
Head of Investor

Relations & Senior Vice 
President of Shared 

Services

• Admin & Purchase

• IT

• HR

• Marketing

Board of Directors

Executive Committee

Head of Permanent
Recruitment Services

Head of Executive
Recruitment Services

Head of Outsourcing
Operation Services

 Head of Investor
Relations & Head of

Shared Services

Audit CommitteeNomination &
Remuneration Committee

Mr. Teeraphat
Petporee

Chief Financial Officer

Chief Financial
Officer

Personal Assistant
to CEO

Head of Outsourcing
Sales & Recruitment

Services
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7.2  Information on the Board of Directors

7.2.1 Composition of the Board of Directors

According to the Company’s articles of association, the composition of the Board of Directors is defined as follows:

Term of Office

 One-third of the directors shall vacate office at every annual general meeting of shareholders. The directors who have 
been in office for the longest time shall retire. If the retiring directors cannot be divided exactly in thirds, the nearest number to 
one-third will be used. The vacated directors may be re-elected. 

 In accordance with the principles of good corporate governance, the term of office of independent directors should not 
exceed nine consecutive years, or, if necessary, in the opinion of the Board of Directors. 

 At present, the Board of Directors has a total of ten directors, divided into five non-executive directors, five executive 
directors, and four independent directors, and the Board of Directors has three female directors.  

 The Audit Committee comprises all independent directors. One director, Mr. Chan Itthithavorn, has knowledge and experi-
ence in accounting and finance and can review the reliability of financial statements. The composition of the Board of Directors and 
the Board Skill Matrix can be summarized as follows:

1. There are at least five directors who can be removed by the 
shareholders’ meeting.

2. Not less than half of the total number of directors are 
residents of the Kingdom.

3. The Board of Directors has a proportion of executive and 
non-executive directors that reflects its appropriately balance 
of powers.

4. The Board of Directors consists of independent directors, 
executive directors, and non-executive directors. All ten directors 
are qualified under Section 68 of the Public Limited Companies 
Act B.E. 2535 (1992) and the Capital Market Supervisory 

     Board’s Notification No. Tor Jor. 39/2559 on Application for 
     Permission and Authorization for the Offering of Newly Issued 
     Shares, dated September 30, 2016 and as amended in all 
      respects.

5.   The Board of Directors consists of directors with various 

     qualifications in terms of skills, experience, abilities and 

     specialized characteristics necessary to achieve the organization’s 

     objectives and main goals.

6.   At least one director has knowledge and expertise in accounting

     and finance. 
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 The table of the Board of Directors’ Board Skill Matrix is as follows: 

Name of Director
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1. Mr. Sukont Kanjana-huttakit √

2. Mr. Chan Itthithavorn √

3. Mr. Niphon Bundechanan √

4. Mr. Thunyachate Ekvetchavit √

6. Ms. Risara Charoenpanich √

5. Mr. Panya Chutisiriwong

7. Mr. Luck Dendee √

8. Ms. Onrudee Kettawee √

9. Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek

10. Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai √

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

Name - Surname Position Type of Directorship

1. Mr. Sukont Kanjana-huttakit Independent Director / Chairman of the Board of Directors 

2. Mr. Chan Itthithavorn Independent Director / Chairman of the Audit Committee  / 
Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Independent Director / Chairman of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee / Member of the Audit Committee

Independent Director / Member of the Audit Committee / 
Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Director and Chief Executive Officer /                                   
Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

3. Mr. Niphon Bundechanan

4. Mr. Thunyachate Ekvetchavit

6. Ms. Risara Charoenpanich

5. Mr. Panya Chutisiriwong 1

7. Mr. Luck Dendee

8. Ms. Onrudee Kettawee

9. Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek

10. Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai

Independent Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director / Member of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee 

Non-Executive Director

Executive Director

Executive Director

Executive Director

Executive Director

Executive Director

Independent Director

Independent Director

Independent Director

 Note: 1 Mr. Panya Chutisiriwong was appointed as a director according to the resolution of the 2023 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on April 20, 2023. 

7.2.2 Information about the Board of Directors and Individuals
with Control Authority

 As of December 31, 2023, the Board of Directors and its sub-committees consisted of ten members as listed below.

088
Corporate Governance Structure and Important Information

on the Board of Directors, Sub-Committees, Executives,
Employees and Others

Annual Report 2023  (Form 56-1 One Report)
PRTR Group Public Company Limited



 The directors who have the authority to sign to bind the Company are Ms. Risara Charoenphanich, Mr. Luck Dendee, Ms. 
Onrudee Kettawee, and Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai. Two of the four directors shall jointly sign and affix the Company’s seal on all 
matters. Except for any documents or contracts related to the following matters, one of the following directors: Ms. Risara Charoen-
phanich, Mr. Luck Dendee, Ms. Onrudee Kettawee, or Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai, shall sign and affix the Company’s seal. 

1. Transactions or jurisprudence related to the Revenue 
Department;

2. Transactions or jurisprudence relating to the Ministry of 
Labor, Department of Employment, Department of Skill 
Development, application and renewal of visas and work 
permits of foreigners, criminal record check, or credit bureau 
check with relevant agencies;

3. Transactions or jurisprudence relating to the Social Security 
Office, Legal Execution Department, Provident Fund, 

     Student Loan Fund, contracts or transactions with insurance 
     companies and insurance brokers; 

4.  Transactions or jurisprudence relating to the Ministry of 

     Commerce, Department of Business Development;

5.   Certification of copies of company documents;

6.   Signing of service contracts in all types of normal business of 

      the Company, confidentiality agreements, personal data

      protection agreements, and service agreements.

7.2.3 Roles and Duties of the Board of Directors

The Company clearly defines the duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors in the Board of Directors Handbook, summarized as 
follows:

1. The Board of Directors has powers, duties, and responsibilities 
to supervise the Company to manage and operate the 
Company’s business in accordance with the laws, objectives, 
and Articles of Association of the Company, as well as the 
resolutions of the shareholders’ meeting with honesty and 
care to protect the Company’s interests and all shareholders. 

2. Define the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ objectives and 
main goals, vision, missions, policies, targets, strategies, 
business plans, management structure, approval authority, 
and budgets, as well as supervise the allocation of key 
resources, review, audit, and approve policies, strategies, 
business plans, and operational directions as proposed by 
management. 

3. Supervise the business and monitor the performance,     
administration, and management of the management and 
sub-committees of the Company to effectively and efficiently 
achieve its objectives, main goals, vision, missions, strategies, 
operational plans and budgets prescribed, and to maximize 
the value for the Company and its shareholders. 

4. Supervise the management and operations of the Company 
and its subsidiaries in accordance with the Company’s 
policies, principles of good corporate governance, securities 
laws and relevant announcements, regulations, and rules of 
the Capital Market Supervisory Board, SEC, and the Stock 
Exchange of Thailand, such as related party transactions and 
the acquisition or disposal of important assets, to the extent 
that it does not contradict other laws.

5.  Consider establishing a risk management policy to cover the 
    entire organization and overseeing that there is a system or 
     process for risk management with appropriate supporting 
    measures and control methods to reduce the impact on 
    the business of the Company and its subsidiaries.
6.  Ensure that the Company and its subsidiaries adopt the 
    appropriate and efficient accounting systems and provide 
    reliable financial reporting and auditing, as well as an internal 
    control system, an adequate and effective internal audit system, 
    and a process for regularly evaluating the appropriateness of 
     the internal control system for the Company and its subsidiaries.
7.  Determine the management structure and appoint sub-
    committees, the Chief Executive Officer, and other sub-committees 
    as appropriate, including determining the scope of authority of 
    such persons. 
     However, the delegation of authority within the scope 
of the specified authority must not be in the nature of delegating 
powers to sub-committees, the Chief Executive Officer, and 
various sub-committees to consider and approve transactions 
that may have conflicts, interests, or any other conflict of interest 
with the Company or its subsidiaries (if any), except for the 
approval of transactions that are in accordance with policies and 
criteria that the Board of Directors has considered and approved. 

Scope of Powers, Duties and Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
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8.  Establish a written policy on corporate governance based on 
     governance principles and effective application of such policy 
     to ethically conduct business, respect the rights and responsibilities 
     of shareholders and stakeholders and conduct business that  
    is beneficial to society and the environment, including 
     adaptability under changing factors
9.  Determine a succession plan to prepare for the succession of 
    the Chief Executive Officer and senior executives. The Chief 
    Executive Officer shall periodically report the performance of 
    the succession plan to the Board of Directors at least once a 
    year, including supervising the persons responsible for staff 
    management and development to have the appropriate 
    number of personnel, knowledge, skills, experience, and 
    motivation.
10.  Supervise the implementation of suitable frameworks, policies 
      and remuneration structures for directors and senior executives 
      as proposed by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
      to provide both short- and long-term incentives.
11.  Emphasize and support the creation of innovations that create 
      added value for the business in the long run, along with 
      creating benefits for customers or related parties and being 
      socially and environmentally responsible. 
12. Oversee and manage potential conflicts of interest between 
      the Company’s stakeholders and its subsidiaries, including 
       preventing the undue exploitation of assets, information, and 
      opportunities of the Company and transactions with those

      who have an inappropriate relationship with the Company. 
      However, in the event that any director has an interest in 
      any transaction with the Company and its subsidiaries or has 
      an increased or decreased shareholding in the Company 
      and/or its subsidiaries, such director shall notify the Company 
      without delay.
13.  Ensure regular communication between the Company, 
      shareholders and other stakeholders on a regular basis by 
      supervising the management to disclose important information 
       in an accurate and timely manner.
14.  The Board of Directors may authorize one or several directors 
      or any other persons to act on behalf of the Board of Directors
      under its control or may authorize such persons to have such
      authority and within such period as the Board of Directors
       deems appropriate. The Board of Directors may cancel, revoke, 
      change, or amend such authorization when it deems appropriate.

 However, the delegation of authority must not be of 
the nature of a delegation of authority that enables such person 
to consider and approve transactions in which such person may 
have a conflict, interests, or a conflict of interest in any other 
nature to be made with the Company or its subsidiaries (if any) as 
defined in the Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory 
Board and/or the Stock Exchange of Thailand and/or any other 
announcements of relevant agencies, except for the approval of 
transactions according to the policies and criteria considered and 
approved by the Board of Directors.

Scope of Duties and Responsibilities of the Chairman of the Board of Directors

1. Call a meeting of the Board of Directors and, in calling the 
meeting, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the 
Company Secretary or his or her designee shall send a 
notice of the meeting to the directors according to the 
Company’s Articles of Association.

2. Chair the Board of Directors’ and shareholders’ meetings, as 
well as play a role in setting the agenda together with the 
Chief Executive Officer.

3. Supervise the meeting effectively in accordance with the 
Company’s articles of association, support and provide 
opportunities for the directors to express their opinions

     independently and allocate sufficient time for each agenda 
     for the directors to freely discuss and express their opinions 
     on important issues, taking into account the interests of 
     shareholders and stakeholders fairly.
4.  Support and encourage the Board of Directors to perform their 
     duties to the fullest extent of their abilities in accordance with 
    the scope of their authority and responsibilities and the 
    principles of good corporate governance.
5.  Supervise and monitor the management of the Board of Directors
     and other sub-committees to achieve the objectives set forth.  

7.3  Information on Sub-committees
 The Board of Directors appoints three sub-committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Executive Committee and    
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.
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7.3.1 Audit Committee

 As of December 31, 2023, the Audit Committee consisted of three independent committee members and held meetings a 
total of five times, as follows:

Mr. Chan Itthithavorn is an Audit Committee member with sufficient knowledge and experience in accounting and financial knowledge and 
experience for reviewing the reliability of the financial statements (please refer to the information about Mr. Chan Itthithavorn’s experience 
in Attachment 1), and Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek is the Secretary of the Audit Committee, appointed by the Board of Directors’ Meeting 
No. 1/2565 on July 1, 2022 (the first time after transformation).

The term of office of the Audit Committee is three years, and the Audit Committee members who retire by term of office may be nominat-
ed and re-appointed to the position. However, the term of office of the Audit Committee members must not exceed nine years. In the 
event that the Audit Committee member is to be appointed to the position, the Board of Directors shall reasonably consider the necessity. 

Name - Surname Position Number of Attendance /
Number of Meeting

3. Mr. Thunyachate Ekvetchavit

Chairman of the Audit Committee 

Audit Committee Member

Audit Committee Member

5/5

5/5

4/5

1. Mr. Chan Itthithavorn

2. Mr. Niphon Bundechanan

1. Review to ensure that the Company and its subsidiaries have 
accurate and adequate financial reporting and meet accounting 
standards.

2. Review the Company and its subsidiaries to have an appropriate 
and effective internal control system and internal audit 
system and consider the independence of the Internal Audit 
Department as well as approve the appointment, transfer or 
dismissal of the head of the Internal Audit Department or 
other external agencies responsible for internal audit.

3. Ensure that the risk management policy is managed and 
followed as required.

4. Ensure that the Company complies with the law on securities 
and exchange, the SET requirements, and the laws related to 
the business of the Company and its subsidiaries.

5. Consider, select and propose the appointment of an independent 
person to act as the Company’s auditor and propose the 
remuneration of such person, as well as attend a meeting with 
the auditor without the presence of the management at least 
once a year.

6. Consider and give opinions on related party transactions or 
transactions that may have conflicts of interest in accordance 
with the laws and regulations of the Stock Exchange of 
Thailand to ensure that such transactions are reasonable and 
in the best interests of the Company.

7.  Prepare the Audit Committee’s report and disclose it in
     the Company’s annual report. The report must be signed by 
     the Chairman of the Audit Committee and contain at least 
     the following information: 

a. Opinions on the accuracy, completeness, and reliability 
of the Company’s financial reports.

b. Opinions on the adequacy of the Company’s internal 
control system

c. Opinions on compliance with securities and exchange 
laws, SET regulations or laws related to the Company’s 
business.

d. Opinions on the suitability of the auditor
e. Opinions on transactions that may have a conflict of 

interest
f. Number of Audit Committee meetings and attendance of 

each Audit Committee member
g. Overall opinions or observations received by the Audit 

Committee from their performance of their duties in 
accordance with the Charter.

h. Other transactions that shareholders and general 
investors should know within the scope of duties and 
responsibilities assigned by the Board of Directors.

Scope of Duties and Responsibilities of the Audit Committee
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8.  The Audit Committee has the authority to seek independent 
     opinions from any other professional advisors when deemed 
     necessary at the Company’s expense.  
9.  Ensure that the Company has channels for whistleblowing 
     and complaints about improper reports in the financial 
     statements or other issues by reassuring whistleblowers that 
     there is an independent review process and appropriate 
     follow-up actions.

10. Investigate the facts as notified by the auditor of suspicious 
     circumstances that the Chief Executive Officer or the person 
     responsible for the Company’s operation has committed an 
     offence under the Securities and Exchange Act and the 
     regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand and the Audit 
     Committee shall report the preliminary investigation results 
     to the Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission and 
     the auditor within thirty days from the date of notification 
     from the auditor.

7.3.2 Nomination and Remuneration Committee

 As of December 31, 2023, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee consisted of five members and had one meeting 

in total, as follows:

 As of December 31, 2023, the Executive Committee consists of five executive directors. The Executive Committee had a total 
of 12 meetings, as follows:

Name - Surname Position Number of Attendance
/ Number of Meeting

3. Mr. Thunyachate Ekvetchavit 

Chairman

Committee Member

Committee Member

1/1

1/1

1/1

4. Ms. Risara Charoenpanich Committee Member 1/1

5. Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai Committee Member 1/1

1. Mr. Niphon Bundechanan 

2. Mr. Chan Itthithavorn 

7.3.3 Executive Committee

1. Recommend the structure, size, and composition of the Board 
of Directors and sub-committees, and determine the qualifica-
tions, criteria, and policies for the nomination of nominees for 
selection as directors and sub-committee members according 
to the structure, size and composition of the Board and its 
sub-committees as defined.

2. Consider and nominate candidates to be appointed as 
directors, sub-committee members and Chief Executive 
Officer to present to the Board of Directors’ meeting and/or 
the shareholders’ meeting in case of a vacancy.

3. Consider policies and guidelines for determining monetary 
and non-monetary remuneration for the Board of Directors,

     sub-committees and Chief Executive Officer in accordance 
     with the performance of the Company and other companies 
     in the same industry for presentation to the Board of Directors 
     and/or the shareholders’ meeting for their approval. 
4.  Consider the criteria for evaluation of the Chief Executive Officer
     and present them to the Board of Directors for consideration 
     and comments. 
5.  Review the development plan of the Chief Executive Officer 
     and senior executives to prepare a succession plan in the event
     that the Chief Executive Officer or senior executives in that 
     position are retired or unable to perform their duties so that 
     the Company’s management can continue. 

Roles and Duties of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
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 Details of the attendance of the Executive Committee members for 2023 are as follows:

Name - Surname Position Number of Attendance
/ Number of Meeting

3. Ms. Onrudee Kettawee

Chairman

Committee Member

Committee Member

12/12

12/12

12/12

4. Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai Committee Member 12/12

5. Ms. Nartia Adulkaewphaluek Committee Member 12/12

1. Ms. Risara Charoenpanich

2. Mr. Luck Dendee

1. Conduct and administer the Company’s business in accordance 
with the objectives, regulations, policies, regulations, requirements 
and resolutions of the Board of Directors’ meetings and/or 
resolutions of the shareholders’ meetings;

2. Control, supervise and monitor the Company’s performance 
in accordance with the established policies, goals, business 
plans, business strategies and budgets and various executive 
powers as approved by the Board of Directors to be effective, 
efficient, and conducive to business conditions, and provide 
advice and recommendations on management to senior 
executives.

3. Scrutinize the management’s proposals and present the goals, 
policies, strategies and business plans, including the annual 
budget of the Company before presenting them to the Board 
of Directors for approval.

4. Approve the expenditure of significant investments as specified 
in the annual budget or as approved in principle by the Board 
of Directors. 

5. Has the power to consider and approve expenses for the 
normal operation of the Company’s business according to the 
budget approved by the Board of Directors. Each item’s limit 
must comply with the Approval Authority Table approved by 
the Board of Directors.

6. Monitor the performance and progress of each business’ 
investment projects and report the results, problems or obstacles 
and ways to improve them to the Board of Directors.

7. Present the organization structure appropriate to the Company’s 
operations to the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
for approval before proposing it to the Board of Directors for 
approval.

8. Consider the Company’s profits and losses and the proposed 
interim dividend payment or annual dividends payments to 
present to the Board of Directors for its approval.

9.  Have the power to propose the budget of salary increments or 
    adjustments to the annual employee salary and the payment 
    of annual rewards (bonuses) to employees of the Company 
    and its subsidiaries.   
10. Arrange for executives, management or employees to attend 
     the meeting of the Executive Committee or prepare and 
     provide information related to the matters to be discussed at 
     the Executive Committee’s meeting.  
11. Provide consultants or individuals with independent opinions 
     to provide opinions or advice as needed.  
12. Have the power to authorize one or more other persons to 
     perform any act under the control of the Executive Committee 
     or may authorize such persons to have such authority and 
     within such period as the Executive Committee deems
     appropriate. The Executive Committee may cancel, revoke, 
     change or amend such authorized person or authorization as 
     it deems appropriate. 
13. Manage the Company’s risks to an appropriate level. 

a. Determine and/or review the risk management policy and 
present it to the Audit Committee for approval before 
presenting it to the Board of Directors for approval.

b. Establish strategies, guidelines and methods for the risk 
management of the Company in accordance with the risk 
management policy and be able to assess and monitor risk 
management to be at an acceptable level and have 
guidelines.

c. Provide advice and support to the Company’s management 
on corporate risk management, as well as encourage and 
support the continuous and regular improvement of the 
internal risk management system.

d. Communicate, exchange information and coordinate risks 
and internal controls with the Audit Committee and/or the 
Internal Audit Departments of the Company. 

Scope of Powers, Duties, and Responsibilities of the Executive Committee
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     e.  Support the Company in having appropriate risk management
          principles, processes, and internal controls.  
14. Perform other duties as assigned by the Board of Directors 
     from time to time.
 However, the delegation of powers, duties and 
responsibilities of the Executive Committee shall not be in the 
nature of a delegation of authority or sub-authorization that 
enables the delegate of the Executive Committee to approve 
transactions that such person may have conflicts (as defined by 
the Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board and   
/or the Stock Exchange of Thailand and/or related agencies),

     interests, or may have any other conflict of interest with the 
     Company or its subsidiaries and/or related companies, for 
     which the Executive Committee does not have the authority 
    to approve such matters. Such matters must be submitted 
    to the Board of Directors’ meeting and/or the shareholders’ 
    meeting (as the case may be) for approval, except for the 
    approval of transactions in accordance with normal business 
    and normal trading conditions, which are in accordance with 
    the notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board and
    /or the Stock Exchange of Thailand and/or relevant agencies 
    required.

DirectorNo. Position
Number of Shares

December
31, 2022

December
31, 2023

Increase/
Decrease in 2023

Mr. Sukont Kanjanahuttakit Chairman of the Board of Directors / Independent Director 1 - 1,000,000 1,000,000

Spouse and minor children - - -

Mr. Chan Itthithavorn2 - - -

Spouse and minor children - - -

Mr. Niphon Bundechanan3 - 600,000 600,000

Spouse and minor children - - -

Mr. Thunyachate Ekvetchavit4 - 1,000,000 1,000,000

Spouse and minor children - - -

Mr. Panya Chutisiriwong5 N/A 1 - -

Spouse and minor children N/A - -

Ms. Risara Charoenpanich6 96,345,000 99,211,600 2,866,600

Spouse and minor children

Mr. Somsak Athisaitrakul

Spouse and minor children

Mr. Sitthisak Thananittayaudom

- 22,854,300 22,854,300

Mr. Luck Dendee7 46,890,000 48,078,000 1,188,000

Spouse and minor children - - -

Ms. Onrudee Kettawee8 85,410,000 90,267,000 4,857,000

- 2,368,900 2,368,900

Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek9

10

2,250,000 2,586,200 336,200

Spouse and minor children - - -

Spouse and minor children - - -

Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai 2,250,000 2,288,000 38,000

 Securities holdings of the Company’s Board of Directors as of December 31, 2023 are as follows:

Independent Director/Chairman of the Audit Committee / 
Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Independent Director / Chairman of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee / Member of the Audit Committee 

Independent Director/Member of the Audit Committee / 
Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Director/Chief Executive Officer / Member of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director/Member of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee 

 Note: 1 N/A means there is no information because the director was appointed to the position in 2023.
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7.4  Information about the Executives

7.4.1 List of Executives and their Positions

 As of December 31, 2023, the Company had a total of seven executives, according to the definition of the Securities and 

Exchange Commission, as follows:

Name - Surname Position

1. Ms. Risara Charoenpanich Chief Executive Officer

2. Mr. Teeraphat Petporee Chief Financial Officer

3. Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek
Senior Vice-President, Central Management Division
and Director of Investor Relations Department

4. Ms. Onrudee Kettawee Senior Vice-President of Outsourcing Sales and Recruitment Division, Outsourcing Services

5. Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai Senior Vice-President of Executive Operations Division, Outsourcing Operations Services

6. Mr. Luck Dendee Senior Vice-President of Recruitment Services

7. Mr. David Pollock Senior Vice-President of Executive Recruitment

 According to the Company’s good corporate governance principles, the roles and duties of the Board of Directors are 
divided as follows:

 The Board of Directors shall understand the scope of its duties and delegate the company management power to               
the management by making a written memo, namely the authority to approve transactions. However, such delegation does not relieve 
the Board of Directors of its responsibilities in any way. The Board of Directors shall monitor and supervise the management to perform 
its duties as assigned. The scope of duties of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, and the management may be divided 
as follows:

 refer to matters for which the Board of Directors is primarily responsible for proper action. In this regard, the management 
may be assigned to propose matters for consideration, including

1. Determining strategies, objectives and main goals for business operations;
2. Creating a corporate culture that adheres to ethics and codes of conduct, including role-model behavior;
3. Overseeing the structure and practices of the Board of Directors to be appropriate for achieving the strategies, objectives, and 

main goals for efficient business operation.
4. Recruiting, developing, determining remuneration, and evaluating the performance of the Chief Executive Officer;
5. Establishing a remuneration structure that incentivizes personnel to perform their work in line with the organization’s strategies, 

objectives, and main goals.

1. Division of Duties of the Board of Directors and Management

Matters for which the Board of Directors should supervise the implementation
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 refer to matters that will be jointly considered by the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, and the management, 
and the management will propose to the Board of Directors for approval. The Board of Directors will oversee that the overall policy is 
consistent with the objectives and main goals of the business, including assigning the management to take action. The Board of 
Directors will monitor, and management will report to the Board of Directors periodically as appropriate. Such matters are as follows: 
 

1. Formulation and review of strategies, goals, and annual plans;
2. Supervision of the adequacy and appropriateness of the risk management system and internal controls;
3. Determination of the execution authority appropriate to the responsibilities of the management;
4. Establishment of a framework for resource allocation, development and budget, such as human resource management policies 

and plans, information technology policies, etc.
5. Performance monitoring and evaluation;
6. Supervision of the disclosure of reliable financial and non-financial information. 

Matters that the Board of Directors carries out with the management

 refer to the matters that the Board of Directors will supervise at the policy level by assigning the Chief Executive Officer and 
the management to be primarily responsible for the implementation, which includes the following matters:

1. Management in accordance with the strategies, policies, and plans approved by the Board of Directors. In other words, the Board 
of Directors gives the management independence to take responsibility for operational decisions, procurement, recruitment, etc., 
in accordance with the established policy framework and monitors the results without interfering with decision-making unless 
necessary.

2. Matters prohibited by the regulations, such as approval of transactions in which the director has an interest, etc.

Matters that the Board of Directors should not take action on

 The Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer must be knowledgeable, competent, experienced, and 
have appropriate qualifications. They must not be the same person to have a balance of power by separating the duties of supervision and 
management.

1. Supervise and/or administer the Company’s day-to-day 
operations.

2. Formulate policies and establish business plans, action plans, and 
annual budget plans, including the business strategies of the 
Company and its subsidiaries, as proposed by the management, 
as well as determine the structure and management authority 
to propose to the Board of Directors for approval. 

3. Supervise operations or practices for the benefit of the 
Company in accordance with the vision, business direction, 
policies, business strategies, goals, action plans, and budgets 
approved by the Board of Directors, including monitoring, 
following up and evaluating the Company’s performance in 
accordance with the established policies. The Chief Executive 
Officer is also responsible for reporting performance, management 
and operating  progress to the Audit Committee and the Board 
of Directors.

4.  Consider and approve the normal transaction operations of 
     the Company’s business according to the investment statements 
     or budgets approved by the Board of Directors. The limit for
     each transaction is indicated in the approval authority table
     established by the Board of Directors and this includes entering
     into various contracts connected to such items. 
5.  Have the power to consider and approve expenditures on the 
    normal business operations of the Company according to the 
    budget approved by the Board of Directors and in accordance 
     with the approval authority table approved by the Board of 
    Directors.
6.  Have the power to approve manpower rates, employment, 
     and employee placement; determination of wages, remuneration 
     and bonuses; and employee appointment and transfer, as 
    well as determining the duties and responsibilities of each 
    department and positions for employees subordinate to the 
    Chief Executive Officer and below.

3. Scope of Powers, Duties and Responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer

2. Division of Duties of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer
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7.  Have the power to issue orders, regulations, announcements 
     and memos to ensure that the Company’s operations comply 
     with its policies and for the benefit of the Company, as well as
     to maintain discipline within the organization.
8.  Have the power to appoint advisors or working groups for the 
     benefit and efficiency of good and transparent management,  
     and have the power to authorize one or more persons to take

     any action under the control of the Chief Executive Officer, 
     or may authorize such person to have such authority and 
     within such period as the Chief Executive Officer deems 
     appropriate. The Chief Executive Officer may cancel, revoke, 
     change, or amend the authorized person or the authorization 
     as deemed appropriate.

 For taking any action on any matter that the Chief Executive Officer or an authorized person from the Chief Executive Officer or 
any person who may have a conflict (as defined by the notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board and/or the Stock Exchange of 
Thailand and/or related agencies), an interest, or a conflict of interest with the Company and/or its subsidiaries and/or related companies, 
the Chief Executive Officer does not have the authority to approve the action in such matters. Such matters must be submitted to            
the Board of Directors’ meeting and/or the shareholders’ meeting (as the case may be) for approval, except for the approval of transactions 
in accordance with normal business and normal trading conditions, which are in accordance with the notification of the Capital Market 
Supervisory Board and/or the Stock Exchange of Thailand and/or relevant authorities.  

 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee considers and presents the directors’ remuneration to the Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders for approval. Such remuneration must be consistent with the performance of the duties of the Board of Directors. 
In determining the remuneration of directors, it is determined based on the directors’ work experience, skills, knowledge and abilities, as 
well as comparing with listed companies listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand that are in similar-sized businesses. 
 In the event that the Board of Directors assigns any director to perform additional duties, such as being a member of a 
sub-committee, such director will also receive remuneration in the form of meeting allowances. For the remuneration of the Chief Executive 
Officer and executives, it corresponds to the performance of individual executives in connection with the Company’s performance.
 The remuneration of the Company’s executives consists of salary, bonus, and other remuneration such as social security 
contributions, provident fund contributions, etc.

7.4.2 Policy on Remuneration Payments for Directors and Executives

 In 2023, the Company paid remuneration to executive directors and executives* as follows:

Remuneration

Retirement Benefit

Other Remuneration

Total

Salary

7.4.3 Total Remuneration of Executive Directors and Executives

Monetary Remuneration

 Note:

 1) Other remuneration includes provident fund contributions, social security fund contributions, and health insurance.

 2) Retirement benefits were not actually paid in 2020-2022. It was an estimate of employee benefits.

Amount (Baht)

27,433,700

1,820,546

1,229,035

30,483,281
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Common Shuttle Bus Welfare of the Company

Other Non-monetary Remuneration

NameNo. Position
Number of Shares

December
31, 2022

December
31, 2023

Increase /
Decrease in 2023

Ms. Risara Charoenpanich 1 96,345,000 99,211,600 2,866,600

Spouse and minor children

Mr. Somsak Athisaitrakul

Spouse and minor children

Mr. Sitthisak Thananittayaudom

- 22,854,300 22,854,300

Mr. Teeraphat Petporee 12 N/A 2 - -

Spouse and minor children N/A - -

Ms. Onrudee Kettawee4 85,410,000 90,267,000 4,857,000

- 2,368,900 2,368,900

Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek3

5

2,250,000 2,586,200 336,200

Spouse and minor children - - -

Spouse and minor children - - -

Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai 2,250,000 2,288,000 38,000

 Information on Securities Holdings of Executives as of December 31, 2023

Chief Financial Officer

Chief Executive Officer  

Mr. Luck Dendee6 46,890,000 48,078,000 1,188,000

Spouse and minor children - - -

Senior Vice-President of Recruitment Services

Mr. David Pollock7 14,580,000 14,580,000 -

Spouse and minor children - - -

Senior Vice-President, Central Management 
Department and Director of Investor Relations Division

Senior Vice-President of Outsourcing Sales                    
and Recruitment Division, Outsourcing Services

Senior Vice-President of Executive Operations Division, 
Outsourcing Services

Senior President of Executive Recruitment

 Note: 1 Mr. Teeraphat Petporee was appointed as Chief Financial Officer effective September 1, 2023. 

  2 N/A means there is no information because the executives were appointed to the position in 2023. 
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Personnel

7.5  Information about Employees

 As of December 31, 2023, the PRTR Group had a total number of 590 employees, divided by lines as follows:

Classified by Field 2022 2023

Outsource – Operation 186

141

12

129

68

22

31

589

172

119

15

147

73

24

6

590

Outsource – Recruitment 

Outsource – Sales 

Recruitment 

Shared Services 

Training (BLACKSMITH) 

Job Platform (NEXMOVE) 

- 34PINNO

Total

 The number of employees classified by nationality is as follows:

 The Company employs 164 people with disabilities or other disadvantaged groups.

Classified by Nationality 2022 2023

Thai 578

11

589

577

13

590

Foreign

Total
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 The remuneration of employees of the Company consists of salary, bonus, overtime pay, and other benefits.

 In 2022, the Company increased the number of employees by 173 from 2021 to accommodate the growing customer base 
from the economic recovery. This is mainly an increase in Outsource – Operation by 71 employees, Outsource – Recruitment by 51 
employees and Recruitment by 23 employees.  

 In 2023, the Company and its subsidiaries had a total of 590 employees. With the change from 2022, primarily Outsourced 
– Recruitment employees decreased by 22 and Outsourced – Operations employees decreased by 18 and there was an increase in 
the manpower rate for the Recruitment Line by 18 employees and an increase of 34 employees in the Job Platform (NEXMOVE) Line 
in its subsidiaries. As the Company is aware of changes and business competition, as well as the challenges of business and services 
in the future, the manpower rate has been adjusted to be in line with the business mission.  

 The Company aims to continuously develop and increase its competitiveness in various areas by 2022, such as providing 
training to increase the performance of current employees to be able to work in the jobs of resigned employees to continuously 
meet the needs of customers.  

 In addition, the Company expanded into a new business, PRTR Global, which will start operating in 2024 with the addition 
of three employees. 

Type of Remuneration 2022 (Million Baht) 2023 (Million Baht)

Number of Employees 589

185.8

19.0

0.9

0.4

3.7

3.1

257.1

Salary

Bonus

Overtime

Other Benefit*

Social Security Fund Contributions 

Provident Fund Contributions

44.2

590

195.4

15.3

0.9

8.5

5.8

4.3

280.4

50.1Incentive and Commission 

Total

Employee Remuneration

 Note: *Other benefits include health insurance, a compensation fund, an annual health checkup, a uniform, etc.

 The Company has provided a provident fund under the management of Bangkok Capital Asset Management Company Limited 
under the name of Bualuang Sup Mungkung Provident Fund since December 1, 2018. The Company has set a policy of contributing at a 
ratio of 3% of wages for the Company and its subsidiaries.

Provident Fund

Significant Change in the Number of Employees in the Last Three Years
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Employee Training Information 2022 2023

Average number of training hours (hrs./person/year) 2.30

480,177.15Expenses for staff training and development

10

674,820.5

- None - 

Major Labor Disputes in the Last Three Years

Human Resource Management Policy
 The Company recognizes the importance of personnel as the most important factor in driving the Company’s business opera-
tions to achieve its objectives and goals. Therefore, the Company is committed to recruiting, selecting, managing and continuously 
developing personnel in order to provide them with knowledge, potential and professional abilities, as well as to take care of benefits 
and compensation and provide them with benefits not less than as required by law.

Human Resource Development

Average Number of Training Hours per Person per Year

 In order for the Company to be able to compete and operate in the same industry, it has continuously developed personnel 
to have skills according to the needs of the business and use them as a guideline to develop the behavior of personnel in the organization 
according to the 70:20:10 learning principle. Training and development courses are designed to be in line with business strategies, and 
personnel at all levels have been developed to be in line with the line of work by developing curriculum, content, learning methods, 
teaching, and action learning. It also includes job rotation and on-the-job experiences, as well as improving course platforms through 
online systems. 

 In 2023, in order for executives to learn and understand the role of leadership and effectively apply it to work, the Company 
provided executives with the following training courses:

• Critical Thinking for Effective Problem Solving and Decision Making by Asst. Prof. Dr. Kulachet Mongkol
• Positive Leadership for Collaborative Team by Aj. Oranuch Yoosukdee
• Effective Communication for Success by Aj. Lynda Tikkavee
• Leader as Coach by Aj. Lynda Tikkavee
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Narita Adulkaewphaluek

Company Secretary

(From March 01, 2022 - Present)

Education

- Master’s Degree in Management Information 

System, Thammasat University

- Bachelor of Business Administration,             

Suan Dusit Rajabhat University  

Work Experience

- 1999 – 2012 Manager of Account and 
Finance Department, Marie France 
Bodyline, Svenson Hair Center

     (Details of the Company Secretary’s information as 
     Attachment 1) 

Company Secretary and Compliance Supervisor
 The Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 1/2022 on March 1, 2022, resolved to appoint Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek as the Company 

Secretary.

Scope of Duties and Responsibilities of the Company 
Secretary

1. Prepare and maintain the Director Register, the notice of the Board of 
Directors’ meeting, the minutes of the Board of Directors’ meeting, the 
annual report, the notice of the shareholders’ meeting and the minutes of 
the shareholders’ meeting.

2. Establish a system for the retention of documents and evidence related to 
the presentation of the following information, including ensuring that such 
documents or evidence are kept accurately and completely and can be 
verifiable within a period of not less than five years from the date of 
preparation of such documents or information. 
a. Information on the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting.
b. Financial statements and reports on the financial position and 

operating results of the Company or any other reports required to be 
disclosed as required by the Securities and Exchange Act.

c. The Company’s opinions when an offer is made to buy its shares from 
shareholders.

d. Any other information or reports on the Company’s business that are 
prepared for dissemination to shareholders or the general public as 
determined by the Capital Market Supervisory Board.

e. For the retention of the above documents and evidence, it shall 
include computerized retention or storage that can be viewed without 
alteration of text in other systems.

3.   Maintain a report of interest reported by directors or executives and submit 
     a copy of the report to the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the 
     Chairman of the Audit Committee within seven business days from the 
      date the Company receives the report. 
4.   Provide initial guidance on the laws and the Company’s regulations that 
      the Board of Directors wants to know, including a report on significant
      changes in requirements and laws to the Board of Directors. 
5.   Organize shareholders’ meetings and the Board of Directors’ meetings in 
      accordance with relevant laws, regulations, and guidelines. 
6.   Record the minutes of the shareholders’ meeting and the Board of Directors’ 
     meeting, as well as monitor the implementation of the resolutions of the 
      shareholders’ meeting and the Board of Directors’ meeting. 
7.   Supervise the disclosure of information and information reports in the area 
      of responsibility to relevant agencies.  
8.   Supervise the activities of the Board of Directors and any other actions to 
      comply with the law and/or as determined by the Capital Market Supervisory 
      Board and/or as assigned by the Board of Directors.

7.6  Other Important Information

7.6.1 Company Secretary, Accounting Supervisor, Internal Audit Supervisor
and Compliance Supervisor
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Name

Education

Work Experience • 2009 – 2015 Accounting Manager, Ultimate Time Company Limited

• 2002 – 2009, Accounting Manager, A.D. Times (Thailand) Company 

Limited
(Details of the person directly responsible for the supervision of accounting 

as Attachment 1)

Ms. Kanlaya Pattarakulsri

• Master’s Degree in Accounting and Finance, Ramkhamhaeng University 

• Bachelor ‘s degree in Accounting and Finance, Ramkhamhaeng 

University

Name

Address

Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek

Website www.prtr.com

Telephone 02-716-0000

PRTR Group Public Company Limited

2034/82 Italthai Tower, 18th Floor, New Petchburi Road, 

Bang Kapi, Huai Khwang, Bangkok

Company Name

Name of Person 
Assigned

Education • Master’s Degree in Risk Management (Honors),                 
The University of Nottingham, UK  

• Bachelor’s Degree in of Commerce and Accountancy, 
International Program (Honors), Thammasat University

(Details of the Internal Audit Supervisor as Attachment 3)

PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Company Limited

Ms. Chalida Kongprajya

 In 2023, the remuneration of the audit office and its affiliates received from the Company and its subsidiaries consisted of

1. Audit Fee

• PRTR Group paid the auditor’s remuneration to Deloitte Touche Tomatsu Co., Ltd. in the amount of 3,660,000 baht.

2. Non-audit Fee

• In 2023, PRTR Group paid no remuneration for other services.

7.6.2 Person assigned direct responsibility for the supervision of accounting

7.6.3 Supervisor of Investor Relations

7.6.4 Supervisor of Internal Audit Division

7.6.5 Auditor’s Remuneration
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8.1  Summary of the Board of Directors’ Performance over the Past Year

 In 2023, the Board of Directors held a total of six 
meetings to consider various issues. The essence can be summarized 
as follows:  

1. Approval of the CEO’s Performance Evaluation Criteria
The Board of Directors approved the CEO performance evaluation 
criteria for 2023, KPIs and incentives proposed by the management. 

2. Approval of the CEO and Senior Executive Development 
    Plan
The Board of Directors approved the 2023 CEO and senior 
executive development plan as proposed by the management 
by approving the training plan for the CEO and senior executives 
in various related courses beneficial to the Company’s operations 
throughout 2023.  

3. Review of the Succession Plan of the CEO and Senior 
    Executives
In order to ensure the order and continuity of operations and 
the timely recruitment of persons in important positions to 
replace or support them, the Board of Directors has reviewed 
the succession plans of the CEO and senior executives of the 
Company, appropriately recruiting and selecting persons to 
succeed in important positions at all levels and in accordance 
with the established criteria.  

4. The Board of Directors approved the implementation plan for 
joining the Thai Private Sector Collective Action against Corruption 
(CAC), appointed a Team Champion Working Group and defined 
the powers, duties and responsibilities of the working group to 
comply with good corporate governance guidelines. 

5. Review of the Company’s Vision, Mission, Strategy, and 
Corporate Values  
The Board of Directors reviewed and approved the Company’s 
vision, mission, strategy, and corporate values for the year 2024 
as follows:

Vision : “To Be the No.1 people solutions organization in SEA”  
Mission : “We are committed to developing a better career,
               a better life and a better society.”  
Business Strategies include
Brand Awareness focuses on building the brand of PRTR – 
Total HR Solutions to make PRTR one of Thailand’s leading 
outsourcing and recruitment service providers. 

Partner in People focuses on building business partners. With 
nearly 30 years of experience in HR services, PRTR is a Partner in 
People for customers. It can guide and help solve HR problems 
for customers and create sustainability in the business.

Productivity Development focuses on the development and 
application of technology to support the efficiency of human 
resource management.

International Standards focuses on developing services to 
meet international standards to build confidence in information 
security systems. Currently, the Company has been certified 
with ISO 27001 for information security management standards 
and has a policy to maintain personal information according to 
the PDPA Act to provide customers with trust in using the PRTR 
services.

Company Value is as follows:

8. Report of Key Operating Results
for Corporate Governance

Be
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Move
Faster
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1. Recruitment of Directors and Executives

When a director’s position becomes vacant or a director is due to retire by term, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is 
responsible for selecting and screening qualified persons according to the Company’s Articles of Association and nominating qualified 
candidates in order to obtain professional and diverse directors based on the structure, size, and composition of the Board of Directors. 
Then, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee proposes opinions to the Board of Directors for approval and presents the list of 
nominees to the shareholders’ meeting for appointment. The criteria and methods for the nomination of directors are as follows: 

6. The Board of Directors reviewed, amended/added policies, manuals, approval powers and charters related to corporate governance 
for the year 2023, totaling 26 editions. In this review, there are three amended policies, namely the Anti-Corruption Policy, the 
Conflict-of-Interest Policy, and the Approval and Implementation Authority and one additional new policy was approved, namely the 
Anti-Money Laundering, Anti-Terrorism Financing and the Proliferation of Weapons of Mass Destruction Policy.

8.1.1 Recruitment, Development and Evaluation of the Board of Directors’
Performance

The Board of Directors is appointed by the shareholders to be responsible for the Company’s operations, including directing, approving, 
and monitoring the implementation of the Group’s defined strategy, vision and good corporate governance. The Board of Directors is 
responsible for selecting the Chief Executive Officer and senior executives and overseeing succession.  

Based on such responsibilities, the Company has a policy to select directors at both the individual and board levels. The Board of 
Directors will select candidates for the position of director based on their knowledge, experience, skills, diverse expertise, integrity, 
ability to provide independent opinions, business understanding and alignment with the Group’s strategy. The Board of Directors has 
established its appropriate structures and guidelines on the proportion of independent directors, non-executive directors, executive 
directors and representative directors from major shareholders to ensure that the Board of Directors is appropriate. 

In order for the directors to fully devote their time to managing the Company, they are required to hold the positions of directors in 
no more than five listed companies and to hold the positions of independent directors for no more than nine consecutive years. 
Moreover, directors and executives should avoid accepting any positions or jobs that may cause a conflict of interest with the Company.  

In addition to requiring that the Chairman of the Board of Directors is not a senior executive, the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
must also have the status of an independent director or non-executive director to ensure that there are checks and balances of power 
between the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee. Besides, the Chairman of the Board of Directors must not be a member 
of any sub-committees so that the sub-committees can freely present their opinions.  

To increase efficiency and support in the performance of specific duties of the Board of Directors, it therefore appoints various 
sub-committees, including the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Each 
sub-committee has a structure and criteria for composition and recruitment, as well as a charter that specifies the scope of duties and 
guidelines for proper operations.  

The Board of Directors has assigned the Company Secretary to be responsible for supporting the activities of the Board of Directors, 
monitoring the implementation of resolutions of the Board of Directors, holding meetings of the Board of Directors and shareholders, 
as well as other duties as specified in relevant laws and regulations.
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5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

Not be or have been an auditor of the Company, its parent 
company, subsidiaries, associated companies, major shareholders, 
or controlling persons of the Company, and not be a 
significant shareholder, controlling person, or partner of the 
audit firm, which has auditors of the Company, its parent 
company, subsidiaries, associated companies, major shareholders 
or controlling persons of the Company, unless he or she has 
been discharged from his or her duties not less than two years 
before the date of appointment as an independent director;  
Not be or have ever been professional service providers, 
including those providing legal or financial advisory services, 
who receive service fees exceeding two million baht per year 
from the Company, major shareholders, or controlling persons 
of the Company, and not be significant shareholders, 
controlling persons, or partners of such professional service 
providers, unless the status has ended not less than two years 
before the date of appointment.
Not be directors appointed to represent the directors of the 
Company, major shareholders or shareholders related to 
major shareholders. 
Not operate a business of the same nature and in a significant 
competition with the Company’s business or its subsidiaries or 
not be significant partners in a partnership, or be directors 
participating in the management, employees, staff, advisors 
receiving regular salaries or holding more than 1% of the total 
number of voting shares of other companies operating a 
business of the same nature and in a significant competition 
with the Company’s business or its subsidiaries.
No other characteristics that prevent directors from giving 
independent opinions on the Company’s operations. 

1)  Provide the opportunity for minority shareholders to nominate qualified persons to be considered for election as directors and 
     receive nominations from major shareholders.
2)  The qualifications of the candidates must comply with relevant laws and requirements, including the Public Limited Companies Act,
     the Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 (1992), the Company’s articles of association and good corporate governance principles.
3)  Consider the candidates according to the criteria for the nomination of directors of the Stock Exchange of Thailand.
4)  Consider the candidates according to the Board Skill Matrix to obtain a diverse composition of the Board of Directors that the Board 
     is lacking and that is essential to the business as a priority without restrictions or discrimination based on gender, race or any other 
     differences in order to ensure the integrity and best interests of the Company.
5)  Consider the suitability of knowledge, experience, and specific abilities in the business or major industries in which the Company 
     operates so that the Board of Directors has elements in business, strategy, law, finance, accounting, economics, international business, 
     and information technology to integrate knowledge and competence that are useful to the Company’s operations.
6)  Consider the dedication of time by the directors. If they are former directors who will return to office for another term, it may be 
      based on their performance during their term. It should consider the number of companies that each director will serve to suit the 
     nature or business condition of the Company to ensure that performance does not decrease.
7)  In the case of the selection of independent directors, the independence of the person to be proposed as an independent director 
     will be taken into account. In this regard, the Company has defined an independent director in accordance with the criteria set by 
     the SEC as follows:

Qualifications of Independent Directors

1. Hold not more than 1% of the total number of voting shares 
of the Company, its parent company, subsidiaries, associated 
companies, major shareholders, or controlling persons of 
the Company, including the shareholding of related persons 
of such an independent director.

2. Not be or have been a director who participates in the 
management, employee, staff or advisor with regular salary 
or controlling person of the Company, its parent company, 
subsidiaries, associated companies, subsidiaries at the same 
level, major shareholder, or controlling person of the 
Company, unless such status has ended not less than two 
years before the date of appointment.

3. No blood relationship or legal registration in the manner of 
father, mother, spouse, sibling or child, including the child’s 
spouse of other directors, executives, major shareholders, 
controlling persons or persons to be nominated as directors, 
executives or controlling persons of the Company or its 
subsidiaries.

4. Not have or have had a business relationship with the 
Company, its parent company, subsidiaries, associated 
companies, major shareholders, or controlling persons of 
the Company in a manner that may interfere with their 
independent exercise of judgment, including not being or 
having ever been a significant shareholder or controlling 
person of a person having a business relationship with the 
Company, its parent company, subsidiaries, associated 
companies, major shareholders, or controlling persons of 
the Company, unless such relationship has ended not less 
than two years before the date of appointment.
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For the recruitment of the Chief Executive Officer and senior executives, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee has established 
criteria and procedures for recruiting qualified persons to serve as senior executives in order to obtain persons with knowledge, skills, 
experience, and attributes necessary to drive the organization towards its goals and will nominate suitable persons with reasons for the 
Board of Directors to consider for appointment. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee will supervise the determination of 
appropriate remuneration structure and evaluation at all levels and monitor the management and development of personnel to 
ensure appropriate knowledge, skills, experience, and motivation.

The Company requires the holders of the abovementioned positions to work with management in defining the attributes and main 
responsibilities of such positions, including qualifications, conduct, and specific professional characteristics. The Company has 
established competency criteria and KPIs as guidelines for the selection of individuals to be in the succession plan. The Company also 
provides preparation for the persons who have been selected as successors to be ready for succession and be able to perform the 
duties immediately when the position is vacant, and supervises considering promotions and providing benefits to create incentives as 
appropriate. 

 In this regard, the Company has designated key positions to have a succession plan, namely
- Chief Executive Officer
- Chief Financial Officer
- Senior Vice President of Outsourcing Sales and Recruitment Division for Outsourcing Services
- Senior Vice President of Operations Division for Outsourcing Services
- Senior Vice President of Recruitment
- Senior Vice President of Executive Recruitment and
- Senior Vice President of Shared Service and Head of Investor Relations.

Appointment and Deprivation of Directors

At the 2023 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee screened and nominated the 
directors to the Board of Directors to propose to the shareholders’ meeting to consider the election of three original directors, namely 
Ms. Risara Charoenpanich, Ms. Onrudee Kettawee and Mr. Luck Dendee, to be re-appointed as executive directors for another term and 
to appoint one new director, Mr. Panya Chutisiriwong.  

The Board of Directors provides an orientation for the new director above, and the Chief Executive Officer and the Company Secretary 
provide an overview and clarify basic information such as corporate governance policy, roles and duties of the Board of Directors and 
sub-committees, the Board of Directors’ meetings, and various important information, etc.

8)  Have performance over the past year (if any).
9)  Provide useful recommendations.
 Then, the names of the nominated directors will be presented at the shareholders’ meeting for appointment.
 In the past fiscal year, none of the independent directors had any business relationship or professional service to the Company.
 In the event that the position of director is vacant due to reasons other than the expiration of the term, the Board of Directors 
shall consider appointing a person who is qualified and has no prohibited characteristics under the law to be a replacement director 
at the next meeting of the Board of Directors. Unless the term of the retiring director is less than two months, the person who becomes 
a replacement director shall serve as a director only for the remaining term of the director he or she replaces. However, the resolution 
to appoint a person to be a replacement director must receive a vote of not less than three-fourths of the number of remaining 
directors. 
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2. Development of Directors and Executives

The Company attaches importance to attending training courses necessary for the performance of the duties of the Board of Directors 
and other courses that promote the development of knowledge and competence for directors. More than 75% of the Board of 
Directors have been trained by the Thai Institute of Directors (IOD) as detailed in the directors’ profiles. In 2023, 5 out of 10 directors 
attended additional training and seminars to increase their operational knowledge, representing 50% of the entire Board of Directors, 
as follows:

Director Training Course / Seminar Organizer

Mr. Niphon Bundechannan Advanced Audit Committee Program 

(AACP) Class 49/2023 

Thai Institute of Directors (IOD) 

Ms. Risara Charoenpanich • Successful Formulation & Execution of 

Strategy (SFE) Class 42/2023  

• Corporate Governance for Executives 

(CGE) Class 22/2023 

• Critical Thinking for Effective Problem 

Solving and Decision Making

• Effective Communication for Success

• Leader as Coach

• Thai Institute of Directors (IOD)

• Thai Institute of Directors (IOD)

• Asst. Prof. Dr. Kulachet Mongkol

• Aj. Lynda Tikkavee

• Aj. Lynda Tikkavee

Ms. Onrudee Kettawee • Critical Thinking for Effective Problem 

Solving and Decision Making

• POSITIVE Leadership for Collaborative 

Team

• Effective Communication for Success

• Leader as Coach 

• Asst. Prof. Dr. Kulachet Mongkol

• Aj. Oranuch Yoosukdee

• Aj. Lynda Tikkavee

• Aj. Lynda Tikkavee

Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek • Critical Thinking for Effective Problem 

Solving and Decision Making

• POSITIVE Leadership for Collaborative 

Team

• Effective Communication for Success

• Leader as Coach

• Asst. Prof. Dr. Kulachet Mongkol

• Aj. Oranuch Yoosukdee

• Aj. Lynda Tikkavee

• Aj. Lynda Tikkavee

Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai • Critical Thinking for Effective Problem 

Solving and Decision Making

• POSITIVE Leadership for Collaborative 

Team

• Effective Communication for Success

• Leader as Coach

• Asst. Prof. Dr. Kulachet Mongkol

• Aj. Oranuch Yoosukdee

• Aj. Lynda Tikkavee

• Aj. Lynda Tikkavee
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3. Evaluation of the Board of Directors’ Performance

To improve operational efficiency, the Company evaluates the performance of the Board of Directors, both at an individual and a group 
level, once a year so that the Board of Directors can jointly consider the performance, problems and obstacles during the past year. The 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee is assigned to consider and recommend the evaluation guidelines to the Board of Directors 
for approval.

 For the 2023 evaluation, a self-assessment of the Board of Directors, both group and individual, was conducted online as follows:

 The results of the self-assessment for sub-committees are summarized as follows:

 The summary of self-assessment results for the whole Board of Directors shows an average score of 3.85 out of 4.00, and the 
performance evaluation results for directors (individuals) have an average score of 3.85.

1. The Self-assessment Form of the Board of Directors consists of six questions: the structure and qualifications of the Board of Directors; 
the roles, duties, and responsibilities of the Board of Directors; the meetings of the Board of Directors; dynamics in the performance of 
duties of the Board of Directors; the relationship with management; and the development of the Board of Directors.  

2. The Performance Evaluation Form for Directors (Individual) consists of five questions: personal qualifications, readiness to perform 
duties, participation in meetings, roles, duties, and responsibilities, and relationships with the directors and management.

3. The Performance Evaluation Form for Sub-committees consists of five questions: the structure and qualifications of the sub-committees; 
the meetings of the sub-committees; the roles, duties, and responsibilities of the sub-committees; and the reporting of the 
sub-committees.

 For scoring, the assessment form provides a score scale so that the committee can compare the assessment results of each 
topic and the assessment results of each year. The meaning of scoring is as follows:  

    0 = Strongly Disagree or No action taken on the matter
    1 = Disagree or Take minor action on the matter
    2 = Agree or Take reasonable action on the matter
    3 = Quite Agree or Take good action on the matter
    4 = Strongly Agree or Take excellent action in the matter  

 The directors then conduct their own performance assessment within the specified period and send it back to the Company 
Secretary to collect, conduct the evaluation and present the summary of the assessment results to the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee for acknowledgment and exchange of ideas and recommendations to enhance the performance of the Board of Directors’ 
duties at the Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s Meeting No. 1/2567 on February 15, 2024. 

Sub-committee Average Score (Percentage)

1. Audit Committee 3.63

3.732. Nomination and Remuneration Committee
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The Board of Directors has scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors and sub-committees by notifying the directors of the meeting 
dates for the whole year in advance so that each director can arrange time and attend the meeting. In the event of a special agenda, 
additional meetings may be held as appropriate. Furthermore, the Board of Directors has assigned the Company Secretary or secretaries of 
the sub-Committees to send a meeting invitation letter together with the documents used to accompany the agenda. The documents are 
accurate, complete, and sufficient for consideration, and clearly indicate that matters are proposed for acknowledgement, approval, or 
consideration, as the case may be. The documents are required to be delivered to the Board of Directors at least five business days before 
the meeting. The Board of Directors’ meeting has approved the schedule of the 2024 Board of Directors and sub-committee meetings in 
advance, which may be changed and exclude special agenda meetings as follows:

 At the meeting of the Board of Directors and sub-committees, not less than half of the total number of directors must 
be present at the meeting to constitute a quorum according to the Company’s Articles of Association. To vote at the Board of 
Directors’ meeting, there must be at least two-thirds of the total number of directors present at the meeting. Before each meeting, 
the Chairman of the Board of Directors will inform the meeting that any directors who may be relevant or have an interest in any 
agenda must abstain from voting on that agenda.

 In 2023, non-executive directors held a meeting among themselves without the management attending the meeting on 
February 23, 2023.

Evaluation of the Chief Executive Officer’s Performance

The Company conducts an assessment of the performance of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) at least once a year. The assessment 
form consists of five questions: leadership, strategy formulation, strategy compliance, planning and financial performance, relationship 
with the Board of Directors, external relations, administration and personnel relations, succession, product and service knowledge and 
personal characteristics.  

In 2023, the CEO’s performance was evaluated. In conclusion, the evaluation results averaged 3.75 out of 4.00.

Board of Directors’
Meeting

No. Audit Committee Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

1/2567 February 27, 2024

May 14, 2024

January 24, 2024

February 27, 2024

February 15, 2024

2/2567

August 8, 2024May 14, 20243/2567

November 12, 2024August 8, 20244/2567

November 12, 20245/2567

8.1.2 Attendance and Payment of Individual Director Remuneration
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 Details of the attendance of the Board of Directors and sub-committees in 2023 are as follows:

 Note: 1 Mr. Panya Chutisiriwong became a director pursuant to the resolution of the 2023 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, effective 

    April 20, 2023.

PositionName -
Surname Board

of Directors
Audit

Committee
Executive
Committee

Number of Attendance to the Meeting
Nomination and
Remuneration

Committee

(Total Number of 

Meeting (Percentage) / 

Meeting Method

6 (100.00)

/Physical

Meeting

5 (100.00)

/Physical

Meeting 

1 (100.00)

/E-Meeting

12 (100.00)

/E-Meeting

6/6

(100.00)

- -

6/6

(100.00)

5/5

(100.00)

1/1

(100.00)

Independent Director /                               
Chairman of the Board of Directors 

1. Mr. Sukont Kanjanahuttakit 

Independent Director / Chairman of the Audit 
Committee / Member of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee 

2. Mr. Chan Ittithavorn

6/6

(100.00)

5/5

(100.00)

1/1

(100.00)

Independent Director/Chairman of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee / 
Member of the Audit Committee 

3. Mr. Niphon Bundechanan

5/6

(83.33) 

4/5

(80.00)

1/1

(100.00)

Independent Director / Member of the Audit 
Committee / Member of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee

4. Mr. Thunyachate 
Ekvetchavit  

3/3

(100.00)

- -Director5. Mr. Panya Chutisiriwong 1

6/6

(100.00)

- - 12/12

(100.00)

Director6. Mr. Luck Dendee

6/6

(100.00)

- 1/1

(100.00)

12/12

(100.00)

Director and Chief Executive Officer / Member 
of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee

7. Ms. Risara Charoenpanich 

6/6

(100.00)

- - 12/12

(100.00)

Director8. Ms. Onrudee Kettawee

6/6

(100.00)

- - 12/12

(100.00)

Director9. Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek

6/6

(100.00)

- 1/1

(100.00)

12/12

(100.00)

Director/Member of the Nomination          

and Remuneration Committee

10. Mr. Phukphong 
Ratanaprapai
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Directors’ Remuneration

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee screens the remuneration of the Board of Directors and its sub-committees before 
presenting it to the Board of Directors for approval to be presented to the shareholders’ meeting for approval.  

In this regard, the 2023 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on April 20, 2023, resolved to approve the remuneration of directors 
in a total amount not exceeding three million baht by paying remuneration in the form of meeting allowances to non-executive 
directors and independent directors. The details are as follows:

In 2023, the Board of Directors received remuneration in the amount of 1,425,000 baht, paid in the form of meeting allowances to the 
individual directors as follows: 

 Note: 1 Mr. Panya Chutisiriwong became a director pursuant to the resolution of the 2023 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, effective 
    April 20, 2023.

(Unit : Baht)

 Monthly remuneration and other remuneration: None

Position Meeting Allowances per Time

Board of Directors

Chairman

Independent Director

Audit Committee

Chairman

Committee Member

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Chairman

Committee Member

60,000

40,000

40,000

25,000

20,000

15,000

Name - Surname
Board

of Directors
Audit

Committee
2023 Annual

General Meeting
of Shareholders

Total

Meeting Allowances
Nomination and
Remuneration

Committee

1. Mr. Sukont Kanjanahuttakit -300,000.00 - 60,000.00 360,000.00

2. Mr. Chan Ittithavorn 160,000.00200,000.00 15,000.00 40,000.00 415,000.00

3. Mr. Niphon Bundechannan 100,000.00200,000.00 20,000.00 40,000.00 360,000.00

4. Mr. Thunyachate Ekvetchavit 75,000.00160,000.00 15,000.00 40,000.00 290,000.00

5. Mr. Panya Chutisiriwong (1) -- - - -

6. Mr. Luck Dendee -- - - -

7. Ms. Risara Charoenpanich -- - - -

8. Ms. Onrudee Kettawee -- - - -

9. Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek -- - - -

10. Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai -- - - -

Total 1,425,000.00
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 The Company does not pay remuneration to the Executive Committee because they are its personnel and receive remuneration 
in the form of salaries, bonuses and other benefits (please consider executive remuneration on page 97).

8.1.3 Supervision of the Operations of Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

• The Board of Directors will appoint a person representing the 
Company to be directors or executives in subsidiaries and/or 
associated companies in proportion to its shareholding in 
order to participate in overseeing the Company’s operations 
in accordance with the Company’s policies and laws. This 
includes determining the scope of power to exercise clear 
discretion, which means that the consideration of such 
directors and executives in voting at the Board of Directors’ 
meetings of subsidiaries and/or associated companies on 
significant matters must first be approved by the Board of 
Directors. This also includes monitoring and ensuring that 
subsidiaries and/or associated companies disclose financial 
information, connected transactions, and the acquisition or 
disposal of significant assets completely and accurately 
according to the requirements of the relevant authorities. 
However, the appointment of representatives of the Company 
as directors in each subsidiary and/or associated company 
must be considered and approved by the Board of Directors, 
taking into account the suitability of each company.

• If entering into any transaction or action of a subsidiary that 
falls under or is an acquisition or disposal of assets according 
to the relevant announcement, or connected transaction 
pursuant to the relevant announcement, which result in the 
Company being obliged to seek approval from the meeting of 
the Board of Directors and/or the shareholders of the Company 
or to obtain approval from the relevant authorities in 
accordance with the law before entering into a transaction, 
the subsidiary may enter into such transaction upon approval 
from the Board of Directors’ meeting of the Company and/or 
the shareholders’ meeting of the Company and/or relevant 
agencies (as the case may be).

The Company has a policy to invest long-term in companies with growth potential and good returns on investment, which may be the 
same type of business as the Company’s main business, a business that supports the Company’s main business or a company that is 
a strategic partner. In considering the investment, the Company will conduct an investment feasibility analysis, taking into account the 
risks, returns, financial liquidity of the Company and economic condition of the country. The investment must be approved by the 
Board of Directors and/or the shareholders’ meeting and there must be control and monitoring systems in place, as well as regular 
investment reports to the Board of Directors.

 The Company establishes a policy to supervise operations in its subsidiaries and/or associated companies to comply 
with various measures and mechanisms set forth as if they were the Company’s own entities, as follows:

• If there is a connected transaction between the Company and 
its subsidiaries and affiliated companies, it must be clearly based 
on business reasons, reasonable market prices, and supporting 
principles. In addition, in certain cases of subsidiaries that 
cause the Company to be obliged to disclose information to 
the Stock Exchange of Thailand according to the rules 
prescribed in the relevant notification of the Stock Exchange 
of Thailand, directors, executives, or controlling persons who 
are the Company’s representatives in such subsidiaries are 
obliged to notify the management of the Company immediately 
upon learning that the subsidiary plans to enter into such a 
transaction or the occurrence of such an incident.

• Require regular monitoring of the performance and internal 
control systems of subsidiaries and/or affiliated companies. 

• Require oversight of the business operations of subsidiaries 
and/or associated companies in accordance with business 
policies, goals, operational plans, strategies, and budgets as 
approved.

• Require consideration of the organizational and management 
structure of subsidiaries and/or associated companies to be 
effective and conducive to business conditions.

• Consider approving expenditures for investments or operations, 
transactions of acquisition and disposal of assets, borrowing or 
applying for loans from financial institutions, lending money, 
capital increases, investments, or dissolution of the Company 
that significantly affect the business operations of subsidiaries 
and/or associated companies.

• Assign the Audit Committee to review the accuracy and 
reliability of financial reports, internal control systems, internal 
audits, connected transactions, compliance with relevant laws 
and regulations, as well as supervision of the performance of 
subsidiaries and/or associated companies.
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8.1.4 Monitoring Compliance with Corporate Governance Policy and Guidelines

The Company places emphasis on compliance with laws and regulations related to the environment and occupational health and 
safety at the local, national, and regional levels, as well as compliance with the international code of business conduct. Directors, 
executives, and employees must act within the framework of laws, rules and regulations and must not conspire, assist or act in any 
way that violates laws and other relevant regulations. 

The Company does not support actions that violate intellectual property rights by requiring directors, executives, and employees to 
act within the framework of laws, rules and regulations and must not conspire, assist or take any action that violates other laws, rules 
and regulations related to intellectual property.

 The Company establishes a policy regarding the prevention of conflicts of interest as follows:

Performing Duties in Compliance with Laws, Rules, and Regulations

Prevention of Conflicts of Interest

1. Directors, executives, and employees shall refrain from 
operating a business of the same nature and in competition 
with the business of the Company or its subsidiaries, whether 
for personal gain or others, which may directly or indirectly 
damage the Company or become partners or shareholders 
with decision-making power or executives in a business that is 
competitive or of the same nature as the Company or its 
subsidiaries. Unless it can be shown that there is a mechanism 
to ensure that such action will not affect the Company, 
including measures that are in the best interests of the 
Company and its shareholders as a whole. In this case, 
directors, executives, and employees shall immediately report 
to the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

2. Directors, executives, and employees shall refrain from 
holding shares in the Company’s competitors with a significant 
number if such action will prevent directors, executives and 
employees from performing or omitting to perform their 
duties or have an impact on their duties. In the event that 
directors, executives, and employees acquire such shares 
before becoming directors, executives, and employees or 
before the Company enters into such business or it is acquired 
by inheritance, directors, executives and employees must 
report to the Company immediately by the method 
prescribed by the Board of Directors.

3. Directors, executives, and employees must not use the 
Company’s confidential information and assets to benefit 
themselves or others, including doing business that competes 
with the Company or doing related business.

4. Directors, major shareholders and executives having an 
interest in the meeting on any agenda must abstain from 
voting or not attend the meeting on the agenda in which they 
and/or related parties have a conflict of interest or have an 
interest.

5. Directors, major shareholders, executives and employees are 
required to disclose business transactions or businesses that

are conducted personally or with their families, relatives, or 
dependents that may cause a conflict of interest with the 
Company or its subsidiaries and to annually prepare 
documents for disclosure of direct and indirect interests or 
with significant changes in the details disclosed, such as
- Joint investment or benefits with business partners doing 

business with the Company or its customers.
- Hold any position or even be a consultant for a trader 

doing business with the Company or its customers.
- Trade in goods or services with the Company or its 

subsidiaries, or through others.
The Board of Directors must supervise the Company to 
comply with the securities and exchange laws, regulations, 
notifications, orders, or rules of the Stock Exchange of 
Thailand, the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 
Capital Market Supervisory Board. In addition, the Company 
shall disclose information on connected transactions according 
to the specified criteria.
Directors, executives, and employees of the Company must 
make decisions about the business operations of the Company 
in the best interests of the Company. 
Directors, executives, and employees of the Company must 
work full time to the best of their ability without conducting 
any personal business that affects the performance of duties 
and working hours of the Company. 
Directors, executives and employees of the Company must 
not act in any way that is of an administrative or managerial 
nature that undermines the interests of the Company or 
contributes to any person or legal entity, whether for their 
own benefit or that of others.
Directors, executives and employees of the Company must 
avoid financial involvement and/or relationships with other 
third parties, which will result in the Company losing benefits 
or causing conflicts of interest, or hindering the effective 
performance of work.

6.  

7.  

8.  

9.  

10.  
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- Provide a security system in the workplace to protect files 
and confidential documents.

- Data subjects who have not yet been disclosed to the 
public, they must instruct those involved to strictly follow 
security procedures.

- Directors, executives, employees, operators, and related 
personnel of the Company and its subsidiaries must strictly 
comply with laws related to confidential information, such 
as the Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 (1992), the 
Personal Data Protection Act B.E. 2562 (2019), the Computer 
Crime Act, the Public Limited Companies B.E. 2535 (1992), 
and other related laws.

For misusing inside information, violators will be punished, 
starting from a written warning to temporary suspension from 
work without pay, or may be dismissed, including compensation 
for damage to the Company in the event of monetary 
damage, depending on the seriousness of the offense or may 
be considered for prosecution as the case may be.

5.  

In 2023, the Company Secretary is responsible for coordinating all directors and executives to update the information on the disclosure 
form at least once a year and all directors and executives shall immediately notify the Company Secretary when there is a change in 
the person or company related to them, including when there is an incident that may cause a conflict of interest. 

The Company Secretary will update the list of persons and companies that may have a connection with the Company and send it to 
relevant parties, such as management, accounting, purchasing, sales, etc., to notify the Company Secretary. If there is a related party 
transaction with a person who may have a connection or it may occur, if it is a generally non-commercial transaction, the upcoming 
inter-related transaction must be necessary and reasonable with a fair price comparable to the market price. The Company Secretary 
will coordinate with relevant departments to gather information to propose to the Audit Committee for approval of the transaction 
and present it to the Board of Directors’ meeting and/or the shareholders’ meeting for approval before entering into the transaction.  

If it is a transaction that is typical of a commercial transaction, the related party transaction must be necessary and reasonable with a 
fair price comparable to the market price. The Company Secretary will coordinate with the relevant department to gather information 
to present it to the Audit Committee for approval of the transaction and to the Board of Directors’ meeting for acknowledgement.  

In the case of connected transactions, the Company will calculate the transaction size according to the Notification of the Capital 
Market Supervisory Board No. Tor Jor. 21/2551 on Rules for Making Connected Transactions (including as amended) and Disclosing 
Information in accordance with the Notification of the Stock Exchange of Thailand on Disclosure of Information and Operations of 
Listed Companies in Connected Transactions B.E. 2546 (2003) (including the amendments) (Connected Notice).

 Information on connected transactions can be found in Part 2 Section 9, Internal Controls and Related Transactions.

The Company collects and uses its information by taking into account the confidentiality, information security of the information, and 
compliance with the laws and requirements of relevant authorities. The use of such information must be for the purposes of the 
Company’s business operations only. The details are as follows: 

Overseeing the Use of Inside Information

1. Personnel at all levels, including all related persons who are 
aware of or may receive inside information that has not been 
disclosed to the public, should avoid trading the Company’s 
securities. However, if trading the Company’s securities, it 
should be done with caution. Do not use inside information 
that has not been disclosed yet. When trading, they should 
report the trading of such securities in compliance with the 
regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand and the 
Securities and Exchange Commission.

2. The Company’s information to the outside must be approved 
only by the Chief Executive Officer or his/her designee.

3. The Company’s personnel must not answer questions or 
make comments to third parties unless they are obliged or 
assigned to answer those questions.

4. The Company has established measures to prevent the use of 
inside information as follows: 
- Restrict access to information that has not yet been made 

public. It must only be recognized by those who need to 
be aware of such information and inform them that it is 
confidential information and has restrictions on its use.
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6.  The Company establishes a policy on disclosure of information and submission of financial statements, which has been approved by 
the Board of Directors. The directors, executives, and accounting managers of the Company, employees in departments related to inside 
information, including their spouses or those who live together as husbands and wives, and minor children of such persons, are prohibited 
from buying, selling, offering to buy or sell or soliciting other persons to buy, sell, offer to buy or sell the securities of the Company or other 
listed companies related to the Company’s inside information during the period of one month before the disclosure of quarterly financial 
statements and annual financial statements, and should refrain from trading at least 24 hours after the Company’s inside information has 
been disclosed to the public. It is also prohibited from disclosing such material information to any other person by any means.

 In 2023, the Company strictly supervised the use of inside information and reviewed the policy on the use of inside information 
and the policy on disclosure of information and submission of financial statements at least once a year to cover the nature of the Company’s 
business operations. 

The Company operates its business by adhering to the principles of good corporate governance for the best interests of the Company, 
shareholders, stakeholders and related parties. The Company therefore establishes an anti-corruption policy for directors, executives 
and employees to use as a principle and practices as follows: 

Anti-Corruption

1. Directors, executives and employees will not commit 
corruption, such as offering, requesting, demanding or 
receiving benefits, providing benefits or any other acts of 
corruption.

2. Directors, executives and employees are responsible for 
complying with anti-corruption policy and measures and 
Thailand’s anti-corruption laws. Violations will be subject to 
disciplinary action or legal proceedings.

3. If directors, executives and employees see corruption, they 
must report the incident to their supervisors or through the 
whistleblowing channels specified by the Company.

4. The Company will keep the informant’s details confidential 
and will not be affected by any such reporting.

5. The Board of Directors has a duty to establish policies and 
practices to prevent corruption and to ensure that they are 
transparent and not contrary to relevant laws.

6. The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that the 
Company has adequate internal control systems, including 
financial and accounting reporting systems, internal audit 
systems, and risk management systems, in order to ensure 
that they comply with international standards, are concise 
and are able to prevent corruption and operations that do 
not comply with good corporate governance principles.

The management has the duty and responsibility to 
determine the checks and balances of the work process 
system in the organization by promoting the anti-corruption 
policy and communicating it to personnel at all levels; 
reviewing, verifying and correcting various systems and 
measures; periodically conducting corruption risk assessments 
to identify high-risk incidents, and finding appropriate 
prevention and remediation methods.
The management has channels to communicate to employees 
and stakeholders to be aware of the anti-corruption policy 
and can report whistleblowers, complaints and suggestions 
through channels specified by the Company in order to be 
able to investigate the facts according to the process.
The management has developed a personnel management 
system to create anti-corruption values and culture and 
communicate them to the personnel for acknowledgement.
Procurement must be carried out transparently without 
breaking the laws, regulations and procedures stipulated by 
the Company and audits of procurement practices are 
regularly provided.

 The Company has already formulated an anti- 
corruption policy and enacted it since 2018. It was last 
reviewed at the Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 6/2023 on 
November 10, 2023. Nowadays, the Company is in the 
process of preparing to become a member of the Thai 
Private Sector Collective Action Coalition Against Corruption 
(CAC). The Group has taken steps to prevent involvement in 
corruption as follows:

7.  

8.  

9.  

10.  
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1. Provide regular corruption risk assessments along with annual 
operational risk assessments and report the assessment 
results to the relevant committees.

2. Review the anti-corruption operations to be consistent with 
the risks assessed. The guidelines are reviewed to be appropriate 
and consistent with the risks and the penalties are also strictly 
imposed on employees involved in corruption.

3. Communicate the anti-corruption policy and guidelines that 
have been reviewed. In 2023, the anti-corruption policy was 
reviewed by adding important content, such as increasing the 
definition of “corruption” to be more comprehensive and 
clearer and defining important definitions such as “payment

In 2023, the Company had no complaints about corruption.

Chairman of the Audit Committee

whistle-blowing@prtr.com  

Whistleblower:

Email:

https://www.prtr.com/Website:

https://www.prtr.com/Website:

PRTR Group Public Company Limited

2034/82 Italthai Tower, 18th Floor, New Petchburi Road, 

Bang Kapi, Huai Khwang, Bangkok 

Postal Mail:

Whistleblowing and Complaint Channels

 The internal auditor has the duty and responsibility to audit and review the performance to ensure it correctly complies with 
policies, guidelines, operational authority, procedures, and laws and report the results to the Audit Committee.

The Company establishes a policy for receiving complaints and whistleblowing related to corporate governance or operational supervision 
from all stakeholders, whether from internal personnel or external parties. The Company requires that complaints be made in writing and 
that they be submitted or followed up as follows:

Policy for Receiving Complaints and Whistleblowing of Offences

Chairman of the Audit Committee

whistle-blowing@prtr.com  

Whistleblower:

Email:

PRTR Group Public Company Limited

2034/82 Italthai Tower, 18th Floor, New Petchburi Road, 

Bang Kapi, Huai Khwang, Bangkok

Postal Mail:

In 2023, the Company did not find any complaints.

Whistleblowing and Complaints

of corruption or payment of fraudulent benefits,” “accepting 
-giving gifts, entertainment, or any other benefits,” “bribery,” 
“facilitation payments,” etc. The duties and responsibilities of 
the Board of Directors and related parties have been added 
and the anti-corruption policy has been published on the 
Company’s website under the Corporate Governance 
Section, which can be found more at https://www.prtr.com/.
Train and Communication to Employees for Application to Work.
Prepare a whistleblowing and complaint channel to receive 
whistleblowing from third parties and employees. Complaints 
or whistleblowing will be processed, as appropriate, as the case 
may be. For information of whistleblowers or complainants, 
they are entitled to protection.

4.  
5.  
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The Company has well complied with the principles of good corporate governance. However, it has not yet joined the CAC network, 
which is currently in the process of preparing to become a member of the Thai Private Sector Collective Action Coalition Against 
Corruption.

The report on the performance of the duties of the Audit Committee is presented in Attachment 6.

8.2  Report on the Performance of the Duties of the Audit Committee

8.3  Report on the Performance of the Duties of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee
 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Company consists of five independent directors and executive 
directors as follows:

 In 2023, the Company held one meeting of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee with details of the attendance   

of each director as follows:

 In 2023, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee has performed its duties in accordance with the Charter of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee by considering and proposing guidelines for determining remuneration for the Board of 
Directors, sub-committees, and the Chief Executive Officer in line with the performance of the Company and other companies in the 
same industry and presenting them to the Board of Directors’ meeting and/or the shareholders’ meeting of the Company for approval. 
This includes considering the criteria for evaluating the Chief Executive Officer and proposing to the Board of Directors for consideration 
and comments, reviewing and proposing a succession plan in the event that the Chief Executive Officer or senior executives in that 
position retire or are unable to perform their duties so that the management of the Company can continue to operate for the Board 
of Directors to consider giving opinions.

Name  - Surname
Number of Meeting Attended
/ Total Number of Meetings

1. Mr. Niphon Bundechannan

2. Mr. Chan Ittithavorn

3. Mr. Thunyachate Ekvetchavit

4. Ms. Risara Charoenpanich

1/1

1/1

1/1

1/1

1/15. Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai

1. Mr. Niphon Bundechannan 

2. Mr. Chan Ittithavorn

3. Mr. Thunyachate Ekvetchavit

4. Ms. Risara Charoenpanich

5. Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai

Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
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8.4  Report on the Performance of the Duties of the Executive
Committee

 The Company’s Executive Committee consists of five executive directors as follows:

1. Ms. Risara Charoenpanich

2. Mr. Luck Dendee

3. Ms. Onrudee Kettawee

4. Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai

5. Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek

Chairman of the Executive Committee

Executive Director

Executive Director

Executive Director

Executive Director

Name  - Surname
Number of Meeting Attended
/ Total Number of Meetings

3. Ms. Onrudee Kettawee

4. Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai

5. Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek

12/12

12/12

12/12

12/12

12/12

1. Ms. Risara Charoenpanich

2. Mr. Luck Dendee

 In 2023, the Company held 12 meetings of the Executive Committee, with details of the attendance of each director as 

follows: 

 In 2023, the Executive Committee controls, supervises, and monitors the Company’s performance in accordance with the 
established policies, goals, business plans, business strategies, and budgets, and various executive powers as approved by the Board 
of Directors to be efficient and effective, contributing to the business conditions, and providing consultations and advice to senior 
executives, resulting in the Company’s continuous growth in both revenue and net profit.
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9. Internal Controls
and Related Transactions

9.1  Internal Controls

9.1.1 Adequacy and Suitability of Internal Controls

 The Company is committed to having effective internal control and internal audit systems by applying the principles of 
internal control in accordance with the guidelines and framework of the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission) Internal Control-Integrated Framework. This framework serves as the international standard for internal control, guiding 
the Company and its subsidiaries in implementing internal control and internal audit. The audit process will emphasize a risk-based 
audit, providing guidance for auditing and evaluating internal control systems. 

The company recognizes the importance of internal control and internal audit as fundamental elements for conducting business 
successfully, ensuring a stable and sustainable growth. Therefore, efficient and effective internal control and internal audit systems are 
established, tailored to the nature, size, and environment of the operations. This is to ensure that various units within the Company 
and its subsidiaries adhere to relevant laws, rules and regulations. Reporting is done in a reliable, accurate and complete manner, and 
operations are carried out efficiently and effectively. The Company places importance on preventing losses or damages, focusing on 
pro-active measures and improvements rather than post-incident investigations after losses or damages occur. 

The Company has established an independent internal audit function that reports directly to the Audit Committee. This is to assist the 
Audit Committee and the Board of Directors in ensuring confidence that the core operations and key activities of the Company are 
conducted efficiently, in accordance with established guidelines, and have effective and adequate internal controls in place.
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9.1.2 Board of Directors’ Opinion on the Internal Control System

At the Board of Directors meeting No. 2/2024 on February 27, 2024, attended by all three Audit Committee members, an evaluation was 
conducted on the adequacy of the internal control system following the guidelines of COSO (The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission). The evaluation encompassed the following components:

The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the internal control system of the Company is adequate and suitable for the conduct of PRTR’s 
business. PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Company Limited (hereinafter referred to as “PWC”) has been appointed to assess the adequacy 
of the internal control system and monitor the operations related to the Company’s internal controls. This is to ensure that the Company 
has processes capable of managing operations efficiently in line with objectives, legal requirements, and relevant regulations. It aims to 
protect assets from fraudulent activities, prevent unauthorized use by directors or executives, and ensure the preparation of accurate and 
reliable accounts and reports

9.1.3 Audit Committee’s Opinion in Event of Difference of Opinion from
Board of Directors or Auditors

The Audit Committee does not have a differing opinion from the Board of Directors. Therefore, it has considered and approved the internal 
control system adequacy assessment of the Company for the fiscal year 2023. Additionally, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyos Company 
Limited (hereinafter referred to as “Deloitte”), the Company’s auditor, has not provided any additional opinions on the Company’s 
internal control system for the year 2023.

The Company has engaged PWC to conduct an internal control assessment for all systems for the fiscal year 2023-2024, including 
continuous monitoring of internal control systems. In this regard, at the Audit Committee Meeting No. 2/2023 on March 21, 2023, the 
committee considered and appointed PWC to perform the duties of internal audit to monitor and assess the results of internal control 
for the year 2023. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that PWC possesses the qualifications and expertise required for internal audit. 
PWC will report the results of its operations directly to the Audit Committee. Additionally, the consideration, approval, appointment, 
removal, and transfer of individuals holding the position of Head of Internal Audit for the Company must receive approval from the 
Audit Committee. The qualifications of the Head of Internal Audit are outlined in Appendix 3. 

9.1.4 Head of Internal Audit for the Company

1) Control Environment
2) Risk Assessment
3) Control Activities
4) Information & Communication
5) Monitoring Activities
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For the years 2022 and 2023, the Company engaged in transactions with individuals who may have conflicts of interest, as detailed 
below (please refer to additional related transactions in the notes to the financial statements).

9.2.1 Information on Related Transactions with Potential Individuals
with Conflicts of Interest

9.2  Related Transactions

1. Mr. Sitthisak 
Thananitayaudom

1. Platform 
Development 
Consulting Fee 
for Nexmove

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance

1. Platform 
Development 
Consulting Fee 
for PRTR Link

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance

2. Platform 
Development 
Consulting Fee 
for The 
Blacksmith

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
The Company has engaged a consultant to perform 
duties related to the development of the Company 
Group’s platform. 

Audit Committee’s Opinion
• The aforementioned transaction is necessary for the 

benefit of the Company Group’s business operations 
and the consulting fee rate is the market rate and 
considered fair. 

Fairness and Reasonableness of Consulting 
Fees  

901,878

-

-

-

Individuals /
Juristic Persons
with Potential

Conflicts
of Interest 

Transaction
Nature

spouse of Ms. 
Onrudee 
Kettawee,            
the executive, 
director,              
and major 
shareholder of 
the Company. 

Relationship
Transaction

Value
in 2022
(Baht) 

Transaction
Value

in 2023
(Baht)

Necessity and Rationality
of the Transaction

• Mr. Sitthisak’s consulting fee rate of 1,875 Baht per 
hour falls within the price range proposed by 
benchmarking against rates of two comparable 
companies, which set consulting fees for a 
necessary position in a project ranging from 1,625 to 
3,750 Baht per hour. Therefore, the Company’s 
management believes that Mr. Sitthisak’s consulting 
fee rate is reasonable.

• The consulting service agreement has expired on 
October 31, 2022, and there was no engagement of 
Mr. Sitthisak as a consultant in November-December 
2022. However, after a thorough review for the 
business’s continuity, the management deems it 
appropriate to engage Mr. Sitthisak as a consultant 
going forward with the same consulting fee rate and 
terms. The Audit Committee, at the meeting No. 
1/2023 on February 23, 2023, considered and 
approved the proposal. Furthermore, at the 
Company Board meeting No. 3/2023 on February 
23, 2023, the resolution was passed to enter into a 
consulting service agreement with Mr. Sitthisak, 
maintaining the same consulting fee rate and terms.

293,438

-

314,063

-

-
-

238,126
-
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2. Ms. Risara 
Charoenpanich

Lends money to 
the Company

Beginning 
Balance
Additional Loan
Repayment
Brought Forward 
Interest 
Expenses

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
• At the Audit Committee Meeting No. 3/2022 and the 

Company Board Meeting No. 3/2022 held on June 7, 
2022, the borrowing of funds from the directors was 
approved within the limit of 70,000,000 Baht at an 
interest rate of 3.77% per annum. The borrowing 
and repayment period spanned from June 14 to 
June 20, 2022.

• On June 14, 2022, the Company borrowed a total of 
64,000,000 Baht from three directors and fully 
repaid the borrowed amount to the directors on 
June 20, 2022. The total interest paid amounted to 
39,663 Baht.

• The interest rate charged on the borrowed funds 
from the directors is comparable to the current 
interest rate of 3.77% per annum, which the 
Company receives from commercial banks.

Audit Committee’s Opinion and FA
The aforementioned transaction is essential to enhance 
liquidity, increase registered capital, and avoid any 
delays in the business transformation schedule. The 
interest rate is fair and comparable to the current 
borrowing costs of the Company. However, similar 
borrowing transactions should not recur in the future. 

-

45,000,000
(45,000,000)

-
27,888

• Director and 
executive of 
the Company 

• Major 
shareholder, 
as of 
December 28, 
2023, holding 
shares in the 
proportion of 
16.53 % of 
the Company’s 
paid-up 
capital. 

-

-
-
-
-

3. Ms. Onrudee 
Kettawee

Lends money to 
the Company

Beginning 
Balance
Additional Loan
Repayment
Brought Forward 
Interest 
Expenses

Lends money to 
the Company

Beginning 
Balance
Additional Loan
Repayment
Brought Forward 
Interest 
Expenses

-

14,000,000
(14,000,000)

-
8,676

• Director and 
executive of 
the Company

• Major 
shareholder, 
as of 
December 28, 
2023, holding 
shares in the 
proportion of 
15.04 % of 
the Company’s 
paid-up 
capital. 

-

-
-
-
-

4. Mr. Luck 
Dendee

-

5,000,000
(5,000,000)

-
3,099

• Director and 
executive of 
the Company 

• Shareholder, 
as of 
December 28, 
2023, holding 
shares in the 
proportion of 
8.01 % of the 
Company’s 
paid-up 
capital. 

-

-
-
-
-

Individuals /
Juristic Persons
with Potential

Conflicts
of Interest 

Transaction
Nature

Relationship
Transaction

Value
in 2022
(Baht) 

Transaction
Value

in 2023
(Baht)

Necessity and Rationality
of the Transaction
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5. Singer 
Thailand Public 
Company 
Limited

Outsourcing 
Personnel 
Service

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance

Personnel 
Recruitment 
Service

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance

Personnel 
Recruitment 
Service 

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance

213,608

39,204

• Mr. Chan 
Ittithavorn,        
the Company’s 
director, serves 
as the Chairman             
of Audit 
Committee and 
Independent 
Director at 
Singer Thailand 
Public 
Company 
Limited. 

Subsidiary of 
Jaymart Group 
Holdings PCL., 
the Company’s 
major 
shareholder. As 
of December 28, 
2023, Jaymart 
holds shares in 
the proportion 
of 15 percent of 
the Company’s 
paid-up capital.

Subsidiary of 
Jaymart Group 
Holdings PCL., 
the Company’s 
major 
shareholder. As 
of December 28, 
2023, Jaymart 
holds shares in 
the proportion 
of 15 percent of 
the Company’s 
paid-up capital.

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
Singer Thailand Public Company Limited wishes the 
Company to proceed with outsourcing employees, 
which is a regular transaction. 

Audit Committee’s Opinion
The aforementioned transaction is reasonable and 
serves the operational interests of the Company, 
aligning with normal business conditions.  

Reasonableness of Service Rates
This is a service fee rate under normal business 
conditions, following the terms of the service 
agreement with other outsourcing clients of the 
Company. 

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
JK Asset Management Company Limited wishes the 
Company to proceed with personnel recruitment 
service, which is a regular transaction.

Audit Committee’s Opinion
The aforementioned transaction is reasonable and 
serves the operational interests of the Company, 
aligning with normal business conditions.

Reasonableness of Service Rates
This is a service fee rate under normal business 
conditions, following the terms of the service 
agreement with other recruitment clients of the 
Company. 

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
J Asset Management Company Limited wishes the 
Company to proceed with personnel recruitment 
service, which is a regular transaction.

Audit Committee’s Opinion
The aforementioned transaction is reasonable and 
serves the operating interests of the Company, aligning 
with normal business conditions. 

Reasonableness of Service Rates
This is a service fee rate under normal business 
conditions, following the terms of the service 
agreement with other recruitment clients of the 
Company. 

293,576

15,953

6. JK Asset 
Management 
Company 
Limited

388,800

388,800

345,600

22,871

7. J Asset 
Management 
Company 
Limited

43,200

43,200

789,120

-

Individuals /
Juristic Persons
with Potential

Conflicts
of Interest 

Transaction
Nature

Relationship
Transaction

Value
in 2022
(Baht) 

Transaction
Value

in 2023
(Baht)

Necessity and Rationality
of the Transaction
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Source and Necessity of the Transaction
Jaymart Mobile Company Limited wishes the Company 
to proceed with outsourcing employees, which is a 
regular transaction.

Audit Committee’s Opinion
The aforementioned transaction is reasonable and 
serves the operating interests of the Company, aligning 
with normal business conditions. 

Reasonableness of Service Rates

Subsidiary of 
Jaymart Group 
Holdings PCL., 
the Company’s 
major 
shareholder. As 
of December 28, 
2023, Jaymart 
holds shares in 
the proportion 
of 15 percent of 
the Company’s 
paid-up capital.

This is a service fee rate under normal business 
conditions, following the terms of the service 
agreement with other outsourcing clients of the 
Company. 

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
Jaymart Mobile Company Limited wishes the Company 
to proceed with training service, which is a regular 
transaction. 

Audit Committee’s Opinion
The aforementioned transaction is reasonable and 
serves the operating interests of the Company, aligning 
with normal business conditions. 

Reasonableness of Service Rates
This is a service fee rate under normal business 
conditions, following the terms of the service 
agreement with other PRTR clients.

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
The Company purchases SIM cards from Jaymart Mobile 
Company Limited for outsourced employees as per the 
agreement made with customers. This is a regular 
business transaction. 

Audit Committee’s Opinion
The mentioned transaction is deemed necessary and 
beneficial for the Company Group’s business operations. 
The pricing is market-driven and fair. 

Reasonableness of Service Rates
This is a regular business transaction, and the 
procurement department compares prices according 
to outsourcing procurement regulations, which are 
the same conditions applied to other suppliers of the 
Company. 

8. Jaymart 
Mobile 
Company 
Limited

1) Outsourcing 
Personnel 
Service 

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance

2) Training 
Service 

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance

3) Personnel 
Oursourcing 
Service  

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance

-

-

2,913,923

390,112

-

-

314,299

-

-

-

640,000

-

Individuals /
Juristic Persons
with Potential

Conflicts
of Interest 

Transaction
Nature

Relationship
Transaction

Value
in 2022
(Baht) 

Transaction
Value

in 2023
(Baht)

Necessity and Rationality
of the Transaction
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9. BNN 
Restaurant 
Group Company 
Limited

Subsidiary of 
Jaymart Group 
Holdings PCL., 
the Company’s 
major 
shareholder. As 
of December 28, 
2023, Jaymart 
holds shares in 
the proportion 
of 15 percent of 
the Company’s 
paid-up capital.

10. JAS Asset 
Public Company 
Limited

Subsidiary of 
Jaymart Group 
Holdings PCL., 
the Company’s 
major 
shareholder. As 
of December 28, 
2023, Jaymart 
holds shares in 
the proportion 
of 15 percent of 
the Company’s 
paid-up capital.

8. Jaymart 
Mobile 
Company 
Limited
(continued)

Subsidiary of 
Jaymart Group 
Holdings PCL., 
the Company’s 
major 
shareholder. As 
of December 28, 
2023, Jaymart 
holds shares in 
the proportion 
of 15 percent of 
the Company’s 
paid-up capital.

-

-

50,841

-

-

-

1,280,770 

660,323

-

-

97,920

-

Individuals /
Juristic Persons
with Potential

Conflicts
of Interest 

Transaction
Nature

Relationship
Transaction

Value
in 2022
(Baht) 

Transaction
Value

in 2023
(Baht)

Necessity and Rationality
of the Transaction

4) Asset 
procurement – 
Monitor 

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
The Company purchases Assets – Monitors from Jaymart 
Mobile Company Limited for outsourced employees for 
use in the office premises. This is a regular business 
transaction. 

Audit Committee’s Opinion
The mentioned transaction is deemed necessary and 
beneficial for the Company Group’s business operations. 
The pricing is market-driven and fair.

Reasonableness of Service Rates
This is a regular business transaction, and the procurement 
department compares prices according to outsourcing 
procurement regulations, which are the same conditions 
applied to other suppliers of the Company. 

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
BNN Restaurant Group Company Limited requests the 
Company to process and generate reports detailing the 
timekeeping records of employees, including their 
clock-in and clock-out activities. This is a regular business 
transaction.  

Audit Committee’s Opinion
The aforementioned transaction is reasonable and serves 
the operating interests of the Company, aligning with 
normal business conditions. 

Reasonableness of Service Rates
This is a service fee rate under normal business conditions, 
following the terms of the service agreement with other 
clients of the Company. 

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
JAS Asset Public Company Limited wishes the Company 
to proceed with personnel recruitment service, which is a 
regular transaction.

Audit Committee’s Opinion
The aforementioned transaction is reasonable and serves 
the operating interests of the Company, aligning with 
normal business conditions.

Reasonableness of Service Rates
This is a service fee rate under normal business conditions, 
following the terms of the service agreement with other 
recruitment clients of the Company.

Personnel 
Outsourcing 
Service

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance

Personnel 
Recruitment 
Service

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance
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11. Jaymart 
Insurance Public 
Company 
Limited

Subsidiary of 
Jaymart Group 
Holdings PCL., 
the Company’s 
major 
shareholder. As 
of December 28, 
2023, Jaymart 
holds shares in 
the proportion 
of 15 percent of 
the Company’s 
paid-up capital.

Subsidiary of 
Jaymart Group 
Holdings PCL., 
the Company’s 
major 
shareholder. As 
of December 28, 
2023, Jaymart 
holds shares in 
the proportion 
of 15 percent of 
the Company’s 
paid-up capital.

Subsidiary of 
Jaymart Group 
Holdings PCL., 
the Company’s 
major 
shareholder. As 
of December 28, 
2023, Jaymart 
holds shares in 
the proportion 
of 15 percent of 
the Company’s 
paid-up capital.

1) Personnel 
Management 
Software Service 

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance
Advance Income

-

-

-

144,000

- 

128,000

-

-

124,391

-

-

-

297,000

-

12. JMT Network 
Services Public 
Company 
Limited

13. J Ventures 
Company 
Limited

Individuals /
Juristic Persons
with Potential

Conflicts
of Interest 

Transaction
Nature

Relationship
Transaction

Value
in 2022
(Baht) 

Transaction
Value

in 2023
(Baht)

Necessity and Rationality
of the Transaction

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
Jaymart Insurance Public Company Limited wishes the 
Company to proceed with personnel recruitment service, 
which is a regular transaction.

Audit Committee’s Opinion
The aforementioned transaction is reasonable and serves 
the operating interests of the Company, aligning with 
normal business conditions.

Reasonableness of Service Rates
This is a service fee rate under normal business conditions, 
following the terms of the service agreement with other 
recruitment clients of the Company.

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
JMT Network Services Public Company Limited wishes 
the Company to conduct employee training and provide 
training services through The Blacksmith platform. This is 
a regular business transaction.

Audit Committee’s Opinion
The aforementioned transaction is reasonable and serves 
the operating interests of the Company, aligning with 
normal business conditions.

Reasonableness of Service Rates
This is a service fee rate under normal business conditions, 
following the terms of the service agreement with other 
training service clients of the Company.

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
J Ventures Company Limited requests the Company to 
provide personnel management software service. This is 
a regular business transaction.

Audit Committee’s Opinion
The aforementioned transaction is reasonable and serves 
the operating interests of the Company, aligning with 
normal business conditions.

Reasonableness of Service Rates
This is a service fee rate under normal business conditions, 
following the terms of the service agreement with other 
personnel management software clients of the Company. 

Personnel 
Recruitment 
Service

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance

Training Service 

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance
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14. Jaymart 
Group Holdings 
Public Company 
Limited

Company’s major 
shareholder. As 
of December 28, 
2023, Jaymart 
holds shares in 
the proportion 
of 15 percent of 
the Company’s 
paid-up capital. 

13. J Ventures 
Company 
Limited
(continued)

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
J Ventures Company Limited and the Company have 
entered into the Joint Project Development and Profit 
Sharing Agreement for the Pah Advance Project, 
where: 
1.  J Ventures is the developer of the Pah Advance 

system, a service platform that provides advance 
payment services to customers, who are ordinary 
customers.

2. In order to serve as an employee benefit for the 
customers’ staff, J Ventures aims to provide 
convenient services in terms of advance payment 
benefits on the Pah Advance system. This is 
intended to enhance the efficiency of managing 
advance payment benefits within the organization. 
With the intention of developing an integrated 
connection between the PRTR Connect system, 
developed and copyrighted by PRTR and the Pah 
Advance system (an advance payment service for 
employee benefits), developed and copyrighted by J 
Ventures, a project is underway to facilitate advance 
payment benefits for customers’ staff within the Pah 
Advance system

3. J Ventures is authorized to engage in the credit 
business as per the Pico License for provincial-level 
credit businesses under the supervision of the Office 
of the Consumer Protection Board, License No. 
46/2020, dated March 21, 2020. 

Reasonableness of Service Rates
The service rates are reasonable and follow normal 
business conditions, following with the conditions 
shared with other business partners by J Ventures 
Company Limited. 

-

-

46,861

-

Training Service 

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance
Advance Income 

-

-

-

875

-

44,875

Individuals /
Juristic Persons
with Potential

Conflicts
of Interest 

Transaction
Nature

Relationship
Transaction

Value
in 2022
(Baht) 

Transaction
Value

in 2023
(Baht)

Necessity and Rationality
of the Transaction

Subsidiary of 
Jaymart Group 
Holdings PCL., 
the Company’s 
major 
shareholder. As 
of December 28, 
2023, Jaymart 
holds shares in 
the proportion 
of 15 percent of 
the Company’s 
paid-up capital.

2) Pah Advance 
Service

Transaction 
Value
Outstanding 
Balance

Source and Necessity of the Transaction
Jaymart Group Holdings Public Company Limited wishes 
the Company to conduct employee training and provide 
training services through The Blacksmith platform. This is 
a regular business transaction. 

Audit Committee’s Opinion
The aforementioned transaction is reasonable and serves 
the operational interests of the Company, aligning with 
normal business conditions.

Reasonableness of Service Rates
This is a service fee rate under normal business conditions, 
following the terms of the service agreement with other 
training service clients of the Company. 
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The guarantee by the director is a historical transaction, and there are no guarantee fees incurred, benefiting both the Company and 
its subsidiaries. In this regard, after the Company has been listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand, there will be no such transactions 
in the future.

Lender

Leasing
Contract N/A 0.74

Full guarantee for
the entire credit limit 

Loan
Type

Load
Credit

(million
Baht)

Outstanding
Debt as of

Dec 31, 2023
(million Baht)

Ms. Risara
Charoenpanich หมายเหตุ

หมายเหตุ

The leasing contract will expire on September 15, 2025.KTIBJ 

Credit Guarantee, Pledge, and Mortgage Obligations

Measures or Procedures for Approving Related Transactions

Audit Committee’s Opinion

As of December 31, 2023, the bank has fully released the guarantee obligations of all directors. Additionally, PRTR has no policy to 
arrange additional guarantees by potentially conflicting individuals.

1) Loan Agreement with a Bank as of December 31, 2023:

At the Board of Directors Meeting No. 2/2022 on May 13, 2022, a resolution was passed regarding the policy on conducting related 
transactions and connected transactions, as well as the conflict of interest policy. PRTR is aware of the importance of conducting 
business with transparency and fairness to all shareholders equally. Therefore, the Company has established policies and standards for 
controlling related transactions of the Company and its subsidiaries with related parties (major shareholders, directors, executives, or 
individuals associated with such persons, who may have conflicts of interest, gains or losses or potential conflicts of interest in the 
future) in accordance with securities and exchange laws. The details are as follows:
1. The Company shall act in accordance with the Company’s policy, securities and exchange laws, regulations, announcements, 

orders, or requirements of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, the Securities and Exchange Commission and/or the Stock 
Exchange of Thailand. In this regard, engaging in such transactions shall not involve any transfer or diversion of benefits between 
the Company or the Company’s shareholders. Instead, transactions must be conducted with careful consideration of the utmost 
benefit to the Company and the significance of all shareholders.

2. In the case of transactions that are regular or supportive of normal business operations and are expected to occur continuously in 
the future, the Company will proceed in accordance with the criteria and guidelines for general commercial practices. This involves 
referencing appropriate prices and conditions, ensuring fairness, reasonableness, verifiability and compliance with general commercial 
agreement principles as approved in Board meetings. In this regard, the management will prepare a summary of such transactions for 
quarterly reporting to the Audit Committee and for the preparation of the annual Form 56-1 One Report.

3. The execution of related transactions or connected transactions that are not part of general commercial practices requires consideration 
and opinions from the Audit Committee regarding the necessity and appropriateness of the transaction prices. This involves evaluating 
prices and conditions that are fair, reasonable and in line with the nature of normal business operations in the industry. Additionally, 
comparisons may be made with external party prices, market prices, or prices and conditions of transactions at the same level as those 
with external parties. It should be evident that such transactions are priced or conditioned reasonably and fairly or are in line with 
market standards and subsequently present it to the Company’s Board of Directors for consideration and approval. However, if the 
transaction is of significant size according to the regulations set by the Stock Exchange of Thailand, the Capital Market Supervisory Board, 
and the Securities and Exchange Commission, it must be brought forward for approval at the shareholders’ meeting following the 
consideration and approval.

9.2.2 Policy or Trends Regarding Related Transactions in the Future
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4. 

5.  

In considering the approval of related transactions or transactions related to major shareholders, directors, executives, or individuals 
who may have conflicts of interest, or persons with relationships with the Company, participating directors with vested interests, 
and/or related directors will not attend the meeting and will not have the right to vote on the approval of such transactions. This 
is to ensure confidence that engaging in such transactions will not involve the transfer or diversion of Company benefits, but rather, 
will be a transaction that prioritizes the maximum benefit of the Company and places importance on the shareholders. 
The disclosure of related transactions or connected transactions of the Company will adhere to the laws and regulations stipulated 
by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Stock Exchange of Thailand. Additionally, it will comply with accounting 
standards related to the Company or related persons set by the Federation of Accounting Professions.

A forthcoming related transaction involves engaging Mr. Sitthisak Thananitayaudom as a consultant for Nexmove. This will be conducted 
in accordance with the Securities Act, regulations, announcements, orders, or requirements of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, 
the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the Stock Exchange of Thailand. The execution of this transaction will not entail the 
transfer or shifting of benefits from PRTR or its shareholders but will be a transaction where PRTR has considered the maximum benefit 
for itself, with the importance of all shareholders. 

- None - 

Trends in Conducting Related Transactions in the Future

9.2.3 Reasons for persons who may have conflicting interests to hold shares
in subsidiaries or joint ventures exceeding 10%, instead of directly holding
shares in the Company:
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Attachment 1

The information of Board of Directors,
Executives, Controlling Persons,

Chief Officer of Finance and Accounting,
Company Secretary



1.  The information of Board of Directors, Executives, Controlling Persons,
Chief Officer of Finance and Accounting, Company Secretary

2021 – Present S W P Asset Management Co.,Ltd. / 
Asset Management

Director

2012 – Present Srisawad Corporation PLC.,Ltd. / 
Financial

Chairman of the Board of 
Directors

2015 – Present JAS Asset PLC.,Ltd. / Real Estate 
Development

Chairman of the Board             
of Directors                             
/ Independent Director

2017 - 2020 Srisawad Capital PLC.,Ltd. /                   
Granting Credit 

Chairman of the Board of 
Directors

2014 - 2019  World Corporation PLC.,Ltd. /                  
Invest in other businesses

Chairman of the Board of 
Directors

2009 - 2017 CIMB Thai Bank PLC.,Ltd / BankVice Chairman of the Board 
of Directors / Independent  
Director / Chairman of the 
Audit Committee

Work Experience

Education / Training
PositionPeriod

Position in Other Listed Company

Position in Other Non - Listed Company / Other Organization

Company / Organization
(Type of Business)

1. Mr. Sukont Kanjana-huttakit Total Shareholding1 (%)

Age: 77 Years old

0.16%

Family Relationship
with other Management

- None -

• Chairman of the Board of Directors
• Independent Director                            

(Date appointed as Director on November 11, 2019)

• Master Degree of Accounting,              

Virginia Polytechnic State University

• Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting,   

Virginia Polytechnic State University

• ACP 30/2553

• DAP 96/2550 
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2. Mr. Chan Itthithavorn

Age: 55 Years old

• Chairman of the Audit Committee                      
(He has knowledge and experience                           
in accounting and finance)

• Member of Nomination                                             
and Remuneration Committee

• Independent Director                                               

(Date appointed as Director on November 11, 2019)

2015 – Present FAHBUNDANSAP Co.,Ltd. / Real EstateExecutive Directors

2020 – Present Nanapan Argi-Industrial Co.,Ltd.Directors

2020 – Present Sit Indy Market  Co.,Ltd. / MagazineDirectors

2020 – Present Singer Thailand PLC.,Ltd. /                       
Distributor of electrical appliances.

Independent Director/ 
Chairman of the Audit 
Committee / Member of 
Nomination and                         
Remuneration Committee

2020 - 2023 Relax the body  Co.,Ltd. /                          
Rehabilitation Medicine Clinic

Directors

2015 - 2020 Bunny Venture Co.,Ltd. / Software 
Consulting

Managing Director

2015 - 2020 Bunny Corp Co.,Ltd. / Retail                       
supplements

Managing Director

2015 - 2020 Bunny Network Co.,Ltd./ Publication/ 
media

Managing Director

• Master of Business Administration, 

Finance & Management of Information 

System, University of Minnesota, MN, 

U.S.A

• Bachelor’s Degree in Business                       

Administration, Finance and Banking, 

Chulalongkorn University

• ACP 38/2563

• DAP 162/2562

Position in Other Listed Company

Position in Other Non - Listed Company / Other Organization

Total Shareholding1 (%)
- None -

Work Experience

Education / Training
PositionPeriod Company / Organization

(Type of Business)

Family Relationship
with other Management

- None -
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2018 – Present Director

2016 – Present Three Sixty Six BN Co.,Ltd. / Real Estate 
Development

Director

2015 – Present Three Sixty Six Co.,Ltd. / Engineering 
and Consulting

Director

2019 - 2022 WHA Utilities and Power PLC.,Ltd./ 
Energy 

Chief Executive Officer

2016 - 2019 Three Utilities Co.,Ltd. / UtilitiesChief Operating Officer

• Doctor of Industrial Management, 

King Mongkut's Institute                     

of Technology Ladkrabang

• Master of Engineering Management,

• Drexel University, USA

• Master Degree of Mechanical 

Engineering, Drexel University, USA

• Bachelor’s Degree of Mechanical 

Engineering,  King Mongkut's Institute 

of Technology Ladkrabang

• AACP 49/2566 

• DLCP 1/2564

• SFE 13/2554

• RCC 11/2553

• FSD 9/2553

• DCP 120/2552

Innovative Solution and Trading 
Co.,Ltd. / Import-export construction 
equipment 

3. Mr. Niphon Bundechanan

Age: 53 Years old

• Chairman of the  Nomination                
and Remuneration Committee

• Member of the Audit Committee
• Independent Director                                         

(Date appointed as Director on November 11, 2019)

Position in Other Listed Company

Position in Other Non - Listed Company / Other Organization

Work Experience

Education / Training
PositionPeriod Company / Organization

(Type of Business)

Total Shareholding1 (%)

Family Relationship
with other Management

0.1%

- None -
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2022 –  Present Thailand  The Minor Food Group 
PLC.,Ltd. / Hotel & Restaurant

Chief Operating Officer   – 
Thailand

2023 –  Present S&P Syndicate PLC.,Ltd.Independent Director

2015 – Present Union Galvanizer Co.,Ltd. / Metal 
decoration and coating industry

Chairman of the Board of 
Directors

2022 - Present Select Service Partner Co.,Ltd. / Food 
and Beverage

Director

2018 - 2022 MC Thai Co.,Ltd./ RestaurantManaging Director

2015 - 2018

การดํารงตําแหน่งในบริษัทจํากัด / กิจการอื่น

Zen Corporation Group PLC.,Ltd. / 
Restaurant

Deputy Chief Executive 
Office

• Bachelor of Science in Electrical    

Engineering and Computer Science,       

MIT, USA

• Master of Engineering in Electrical 

Engineering and Computer Science,       

MIT, USA

• MBA, MIT Sloan School of Management, 

USA

• DAP 129/2559

4. Mr. Thunyachate Ekvetchavit

Age: 49 Years old

• Independent Director
• Member of the Audit Committee
• Member of the Nomination                 

and Remuneration Committee             
(Date appointed as Director on November 11, 2019)

Total Shareholding1 (%)

Family Relationship
with other Management

0.16%

- None -

Work Experience

Education / Training
PositionPeriod Company / Organization

(Type of Business)

Position in Other Listed Company
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2016 – Present JMART Group Holding  PLC., Ltd.Vice President

2014 - 2016 Malee Group PLC., Ltd. Senior Vice President

2013 - 2014 Nok Airlines PLC., Ltd.Vice President

2004 - 2013 The Stock Exchange of ThailandDeputy Director

• Master of Economics (English 

Program) , Thammasat University

• Bachelor of Economics, Thammasat 

University

• DAP 22/2566

5. Mr. Panya Chutisiriwong
• Director                                        

(Date appointed as Director on April 20, 2023)

การดํารงตําแหน่งในบริษัทจํากัด / กิจการอื่น

Total Shareholding1 (%)

Family Relationship
with other Management

- None -

- None -

Work Experience

Education / Training
PositionPeriod Company / Organization

(Type of Business)

Position in Other Listed Company

Age: 45 Years old
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• Master’s Degree of  Marketing 

Communication, Illinois Institute of 

Chicago, USA

• Bachelor of Arts (Journalism), 

Thammasat University

• DAP 149/2560

• SFE 42/2566

• CGE 22/2566 

2019 - Present Director

PRTR and Business Process Outsourcing 
Co., Ltd. / Human Resources Management

2013 - 2014 Director

PRTR Recruitment Co.,Ltd. /                
Human Resources Management

2021 - Present Director The Blacksmith Co.,Ltd. /                  
Human Resources Management

2021 - Present Director Nexmove Platform Recruitment Co.,Ltd. 
/  Human Resources Management

Present Director Pinno Solution Co.,Ltd. /                    
Human Resources Management

Present Director PRTR Global Recruitment Co., Ltd. / 
Human Resources Management

Present Director PRTR Recruitment and Outsourcing 
(Eastern Seaboard) Co.,Ltd. /              
Human Resources Management

16.53%

6. Ms. Risara Charoenpanich
• Director
• Member of the Nomination                                 

and Remuneration Committee
• Chairman of the Executive Committee
• Chief Executive Officer                                     

(Date appointed as Director on February 25, 2020)

- None -

Position in Other Non - Listed Company / Other Organization

Work Experience

Education / Training
PositionPeriod Company / Organization

(Type of Business)

Total Shareholding1 (%)

Family Relationship
with other Management

- None -

Age: 45 Years old

Position in Other Listed Company
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Pinno Solution Co.,Ltd. /                     
Human Resources Management

Present Director

• Master of Management Information 

System, Thammasat University

• Bachelor of Business Administration, 

Suan Dusit University

• CSP 105/2563

• DAP 164/2562

• Strategic CFO in Capital Markets 

Program Class 5/2017, The Stock 

Exchange of Thailand

• CFO’s Refresher Class 2/2021, 

December 2021

• E-learning CFO’s Refresher Course, 

June 2022

0.43%

7. Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek2

• Director
• Executive Director
• Head of Shared Service
• Head of Investor Relations

• Company Secretary                                
(Date appointed as Director on November 11, 2019)

- None -

Position in Other Non - Listed Company / Other Organization

Work Experience

Education / Training
PositionPeriod Company / Organization

(Type of Business)

Total Shareholding1 (%)

Family Relationship
with other Management

- None -

Age: 46 Years old

Position in Other Listed Company
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• Master of Business Administration, 

National Institute of Development 

Administration (NIDA)

• Bachelor of Marketing, University    

of the Thai Chamber of Commerce

• DAP 164/2562

0.38%

8. Mr. Phukphong Ratanaprapai
• Director
• Member of the Nomination                               

and Remuneration Committee
• Executive Director
• Senior Vice-President of Executive 

Operations Division, Outsourcing 

Operations Services                              
(Date appointed as Director on November 11, 2019)

- None -

- None -

Position in Other Non - Listed Company / Other Organization

Position in Other Listed Company

Work Experience

Education / Training
PositionPeriod Company / Organization

(Type of Business)

Total Shareholding1 (%)

Family Relationship
with other Management

- None -

Age: 52 Years old

202
Annual Report 2023  (Form 56-1 One Report)
PRTR Group Public Company Limited  

Attachment



• Bachelor of Economic,                    

Chulalongkorn University

• MBA, Marketing, Loyola University, 

Chicago, USA

• DAP 149/2561

15.04%

9. Ms. Onrudee Kettawee

Age: 43 Years old

• Director
• Executive Director
• Senior Vice-President of Outsourcing                

Sales and Recruitment Division,                         

Outsourcing Services                                         
(Date appointed as Director on February 25, 2020)

Present Director Pinno Solution Co.,Ltd. /                    
Human Resources Management

Present Director The Blacksmith Co.,Ltd. /                    
Human Resources Management 

Present Director Nexmove Platform Recruitment Co.,Ltd. 
/  Human Resources Management

Present Director PRTR Recruitment Co.,Ltd. /                
Human Resources Management

Present Director PRTR Recruitment and Outsourcing 
(Eastern Seaboard) Co.,Ltd. /               
Human Resources Management  

- None -

Position in Other Non - Listed Company / Other Organization

Position in Other Listed Company

Work Experience

Education / Training
PositionPeriod Company / Organization

(Type of Business)

Total Shareholding1 (%)

Family Relationship
with other Management

- None -
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Present Director

• Bachelor of Business Administration, 

University of the Thai Chamber              

of Commerce

• DAP 149/2561

The Blacksmith Co.,Ltd. /                  
Human Resources Management

Present Director PRTR Recruitment Co.,Ltd. /                  
Human Resources Management

8.01%

10. Mr. Luck Dendee
• Director  
• Executive Director 
• Senior Vice-President                        

of Recruitment Services                                         
(Date appointed as Director on February 25, 2020 )

- None -

Position in Other Non - Listed Company / Other Organization

Position in Other Listed Company

Work Experience

Education / Training
PositionPeriod Company / Organization

(Type of Business)

Total Shareholding1 (%)

Family Relationship
with other Management

- None -

Age: 54 Years old
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2021 - 2023 Clover Power PLC., Ltd.Chief Financial Officer

2017 - 2021 JKN Global Group PLC., Ltd.Chief Financial Officer

• Master of Business Administration, 

Kasetsart University

• Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting, 

Thammasat University

- None -

11. Mr. Teeraphat Petporee3

• Chief Financial Officer

Age: 49 Years old

Total Shareholding1 (%)

Family Relationship
with other Management

- None -

Work Experience

Education / Training
PositionPeriod Company / Organization

(Type of Business)
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2013 - Present PRTR Group PLC., Ltd.Senior Vice-President            
of Executive Recruitment

• Master of Arts, History University of 

Glasow, Scotland

• Post Graduate Diploma, Marketing, 

Glasgow Caledonian University,  

Scotland

2.43%

12. Mr. David Pollock
• Senior Vice-President                               

of Executive Recruitment

Age: 52 Years old

Total Shareholding1 (%)

Family Relationship
with other Management

- None -

Work Experience

Education / Training
PositionPeriod Company / Organization

(Type of Business)
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13. Ms.Kanlaya Pattarakulsri4

Age: 44 Years old

• Accountant

2021 - Present Assistant Vice President 
Accounting and Finance 
Department

2018 - 2021 Senior Manager 
Accounting and Finance 
Department

2015 - 2018  Manager Accounting   
and Finance Department

• Bachelor’s Degree of Accounting, 

Ramkhamhaeng University

• Master’s Degree of   Accounting, 

Ramkhamhaeng University

• Continuing Professional Development 

(CPD) – Budget for Profit Planning 

Class 1/2022, 6 hours, May 26, 2022

• Preparation of financial statements 

Preparing account closing information 

and presenting financial statements 

in accordance with financial 

reporting standards before 

submitting financial statements 

course, 6 hours, December 20,2022

• Understanding the Fundamental 

TFRS 9, Class 3/2023, 6 hours, 

October 11, 2023 

• Strategic Management Accounting, 

Class 1/2023, 6 hours, November 28, 

2023

PRTR Group PLC., Ltd.

 Remark:  1 The Company's shareholding percentage as of December 28, 2023

   2 Ms. Narita Adulkaewphaluek is a Company Secretary

   3 Mr. Teeraphat Petporee is a Chief Financial Officer

   4 Ms.Kanlaya Pattarakulsri is an Accountant

- None -

Work Experience

Education / Training
PositionPeriod Company / Organization

(Type of Business)

Total Shareholding1 (%)

Family Relationship
with other Management

- None -
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2.  The position of the directors, executives, and controlling persons

Company and Subsidiaries 1. 
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PRTR Group PLC., Ltd.

PRTR Recruitment Co.,Ltd

PRTR Recruitment and Outsourcing (Eastern Seaboard) 
Co.,Ltd. 

Nexmove Platform Recruitment Co.,Ltd.

The Blacksmith Co.,Ltd.

Pinno Solution Co.,Ltd.

PRTR Global Recruitment Co., Ltd.

Ex/D/

M/N

D/E/M D/E/M D/E/M D/N/

E/M

D

MD

D

D

D

E E E

E

D/M

D/M

D/M

D/M

D/M D

M

M

M

M

M

X/ID Ax/ID/N Nx/ID/A ID/A/N

 Remark:

 X = Chairman of the Board of Directors  Ex = Chairman of the Executive Committee  Ax = Chairman of the Audit Committee  

 D = Director    E  = Executive Director    A  = Member of the Audit Committee  

 Nx = Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee     ID =  Independent Director  

 N  = Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee     M = Management

3.  History of punishment of the directors, management and controlling
persons in the past 5 years.

- None -
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Attachment 2

Information of Directors of Subsidiaries



Information of Directors of Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries Miss. Risara
Charoenpanich

Miss. Onrudee
Kettawee 

Mr. Luck
Dendee

Miss.
Janyaporn

Virotwutthikul

Miss.Jariya
Boonpitak

sathit 

Miss. Narita
Adulkaew
phaluek

Miss.
Bongkoch

Pathcharapak

Mr.Kritch
Wirotsailee

Miss. Srirat
Chuchot
thavon

Nexmove Platform Recruitment  

Co.,Ltd. 

// /

// -

// /

The Blacksmith  Co.,Ltd. // /

-

-

-

/

//

-

-

-

-

-

//

-

Pinno Solution  Co.,Ltd. // // - - -

-

-

-

-

//

PRTR Recruitment and Outsourcing 

(Eastern Seaboard) Co.,Ltd.

PRTR Recruitment Global Co.,Ltd.

// / // - - -

-

//

-

-

-

-

-

-

- /

-

-

-

-

/

- - -PRTR Recruitment Co.,Ltd.

 Remark:  

 / = Director // = Executive Director
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Attachment 3

The Information of Head Internal Audit
Office and Compliance 



The Information of Head Internal Audit Office and Compliance 

Company Name PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Company Limited

Name of Person Assigned Ms. Chalida Kongprajya

Education

Work Experience

• Master’s Degree in Risk Management (Honors), The University of Nottingham, UK

• Bachelor’s Degree in of Commerce and Accountancy, International Program (Honors), 

Thammasat University

Certification • Certified Public Accounting (CPA), Thailand

• Partner of Corporate Governance, Risk Management, Internal Control and Internal Audit, 

PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Company Limited

• Partner of Reliability work and Account Verification, PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS 

Company Limited

Training • Internal Audit in a Quick and Ever-changing World, Institute of Internal Auditors

• The importance of the audit committee to the confidence of the Thai capital market,    

The Stock Exchange of Thailand

• Corporate Reporting Forum 2023, PwC Thailand

• Get to Know the New Global Internal Audit Standards, The institute of internal auditors 

• Future Focused: Unpacking The IIA’s Updated AI Framework, The institute of internal 

auditors

Position Head of Internal Audit

PRTR has hired PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Company Limited (“PWC”) since 2023 to review and assess adequacy of the internal 
control system of operational process, including  monitor the improvements and solving various issues that arise and reporting directly 
to the Audit Committee. The person assigned to serve as the head of internal audit are as follows:

Head of Compliance
 The Company does not have a head of compliance. Therefore, the company secretary will serve as the coordinator for internal 
auditors.
 The Company Secretary is the person assigned to perform the duties of the head of compliance and responsible for overseeing 
and coordinating with other department to comply with various related laws, regulations, requirements, rules, the resolution of the Board 
of Directors, the resolution of the shareholders, corporate governance policy and code of conduct of the Company. (The profile of the 
Company Secretary can be viewed in Attachment 1.)

• Prepare an annual inspection plan in accordance with the policies and plans of the Company.

• Determine the section method.

• Report the progress of inspection work and report inspection results in urgent matters and prepare a summary of what was found.

• Meeting to discuss and exchange opinions with the other department in order to summarize improvements and solutions.

• Prepare a report summarizing the results of the audit to present to the Audit Committee and management.

Responsibilities of the Head of Internal Audit
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Attachment 4

Business Assets and Details on Asset Valuation



Business Assets and Details on Asset Valuation

 Please see additional details in Section 1.2.2 Business Assets, section 1 Company Structure and Operations

 Details on Asset Valuation    - None - 
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Attachment 5

Policy and Guideline on Corporate Governance
and Code of Conduct



1.  Corporate Governance Policy

Principle 1 - The Board of Directors is aware of the roles and responsibilities
    as an organization leader that creates sustainable value
    for the business.

 The PRTR Group Public Company Limited holds the belief that the corporate governance process aids in fostering efficient 
and effective management. It emphasizes caution, transparency and verifiability, fostering trust and confidence among shareholders, 
stakeholders and all concerned parties. This approach assists the Company in aligning with strategies, objectives and goals, resulting in 
sound operating performance. Moreover, it allows for appropriate adaptation to changes and facilitates sustainable growth and 
long-term value creation for the business.
Therefore, the Company has established a corporate governance policy in line with the principles of good corporate governance as 
stipulated in the Corporate Governance Code (CG Code) by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). This policy serves as a 
guideline for practice and conduct for all concerned parties, and it mandates periodic reviews of the governance policy at least once a 
year to ensure its appropriateness in response to changing business conditions and circumstances.The Board of Directors of the PRTR 
Group Public Company Limited recognizes the significance of corporate governance as a fundamental factor in fostering fairness among 
shareholders, enhancing the Company’s operations to achieve its strategies and objectives, creating value for shareholders and ensuring 
stable and sustainable growth. To this end, the Board has established principles and practices based on the 8 principles of corporate 
governance are as follows;

The Board should demonstrate a thorough understanding of its leadership role, assume its responsibilities in overseeing the company, 
and strengthen good governance, including: 
 (1)   defining objectives
 (2)   determining means to attain the objectives and 
 (3)   monitoring, evaluating, and reporting on performance.

• Principle 1.1

To achieve sustainable value creation, the board should exercise its leadership role and pursue the following governance outcomes:
      (1)   Competitiveness and Performance with Long-Term Perspective
 (2)   Ethical and Responsible Business
 (3)   Good Corporate Citizenship
 (4)   Corporate Resilience

In this regard, the Board of Directors is committed to adhering to the following principles in overseeing the Company, leading to 
effective corporate governance outcomes:

• Principle 1.2

Principle 1
Establish Clear

Leadership Role
and Responsibilities

of the Board

Principle 3
Strengthen Board

Effectiveness

Principle 5
Nurture Innovation

and Responsible
Business

Principle 4
Ensure Effective
CEO and People

Management

Principle 7
Ensure Disclosure

and Financial
Integrity 

Principle 6
Strengthen Effective

Risk Management
and Internal

Control 

Principle 8
Ensure Engagement
and Communication

with Shareholders

Principle 2
Define Objectives

that Promote
Sustainable Value

Creation
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The board should ensure that all directors and executives perform their responsibilities in compliance with their fiduciary duties, and 
that the company operates in accordance with applicable law and standards, including material investment, related party transaction, 
acquisition/disposal of assets, and dividend payment decisions.

• Principle 1.3

The board should demonstrate a thorough understanding of the division of board and management responsibilities. The board should 
clearly define the roles and responsibilities of management and monitor management’s proper performance of its duties. 
1.4.1  The board should adopt a written policy (such as a charter) that clearly sets out the roles and responsibilities of the board and 
        management. The board should regularly review the policy.

The board is responsible and accountable for the overall affairs of the company but may delegate day-to-day management duties.    
The board must provide written directions to management that clearly set out management’s responsibilities.

• Principle 1.4

Means the matters for which the board has primary responsibility are matters that the board should fully consider. Some matters may 
be decided following recommendation by management as appropriate.

     (1) Defining objectives and business model.
     (2) Developing culture of compliance and ethical conduct,  
 and lead by example.
     (3) Strengthening an effective board structure and practices  
 conducive for achieving the company’s objectives. 

     (4) Ensuring suitable CEO selection, remuneration,  

 development, and performance evaluation.

     (5) Ensuring appropriate compensation architecture that  

 supports achievement of the company’s objectives. 

Matters for which the board has primary responsibility:

1.2.1 The Board of Directors shall consider the ethical impacts on society and the environment as  crucial, beyond mere financial 
 performance. 
1.2.2  The Board of Directors shall act as exemplars in overseeing the Company, adhering steadfastly to organizational values and  
 ethics and performing duties with integrity to drive the organizational culture firmly grounded in ethics.
1.2.3 The Board of Directors shall establish policies for directors, executives and employees that  articulate principles and guidelines  
 for operations in written form, such as the code of conduct. 
1.2.4   The Board of Directors shall oversee communication to ensure that all directors, executives and employees understand,  
 have adequate mechanisms to facilitate actual adherence to the above policies, monitor compliance and regularly review  
 policies and practices.

Means the matters involving shared responsibility of the board and management are matters requiring joint consideration between    
the board and management. The board must closely monitor these matters and seek regular reports from management. Including      
the matters;

Matters involving shared responsibility of the board and management:

     (1) Formulating and reviewing policies and strategies, plans  
 and targets. 
     (2) Ensuring robust system for risk management and internal  
 control 
     (3) Clearly defining management’s responsibilities

     (4) Overseeing appropriate policies and plans for resource  

 allocation, including HR, IT, and budgeting.

     (5) Monitoring and evaluating financial and non-financial  

 corporate performance.

     (6) Ensuring integrity of financial and non-financial information  

 disclosures.
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Pinciple 2  - Define Objectives that Promote Sustainable Value Creation 

The board should define objectives that promote sustainable value creation and governance outcomes as a framework for the operation 
of the company.
2.1.1 The board should ensure that the company has clearly defined objectives that support the company’s business model.  
 The board should ensure company-wide communication of the objectives, for instance, in the form of the company’s vision  
 and values, or principles and purposes. 
2.1.2 When developing the business model for sustainable value creation, the board should take into consideration the following  
 factors:

 (1)   the company’s ecosystem, including changes to business conditions and opportunities, and the company’s effective use of  
       innovation and technology
 (2)   customers and other stakeholders, that will be taken into account in setting the main objectives or goals. To have a balance.
 (3)   available resources and competitiveness of the company.
 (4)   the purposes of the company
 (5)   the customer of the Company
 (6)   the company’s value proposition.
 (7)   The Company's ability to survive in the long term (Sustainable) under both opportunity and risk factors affecting the Company  
       and stakeholders.

• Pinciple 2.1

• Pinciple 2.2

Means the matters that the board should delegate to management are matters in which the board should refrain from active involvement 
in normal circumstances. Including the matters;

     (1) Engaging in activities which under normal circumstances are not expected roles of the board, including day-to-day management  
 and decisions (such as procurement and staffing), ongoing monitoring that conduct and operations are in compliance with the  
 company’s policies, strategies, plans, and applicable law and standards. 
     (2) Not getting involved in or influencing matters in which a director may have vested interests.

Matters that the board should delegate or not get involved with:

2.1.3 The company’s values should reflect characteristics of good corporate governance, such as accountability, integrity, transparency,  
 and due consideration of social and environmental responsibilities. 
2.1.4 The board should promote a good corporate governance culture and strive to have the company’s objectives embedded        
 in company-wide decision-making and conduct through effective communication and leading by example.

2.2.1 The board should ensure that the company’s annual and medium-term (for example, 3 - 5 years) objectives, goals, strategies,  
 and plans correlate and align with the company’s long-term objectives, while considering the business environment, opportunities,  
 and the company’s risk appetite. The board should ensure that the company’s medium-term objectives, goals, strategies, and  
 plans are annually reviewed and updated as appropriate. 
2.2.2 The board should ensure that the company’s strategies and plans take into account all relevant factors influencing the value  
 chain, including the company’s ecosystem, risks, resources, competitiveness, and stakeholders. The board should ensure that  
 a mechanism for stakeholder engagement is in place that:
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Principle 3  - Strengthen Board Effectiveness

The board should be responsible for determining and reviewing the board structure, in terms of size, composition, and the proportion 
of independent directors so as to ensure its leadership role in achieving the company’s objectives.
3.1.1 The board should establish a skills matrix to ensure that the board consists of directors with appropriate and the necessary  
 qualifications, knowledge, skills, experience, character traits, with an appropriate gender and age balance and diversity to  
 achieve the objectives of the company and stakeholder interests. 
3.1.2 The board should determine the proper number of directors to function effectively. It must comprise at least 5 directors and  
 should not be more than 12 directors, depending on the company’s size, type, and complexity of the business.
3.1.3 The proportion between executive directors and non-executive directors should support proper checks and balances to prevent  
 unfettered power of decision and authority by any one individual and the number and qualifications of the independent  
 non-executive directors should reflect applicable legal requirements. 
3.1.4 The board should explicitly disclose in the company’s annual report and on the website its diversity policies and details  
 relating to directors, including directors’ age, gender, qualifications, experience, shareholding percentage, years of service as  
 director, and director position in other listed companies

• Principle 3.1

     (1) Clearly defines stakeholder engagement policies, procedures, and practices that enable the company to identify and assess  
 the interests of each stakeholder group.
     (2) Clearly identifies stakeholder groups (internal and external, short term and long term) including individuals, groups, and entities,  
 such as employees and staff, investors, customers, business partners, communities, society, environment, government agencies  
 and regulators.
     (3) Identifies, prioritises and addresses stakeholder concerns and expectations, considering their level of importance and (potential)  
 impact on the company.

2.2.3 When developing strategies and plans, the board should promote innovation and the use of technology to enhance competitiveness,  
 respond to stakeholder concerns and expectations, and meet social and environmental responsibilities.
2.2.4 In considering the approval of the company’s targets (financial and non-financial), the board should ensure that they are  
 suitable to the company’s business profile, and they do not cause the company to engage in illegal or unethical conduct.
2.2.5  The board should ensure proper resource allocation and effective systems and controls, and monitor the implementation  
 of the company’s strategies and plans.

• Principle 3.2

The board should select an appropriate person as the chairman and ensure that the board composition serves the best interest of the 
company, enabling the board to make its decisions as a result of exercising independent judgement on corporate affairs. 
3.2.1 The chairman of the board should be an independent director. It the chairman is not an independent director, the board  
 should ensure the balance of power and authority of the board and between the board and management by having the board  
 comprise a majority of independent directors, or appointing a designated independent director to participate in setting the board  
 meeting agenda.
3.2.2 The chairman’s roles and responsibilities are different from those of the chief executive officer. The board should clearly  
 define the roles and responsibilities of both positions. To ensure effective checks and balances of power, the two positions  
 should be held by different individuals.
3.2.3 The chairman is responsible for leading the board. The chairman’s duties should at least cover the following matters:
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 (1)  Oversee, monitor, and ensure that the board efficiently carries out its duties to achieve the company’s objectives.
 (2)  Ensure that all directors contribute to the company’s ethical culture and good corporate governance.
 (3)  Set the board meeting agenda by discussing with the chief executive officer which important matters should be included.
 (4)  Allocate sufficient time for management to propose topics and for directors to debate important matters thoroughly.  
       Encourage directors to exercise independent judgement in the best interest of the company. 
 (5)  Promote a culture of openness and debate through ensuring constructive relations between executive and non-executive  
       directors, and between the board and management.

3.2.4   The board should establish the policy that the tenure of an independent director should not exceed a cumulative term of nine  
 years from the first day of service. Upon completing nine years, an independent director may continue to serve on the board,  
 subject to the board’s rigorous review of his/her continued independence.
3.2.5   The board should appoint relevant committees to review specific matters, to screen information, and to recommend action  
 for board approval; however, the board remains accountable for all decisions and actions. 
3.2.6 The Company will require the Nomination and Remuneration Committee to perform duties in accordance with principles 3.3  
 and 3.4.
3.2.7 The board should disclose the roles and responsibilities of the board and the committees, the number of meetings and the  
 number of directors participating in meetings in the previous year, board and committee performance. 

3.3.1 The board should establish the nomination and remuneration committee. The majority of its members and the chairman  
 should be independent directors.
3.3.2 The nomination and remuneration committee should set the nomination criteria and process consistent with the skills matrix  
 approved by the board and ensure that the candidate’s profile meets the requirements set out in the skills matrix and  
 nomination criteria. Upon proposal to and approval by the board of a candidate, the candidate is presented to the shareholders’  
 meeting for election and appointment as a director. Shareholders should receive adequate prior notice and sufficient  
 information about candidates up for election at the shareholders’ meeting.
3.3.3 The nomination and remuneration committee should present a description of the nomination criteria and process, and role  
 and responsibilities of a particular appointment to the board before nominating new directors. If the nomination committee  
 nominates current directors, their performance should be considered.
3.3.4 If the board appoints any person as a consultant to the nomination and remuneration committee, relevant information about  
 that consultant should be disclosed in the annual report, including information about independence and conflicts of interest.

• Principle 3.3

When proposing director remuneration to the shareholders’ meeting for approval, the board should consider whether the remuneration 
structure is appropriate for the directors’ respective roles and responsibilities, linked to their individual and company performance, and 
provide incentives for the board to lead the company in meeting its objectives, both in the short and long term.
3.4.1 The remuneration of the board should be consistent with the company’s strategies and long-term objectives, and reflect the  
 experience, obligations, scope of work, accountability and responsibilities, and contribution of each director. Directors who have  
 additional roles and responsibilities, such as a member of a committee, should be entitled to additional remuneration, comparable  
 to industry practice.
3.4.2 Shareholders must approve the board remuneration structure, including level and pay components (both cash-based and  
 non-cash compensation). The board should consider the appropriateness of each pay component, both in terms of fixed rates  
 (such as retainer fee and attendance fee) and remuneration paid according to the company’s performance (such as bonus and  
 rewards). The remuneration should reflect the values that the company creates for shareholders taking a long-term perspective  
 on company performance, and the pay level should not be too high so as to avoid the board excessively focusing on the company’s  
 short-term results.

• Principle 3.4
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The board should ensure that all directors are properly accountable for their duties, responsibilities and actions, and allocate sufficient 
time to discharge their duties and responsibilities effectively.
3.5.1 The board should ensure that there is a mechanism to support directors in understanding their roles and responsibilities,  
 and the time commitment expected from them.
3.5.2 The board should set and publicly disclose criteria limiting the number of director positions directors can hold simultaneously  
 in other companies, and should consider the effectiveness of directors who hold multiple board seats. The number of companies  
 of which a person can simultaneously be a director should be appropriate to the nature and types of businesses involved  
 but should not exceed five listed companies.
3.5.3 The board should ensure reporting and public disclosure of directors assuming or holding positions at other companies.
3.5.4 The board should ensure that the company’s policies prohibit and prevent a director from creating a conflict of interest with the  
 company, including by using the company’s assets, information or opportunities for his or her own benefit, as a result of having  
 or taking a director or management position, or having or creating vested interests, both directly and indirectly, in other companies.  
 Information about a director’s other directorships and positions should be reported to shareholders, as appropriate.
3.5.5   Each director should attend not less than 75 percent of all board meetings in any whole financial reporting year, except  
 in the case of necessity

• Principle 3.5

The board should ensure that the company’s governance framework and policies extend to and are accepted by subsidiaries and other 
businesses in which it has a significant investment as appropriate.
3.6.1 The board should ensure that the company’s governance framework and policies extend to its subsidiaries, including written  
 policies relating to:
 (1)   The Company shall appoint individuals as representatives to serve as directors, executives or controlling persons in each  
        subsidiary or other ventures in which the Company has investments, in proportion to the shareholdings in each company.  
        These appointed individuals will be responsible for overseeing the subsidiaries or other ventures in which the Company  
        has investments, with defined roles and responsibilities outlined, ensuring compliance with the laws, corporate governance  
        policies and any other relevant policies of the Company. In cases where subsidiaries have other investors, the Board of  
        Directors must establish policies to ensure that representatives act in the best interests of the subsidiaries and align with  
        the policies of the parent company. However, any investments made by the Company must be reviewed and approved at  
        Board of Directors meetings, considering the suitability of each company and in accordance with legal procedures.
 (2)   If any transactions or operations conducted by a subsidiary involve the acquisition or disposal of assets according to an asset  
        acquisition or disposal announcement or related transactions according to related transaction announcements, the Company  
        must seek approval from the Board of Directors meeting and/or shareholders’ meeting or relevant authorities as required  
        by law prior to proceeding with the transaction. The subsidiary may proceed with such transactions or operations only upon  
        obtaining approval from the Company’s Board of Directors’ meeting and/or shareholders’ meeting and/or relevant authorities  
        (as the case may be).
  Additionally, in the event that certain transactions or occurrences of the subsidiary trigger disclosure obligations to the  
        Securities and Exchange Commission of Thailand according to the criteria set forth by the Securities and Exchange Commission  
        of Thailand, the representatives of the aforementioned subsidiary shall promptly notify the management of the Company  
        upon becoming aware of such plans to engage in transactions or occurrences.

• Principle 3.6

3.4.3 The board should disclose the directors’ remuneration policy that reflects the duties and responsibilities of each individual,  
 including the pay components and level received by each director. The remuneration disclosed for each director should also  
 include remuneration for what each individual receives from holding directorship at the company’s subsidiaries. 
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 (3)   The Board of Directors and executives of subsidiaries and other ventures in which the Company has investments shall have  
        defined scopes of authority, duties and significant responsibilities in accordance with relevant laws. For example, they shall  
        disclose financial status and operating performance information to the Company, utilizing announcements from the Capital  
        Market Supervisory Board and Stock Exchange of Thailand Board to enforce these obligations, mutatis mutandis. This includes  
        disclosing and conveying their own and related party’s financial interests to the Board of Directors, informing about relationships  
        and transactions with the Company, its subsidiaries and other ventures in which the Company has investments that may  
        lead to conflicts of interest and avoiding transactions that may result in conflicts of interest, as well as other significant  
        transactions such as capital increases, capital reductions, subsidiary liquidation, etc.
 (4)   The Company shall establish plans and undertake necessary measures to ensure that subsidiaries and other ventures in  
        which the company has investments disclose information regarding their operational performance and financial status.  
        The Company shall also take necessary actions and monitor to ensure that subsidiaries and other ventures in which the  
        Company has investments have adequate and appropriate systems for disclosing information and internal controls to conduct  
        business operations.
  Furthermore, the Company shall closely monitor the performance and operations of the aforementioned subsidiaries  
        and other ventures in which it has invested and present comprehensive analyses including opinions or recommendations  
        to the Board of Directors and its subcommittees, as well as to the respective invested ventures themselves. This is done to  
        aid in decision-making processes, formulate policies, or implement enhancements to promote continuous development and  
        growth of the businesses of the subsidiaries and other invested ventures.
3.6.2  For businesses that the company has or plans to hold a significant investment in (such as between 20 percent and 50 percent  
 of shares with voting rights), other than subsidiaries, the board should ensure that shareholder agreements or other agreements  
 are in place to enable the company’s performance monitoring and participation in the businesses’ management, including for  
 approval of significant transactions and decisions. This is to ensure that the company has sufficient, accurate, and timely information  
 for the preparation of its financial statements that conform with relevant standards.

The board should conduct a formal annual performance evaluation of the board, its committees, and each individual director. The 
evaluation results should be used to strengthen the effectiveness of the board. 
3.7.1 The board’s, committee’s and individual directors’ performance evaluation should be conducted at least once a year to  
 facilitate consideration and improvement of the board’s performance and effectiveness and resolution of any problems. 
 Assessment criteria and process for the board’s, committees’ and directors’ performance should be systematically set in advance.
3.7.2 The annual assessment of the performance of the board and committees as a whole and on an individual director level  
 should be based on self-evaluation, or alternatively, on cross-evaluation together with self-evaluation. The criteria, process,  
 and results of the evaluation should be disclosed in the annual report.

• Principle 3.7

The board should ensure that the board and each individual director understand their roles and responsibilities, the nature of the 
business, the company’s operations, relevant law and standards, and other applicable obligations. The board should support all 
directors in updating and refreshing their skills and knowledge necessary to carry out their roles on the board and board committees.
3.8.1 he board should ensure that newly appointed directors receive a formal and proper induction and all information relevant  
 to their responsibilities and performing their duties, including details about the company’s objectives, the nature of the business,  
 and the company’s operations.
3.8.2  The board should ensure that directors regularly receive sufficient and continuous training and knowledge development.
3.8.3 The board should have knowledge and understanding of relevant law and standards, and other applicable obligations, risk  
 factors, and the company’s business environment. The board should receive accurate, timely and clear information, including  
 timely and regular updates.
3.8.4 The board should disclose in the annual report training and knowledge development of the board.

• Principle 3.8
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The board should ensure that it can perform its duties effectively and have access to accurate, relevant and timely information. The 
board should appoint a company secretary with necessary qualifications, knowledge, skills, and experience to support the board in 
performing its duties.
3.9.1 The board’s meeting schedule and agenda should be set in advance and each director should receive sufficient notice to  
 ensure attendance.
3.9.2 The number of board meetings should be appropriate to the obligations and responsibilities of the board and nature of the  
 business, but the board should meet at least six times per financial year. If the board meetings are not held monthly, the  
 board should receive a report on the company’s performance for the months in which the board does not hold a board  
 meeting, so that it can monitor management and company performance continuously and promptly.
3.9.3 The board should have a mechanism that allows each board member and management to propose the inclusion of relevant  
 items on the meeting agenda.
3.9.4 Meeting documents should be sent to each director at least five business days before the meeting.
3.9.5 The board should encourage the chief executive officer to invite key executives to attend board meetings to present details  
 on the agenda items related to matters that they are directly responsible for, and to allow the board to gain familiarity with  
 key executives and assist succession planning.
3.9.6 The board should have access to accurate, relevant, timely and clear information required for their respective roles from  
 the chief executive officer, company secretary, or designated executive. If necessary to discharge their responsibilities,  
 the board may seek independent professional advice at the company’s expense.
3.9.7 Non-executive directors should be able to meet, as necessary, among themselves without the management team to debate  
 their concerns and report the outcome of their meeting to the company’s chief executive officer.
3.9.8 The board should appoint a company secretary with the necessary qualifications, knowledge, skills, and experience for performing  
 his/her duties, including providing advice on corporate governance, legal, regulatory and administrative requirements, preparing  
 board meetings and other important documents, supporting board meetings, and coordinating the implementation of board  
 resolutions. The board should disclose the qualifications and experience of the company secretary in its annual report and on  
 the company’s website.
3.9.9 The company secretary should receive ongoing training and education relevant to performing his/her duties. The company  
 secretary is also encouraged to enrol on a company secretary certified programme.  

• Principle 3.9

Principle 4  - Ensure Effective CEO and Management  

The board should ensure that a proper mechanism is in place for the nomination and development of the chief executive officer and 
key executives to ensure that they possess the knowledge, skills, experience, and characteristics necessary for the company to achieve 
its objectives.
4.1.1 The board should establish, or assign the nomination committee to establish, the criteria and procedures for nomination and  
 appointment of the chief executive officer.
4.1.2 The board should ensure that the chief executive officer appoints knowledgeable, skilled, and experienced key executives.  
 The board or the nomination committee together with the chief executive officer should establish the criteria and procedures  
 for nomination and appointment of key executives.
4.1.3 To ensure business continuity, the board should ensure that development and succession plans for the chief executive  
 officer and key executives are in place. The board should annually request reporting on the implementation of the development  
 and succession plans from the chief executive officer.
4.1.4 The board should promote continuous development and education of the chief executive officer and key executives that is  
 relevant to their roles.
4.1.5 The board should establish set clear policies and guidelines for the chief executive officer and key executives serving or  
 wishing to serve as a director in other companies. The policies should set out permissible appointments and the permissible  
 number of companies in which they are allowed to simultaneously serve as a director.

• Principle 4.1

223
Annual Report 2023  (Form 56-1 One Report)
PRTR Group Public Company Limited  

Attachment



The board and the nominaton and remuneration committee should ensure that an appropriate compensation structure and performance 
evaluation are in place. 
4.2.1 The board should ensure that the compensation structure rewards individual performance, incentivises the chief executive  
 officer, key executives, employees and staff at all levels to act in support of the company’s objectives and values, and  
 fosters long-term commitment by aligning incentives with future company performance through:
 (1)   propriate combination of salary and other short-term compensation (such as bonus), and long-term compensation  
        (such as employee stock ownership plan participation),
 (2)   ensure that the individual total compensation takes into account industry standards and company performance, and 
 (3)   predetermined and communicated performance evaluation criteria.
4.2.2 Non-executive directors are responsible for determining the total compensation of, and performance evaluation criteria for  
 the chief executive officer. The non-executive directors should:
 (1)   ensure that the chief executive officer’s performance evaluation is based on pre-determined criteria that have been  
        communicated to the chief executive officer in advance. The performance evaluation criteria should incentivise the chief  
        executive officer to perform his/ her duties in support of the company’s objectives, values, and long-term sustainable  
        value creation,
 (2)    perform, or delegate to the remuneration committee, the annual performance evaluation of the chief executive officer.  
        The chairman or a designated senior director should communicate the results (including development areas) of the  
        performance evaluation to the chief executive officer.
 (3)   approve total annual compensation of the chief executive officer, taking into consideration the performance of the chief  
        executive officer and other relevant factors.
4.2.3 The board should approve the performance evaluation criteria and overall compensation structure of key executives. In addition,  
 the board should ensure that the chief executive officer evaluates the performance of key executives based on clear and  
 predetermined performance evaluation criteria.
4.2.4 The board should ensure that clear and predetermined performance evaluation criteria are in place for all employees and  
 staff throughout the company.

• Principle 4.2

The board should consider its responsibilities in the context of the company’s shareholder structure and relationships, which may 
impact the management and operation of the company. 
4.3.1 The board should understand the company’s shareholder structure and relationships, and consider their impact on the control  
 over the company, including written and non-written family agreements, shareholder agreements, or group company policies. 
4.3.2 The board should ensure that the company’s shareholder structure and relationships do not affect the board’s exercise of its  
 duties and responsibilities, including in relation to succession planning, in the best interest of the company.
4.3.3 The board should oversee that information is properly disclosed when there are any conditions that have an impact on the  
 control over the company.

• Principle 4.3

The board should ensure the company has effective human resources management and development programmes to ensure that the 
company has adequate staffing and appropriately knowledgeable, skilled, and experienced employees and staff. 
4.4.1 The board should ensure that the company is properly staffed, and that human resources management aligns with the  
 company’s objectives and furthers sustainable value creation. All employees and staff must receive fair treatment. 
4.4.2  The board should ensure that the company establishes a provident fund or other retirement plan, and require management  
 to implement a training and development programme for employees and staff that promotes financial literacy, including on  
 retirement savings, and educates employees and staff on life path investments that are suitable for their age and risk appetite.

• Principle 4.4
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The board should prioritise and promote innovation that creates value for the company and its shareholders together with benefits 
for its customers, other stakeholders, society, and the environment, in support of sustainable growth of the company.
5.1.1 The board should prioritise and promote a corporate culture that embraces innovation and ensure management’s inclusion  
 of innovation in corporate strategy, operational development planning, and operation monitoring.
5.1.2  The board should nurture innovation that enhances long-term value creation for the business in a changing environment.  
 Such innovation may include designing innovative business models, products and services, promoting research, improving  
 production and operation processes, and collaborating with partners.

 The above operations should create benefits for the company, customers, business partners, the community, society and 
the environment. In addition, innovation should not facilitate or result in unethical, non-compliant or illegal conduct by individuals or 
the company.

• Principle 5.1

The board should encourage management to adopt responsible operations, and incorporate them into the company’s operations 
plan. This is to ensure that every department and function in the company adopts the company’s objectives, goals, and strategies, 
applying high ethical, environmental and social standards, and contributes to the sustainable growth of the company.
5.2.1 The board should encourage management to ensure that the company’s operations reflect the company-wide implementation  
 of high ethical, environmental and social standards and ensure that appropriate company-wide policies and procedures are  
 implemented to further the company’s objectives, goals and strategies in support of sustainable value creation. Policies and  
 procedures for running the business fairly and respecting and adhering to stakeholders’ rights should at least cover:
 (1)   Responsibilities to employees, staff, and workers at least by adhering to applicable law and standards and providing fair  
        treatment and respect for human rights, including a fair level of remuneration and other benefits, a level of welfare that  
        is not less than the legal limit (but can be over the legal limit where appropriate), hea lth care, non-discrimination and  
        safety in the workplace, access to relevant training, potential skills development and advancement.
 (2)   esponsibilities to customers at least by adhering to applicable law and standards, considering impact on health, safety  
        of products and services, customer information security, sales conduct, after-sales service throughout the lifespan of  
        products and services, and following up on customer satisfaction measurements to improve the quality of products  
        and services. In addition, advertising and public relations should promote responsible consumption and must be done  
        responsibly, avoiding taking advantage of or misleading customers, or causing misunderstanding about the products  
        and services offered by the company.
 (3)   Responsibilities to business partners by engaging in and expecting fair procurement and contracting, including fair contract or  
        agreement conditions, providing access to training, developing potential and enhancing production and service standards in  
        line with applicable law and standards, and expecting and supervising business partners to respect human rights, social and  
        environmental responsibilities, and treat their employees, staff, and workers fairly including ensuring that business partners  
        have implemented sustainable and values-based business policies and procedures. 
 (4)   Responsibilities to the community by applying business knowledge and experience to develop and follow up on the success  
        of projects that can concretely add value to the community while respecting community interests.
 (5)   esponsibilities to the environment by preventing, reducing and managing negative impact on the environment from all  
        aspects of the company’s operations, including in the context of raw material use, energy use, water use, renewable  
        resources use, rehabilitating the diversity of biology, waste management, and greenhouse gas emissions.
 (6)   Fair competition by promoting ethical business conduct and not using anti-competitive practices to gain or protect a market  
        position.
 (7)   Anti-fraud and corruption by ensuring that the company complies with applicable anti-fraud and corruption law and standards,  
        and implements, announces and reports on anti-fraud and corruption policies and practices to the public, including on its  
        participation in private sector anti-corruption initiatives and certification programmes. The board should encourage the company  
        to collaborate with other companies and business partners to establish and implement anti-fraud and corruption measures.

• Principle 5.2

Principle 5  - Nurture Innovation and Responsible Business
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The board should ensure that management allocates and manages resources efficiently and effectively throughout all aspects of the 
value chain to enable the company to meet its objectives.
5.3.1 The board should have a thorough understanding of the company’s resource needs to support its business model, and how  
 available resources correlate.
5.3.2 The board should have a thorough understanding of how the business model affects resources optimisation in support of ethical,  
 responsible, and overall sustainable value creation.
5.3.3 The board should ensure that management continuously reviews, adapts, and develops the company’s use and optimisation  
 of resources, considering internal and external factors to meet the company’s objectives.  The types of resources that the  
 company should consider include financial capital, manufactured capital, intellectual capital, human capital, social and  
 relationship capital, and natural capital.

• Principle 5.3

The board should establish a framework for governance of enterprise IT that is aligned with the company’s business needs and 
priorities, stimulates business opportunities and performance, strengthens risk management, and supports the company’s objectives. 
5.4.1 The board should ensure that the company has an IT resource allocation policy that ensures adequate and optimal investment  
 in and allocation of IT resources. 
5.4.2 The board should ensure that the company’s risk management includes IT risk management.
5.4.3 The board should ensure that IT security policies and procedures are in place.

 A company’s governance of enterprise IT should cover:
 (1)   Compliance with relevant law and standards. 
 (2)   An information security system to safeguard against unauthorised access to information, measures to maintain the integrity  
        of relevant data and ensure availability of critical data.
 (3)   Consideration of IT risks and risk mitigation policies, plans, and measures. For example, business continuity management,  
        IT security, incident management, and IT asset management.
 (4)   Proper allocation and management of IT resources, including criteria to identify IT priorities, that takes into consideration  
        the company’s business model.

• Principle 5.4

Principle 6  - Strengthen Effective Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board should ensure that the company has effective and appropriate risk management and internal control systems that are 
aligned with the company’s objectives, goals and strategies and comply with applicable law and standards.
6.1.1 The board should be aware of and understand the nature and scope of the company’s principal and substantial risks and  
 should approve the risk appetite of the company.
6.1.2 The board should ensure the establishment and implementation of risk management policies that are consistent with the  
 company’s goals, objectives, strategies and risk appetite. The risk management policies should support identification and  
 prioritisation of early warning signals of material risks. The risk management policies should be reviewed regularly, such as  
 annually.
6.1.3 The board should ensure that the company’s principal and substantial risks are identified through consideration of internal  
 and external factors. Relevant principal and substantial risk categories include strategic, operational, financial, compliance,  
 reputational, environmental, social and ethical risks.

• Principle 6.1
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6.1.4 The board should ensure that the impact and likelihood of identified risks are assessed and prioritised, and that suitable risk  
 mitigation strategies and plans are in place. Risk response examples are tolerate, treat, terminate, and transfer.
6.1.5 Considering the size and nature of the company, the board may assign responsibility to the audit committee to assist the board  
 in its oversight functions related to guidelines nos. 6.1.1 – 6.1.4.
6.1.6 The board should regularly monitor the effectiveness of the company’s risk management.
6.1.7 The board has to ensure and monitor that the company complies with relevant and applicable law and standards, whether  
 domestic, international or foreign. 
6.1.8 In assessing the effectiveness of the company’s internal controls and risk management, the board should consider the results  
 of internal controls and risk management at its subsidiaries and businesses in which it has a significant investment (between  
 20 percent to 50 percent of shares with voting rights).

The board should manage and monitor conflicts of interest that might occur between the company, management, directors, and 
shareholders. The board should also prevent the inappropriate use of corporate assets, information, and opportunities, including 
preventing inappropriate transactions with related parties.

The board shall establish an audit committee that can effectively and independently.
6.2.1 The board shall establish an audit committee that comprises at least three directors, all of whom must be independent  
 directors,  with required qualifications, and comply with applicable legal requirements, including those promulgated by the  
 Securities and Exchange Commission and Stock Exchange of Thailand.
6.2.2 The board should clearly set out in writing the audit committee’s duties and responsibilities, and include at least the following:
 (1)   Review the company’s financial reports for accuracy and completeness.
 (2)   Review the company’s internal control and internal audit systems to ensure that they are suitable and effective.
 (3)   Review the company’s operations to ensure compliance with all relevant and applicable law and standards.
 (4)   Review internal auditor’s independence, and approve the appointment and termination of the head of the internal audit  
        function. Outsourcing of the internal audit function has to be reviewed for independence and approved by the audit  
        committee.
 (5)   Review, select, and recommend to the board for nomination and shareholder approval an independent party to be  
        the company’s external auditor, consider and recommend the auditor’s remuneration, and hold a meeting with the external  
        auditor without the presence of management at least once a year. 
 (6)   Review related party transactions and other transactions that may create conflicts of interest, to ensure that they comply  
        with applicable law, are reasonable, and carried out in the best interest of the company.  
 (7)   Review the company’s compliance with private sector’s anti-corruption and certification programmes, including  
        the Collective Action Coalition Against Corruption’ s Self-Evaluation Tool.  
6.2.3 The board should ensure that procedures are established that allow the audit committee to fulfil its duties and responsibilities,  
 including by having access to management, employees and staff, professional advisers (such as external auditor), and information  
 relevant and necessary to perform their duties
6.2.4 The board should ensure the designation of an internal auditor or establish an independent internal audit function that is  
 responsible for reviewing and improving the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems, and reporting  
 review results to the audit committee. The result of the internal audit review must be disclosed in the company’s annual report.
6.2.5   The audit committee should express its opinion on the adequacy of the company’s internal control and risk management  
 systems, and disclose its opinion in the company’s annual report.

• Principle  6.2

• Principle  6.3
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6.3.1 The board should establish an information security system, including appropriate policies and procedures, to protect  
 confidentiality, integrity, and availability of business information, including market-sensitive information. The board should  
 monitor the implementation of the information security policies and procedures and the adherence to confidentiality  
 requirements by insiders, including directors, executives, employees and staff, and professional advisers, such as legal or  
 financial advisers.
6.3.2 The board should ensure management and monitoring of conflict of interest situations and transactions. The board should  
 adopt an ethics and conflicts of interest policy consistent with applicable law and standards (including fiduciary duties), and  
 establish clear guidelines and procedures for disclosure and decision-making in conflict of interest situations. For example,  
 any party who has a vested interest in a particular transaction, should disclose that interest, and not be involved in the  
 decision-making.
6.3.3 The board should set requirements for all directors to report conflicts of interest in relation to any meeting agenda item at  
 least before consideration of the matter at the meeting and record the reported conflict of interest in the meeting minutes.  
 The board should also ensure that all directors that have a conflict of interest in relation to an agenda item abstain from  
 being present for discussion of or voting on that agenda item.

The board should ensure company-wide awareness and implementation of the company’s anti-corruption policy and practices, and 

compliance with applicable law and standards, including communication and staff training

• Principle 6.4

Principle 7  - Ensure Disclosure and Financial Integrity

The board should establish a mechanism for handling complaints and whistleblowing.
6.5.1 The board should oversee that an effective mechanism is in place to record, track, resolve, and report complaints and feedback.  
 The board should ensure the availability of convenient complaint channels (more than one), and that stakeholders are made  
 aware through the company’s website or annual report of all channels available for complaints.
6.5.2 The board should ensure that the company has a clear whistleblowing policy, including designated whistleblowing channels  
 for reporting of suspected wrongdoing, such as through the company’s website, e-mail, designated independent directors or  
 the audit committee. The board should ensure proper and effective handling of whistleblowing complaints, including the  
 investigation, any remedial action, and reporting to the board.
6.5.3 The board should ensure that whistleblowers are protected from retaliation as a result of their good faith whistleblowing  
 activities.

• Principle 6.5

• Principle 7.1

The board must ensure the integrity of the company’s financial reporting system and that timely and accurate disclosure of all material 
information regarding the company is made consistent with applicable requirements. 
7.1.1 The board should ensure that any person (including chief financial officer, accountant, internal auditor, company secretary,  
 Investors Relation officer) involved in the preparation and disclosure of any information of the company has relevant knowledge,  
 skills and experience, and that sufficient resources, including staffing, are allocated.
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7.1.2 When approving information disclosures, the board should consider all relevant factors, including for periodic financial  
 disclosures:
 (1)   The evaluation results of the adequacy of the internal control system.
 (2)   The external auditor’s opinions on financial reporting, observations on the internal control system, and any other observations  
        through other channels.
 (3)   The audit committee’s opinions.
 (4)   Consistency with objectives, strategies and policies.
7.1.3 The board should ensure that information disclosures (including financial statements, annual reports, and Form 56-1) reflect  
 the company’s financial status and performance accurately and fairly. The board should promote the inclusion of  
 the Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) in quarterly financial reports in order to provide to investors more complete  
 and accurate information about the company’s true financial status, performance and circumstances.
7.1.4  For disclosures related to any individual director, that director should ensure the accuracy and completeness of the information  
 disclosed by the company, including of shareholders’ information and any shareholders’ agreement.

The board should monitor the company’s financial liquidity and solvency.
7.2.1 The board should ensure that management regularly monitors, evaluates and reports on the company’s financial status.  
 The board and management should ensure that any threats to the company’s financial liquidity and solvency are promptly  
 addressed and remedied. 
7.2.2 The board should ensure that it does not consciously approve any transactions or propose any transactions for shareholder  
 approval which could negatively affect business continuity, financial liquidity, and solvency.

• Principle 7.2

The board should ensure that risks to the financial position of the company or financial difficulties are promptly identified, managed 
and mitigated, and that the company’s governance framework provides for the consideration of stakeholder rights.
7.3.1 In the event of financial risk or difficulties, the board should enhance monitoring of the affairs of the company, and duly  
 consider the company’s financial position and disclosure obligations.
7.3.2 The board should ensure that the company has sound financial mitigation plans that consider stakeholder rights including  
 creditor rights. The board should monitor management’s handling of financial risk or difficulties and seek regular reports.
7.3.3 The board should ensure that any actions to improve the company’s financial position are reasonable and made for a proper  
 purpose.

 The following are examples of indicators of financial risk or difficulties to the company’s sustainability:
 (1)   ongoing losses
 (2)   poor cash flow
 (3)   incomplete financial records  
 (4)   lack of a proper or incomplete accounting system
 (5)   lack of cash flow forecasts and other budgets 
 (6)   lack of a business plan
 (7)   increasing debt (liabilities greater than assets), and
 (8)   problems selling stock or collecting debts

• Principle 7.3
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The board should ensure sustainability reporting, as appropriate.
7.4.1 The board should consider and report data on the company’s compliance and ethical performance (including anti-corruption  
 performance), its treatment of employees and other stakeholders (including fair treatment and respect for human rights), and  
 social and environmental responsibilities, using a report framework that is proportionate to the company’s size and complexity  
 and meets domestic and international standards. The company can disclose this information in the annual report and in separate  
 reports, as appropriate.
7.4.2 The board should ensure that the company’s sustainability reporting reflects material corporate practices that support  
 sustainable value creation.

The board should ensure the establishment of a dedicated Investor Relations function responsible for regular, effective and fair 
communication with shareholders and other stakeholders (such as analysts and potential investors).
7.5.1 The board should establish a communication and disclosure policy to assist the company in meeting its disclosure obligations  
 and to ensure that all information relevant and material to the company’s shareholders, the market and third parties is disclosed  
 in an appropriate, equal, and timely manner, using appropriate channels, while protecting the company’s sensitive and confidential  
 information. The board should ensure company-wide communication and implementation of the company’s communication  
 and disclosure policy.
7.5.2  The board should ensure the creation of an Investor Relations function responsible for regular, effective and fair communication  
 with shareholders and external parties. The company’s designated Investor Relations contact should be suitable for the role and  
 have a thorough understanding of the nature of the company’s business, and its objectives and values. Examples of suitable  
 Investor Relations contacts are the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer, and the Investor Relations manager.
7.5.3 The board should ensure that management sets clear directions for and supports the Investor Relations function (such as through  
 a code of conduct), and clearly defines the roles and responsibilities of the Investor Relations function, so as to ensure effective  
 communication between the company, the financial community and other stakeholders.

• Principle 7.5

The board should ensure the effective use by the company of information technology in disseminating information.
7.6.1 In addition to the company’s mandatory periodic and non-periodic disclosure of information pursuant to applicable requirements,  
 the board should consider regularly disclosing relevant information in both Thai and in English through other channels, such as  
 the company’s website.
 Information to be disclosed on the company’s website includes:
 (1)   the company’s objectives and values
 (2)   nature of the company’s business and the company’s operations
 (3)   list of the company’s board of directors and of executives
 (4)   financial statements and reports about the financial status and the company’s financial and non-financial performance  
        for current and previous year
 (5)   downloadable version of annual reports and SEC Form 56-1 One Report
 (6)   information and documents that the company discloses to the investment community and other external parties
 (7)   Shareholding structure, both direct and indirect . The company’s group structure, including subsidiaries, affiliates, joint  
        ventures, and special purpose enterprises/vehicles (SPEs/SPVs)
 (8)   Invitation letters to the shareholders’ ordinary and extraordinary meetings
 (9)   The company’s regulations, and memorandum and articles of association
  (10)  The company’s corporate governance policy and related policies including IT governance policy, anti-corruption policy  
        and practices, and risk management policy
 (11)  A charter or statement of duties and responsibilities, directors’ qualifications, board composition, terms, and authority  
        of the board and board committees.

• Principle 7.6

• Principle 7.4
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The board should ensure that shareholders have the opportunity to participate effectively in decision-making involving significant 
corporate matters.
8.1.1   The board should ensure that significant corporate decisions are considered and/or approved by the shareholders pursuant  
 to applicable legal requirements. Matters that require shareholder approval should be included in the agenda for the  
 shareholders’ meeting and shareholders should be provided sufficient notice thereof.
8.1.2   The board should support participation of all shareholders through reasonable measures, including:
 (1)   Establishing criteria that allow minority shareholders to propose agenda items for shareholders’ meetings. The board  
        should consider shareholders’ proposals to be included in the agenda, and if the board rejects a proposal, the reasons  
        should be given at the meeting. 
 (2)   Establishing criteria for minority shareholders to nominate persons to serve as directors of the company.  
 The board should ensure that measures and criteria are established and promptly disclosed to ensure shareholder engagement  
 and participation 
8.1.3  The board should ensure that the notice of the shareholders’ meeting is accurate, complete, and sufficiently in advance for  
 the shareholders to exercise their rights.
8.1.4 The board should ensure that the company arranges for the notice of the shareholders’ meeting and related papers to be  
 sent to shareholders and posted on the company’s website at least 28 days before the meeting.
8.1.5 Shareholders should be allowed to submit questions prior to the meeting. The board should therefore ensure that there are clear  
 criteria and a process for shareholders to submit questions. The criteria should be posted on the company’s website.
8.1.6 The notice of the shareholders’ meeting and related papers should be fully translated into English and published at the same  
 time as the Thai version.

• Principle 8.1

 The notice of the shareholders’ meeting should comply with applicable legal requirements and include the following:
 (1)   Date, time, and place of the meeting.
 (2)   Meeting agenda and matters to be proposed for information, consideration or approval. The agenda should clearly specify  
        each individual matter or item of information to be considered or approved, such as the separate listing of election of  
        directors, and approval of directors’ remuneration instead of a general reference to matters related to directors.
 (3)   Sufficient information, objectives and reasons, and board of directors’ opinions, concerning each agenda item, including  
        as follows: 

A. Approval or rejection of dividend payment: dividend payment policy, proposed dividend payment rate, including 
reasons and supporting information, or reasons and supporting information for rejecting a dividend payment. 

B. Appointment of directors: name, age, gender, education, experience, the number of listed companies and other 
companies where they each hold directorial positions, the criteria and procedures for selection, and types of 
proposed directors. Where proposed directors are those who are re-entering the same position, information must 
be identified about participation in meetings in previous years and the date of original appointment as a director.

C. Approval of directors’ remuneration: the policy and criteria for determining role-specific director remuneration and 
all monetary and non-monetary components of a director’s remuneration. 

D. Appointment of external auditors: auditor’s name and the name of the auditor’s audit firm, auditor’s experience, 
independence, and audit and non-audit fees.

 (12)  The company’s code of ethics and conduct applicable to all directors, executives, employees and staff, as well as the  
        company’s Investor Relation’s code of conduct, and
 (13)  Contact information (name of department or relevant person, phone number, and e-mail) for complaints, investor  
        relations and the company secretary.

Principle 8  - Ensure Engagement and Communication with Shareholders
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 (4)   Proxy form and supporting documentation using the form specified by the Ministry of Commerce.
 (5)   Other supporting information, including on voting procedures (such as voting count and verification of voting results  
        criteria, voting rights of each class of shares), details concerning independent directors proposed by the company to act  
        as proxies for shareholders, and map of meeting venue.

The board should ensure that the shareholders’ meetings are held as scheduled and conducted properly, with transparency and efficiency, 
and ensure inclusive and equitable treatment of all shareholders and their ability to exercise their rights. 
8.2.1 The board should set the date, time, and place of the meeting by considering the interests of shareholders, such as allocating  
 sufficient time for debate, and choosing a convenient location.
8.2.2 The board should ensure that the company does not through its meeting attendance requirements or prerequisites prevent  
 attendance by or places an undue burden on shareholders, including as a result of identification requirements that exceed  
 applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
8.2.3  In the interest of transparency and accountability, the board should promote the use of information technology to facilitate  
 the shareholders’ meetings, including for registration and vote counting.
8.2.4 The chairman of the board is the chairman of the shareholders’ meeting with responsibility for compliance with applicable legal  
 requirements and the company’s articles of association, allocating sufficient time for consideration and debate of agenda items,  
 and providing opportunity to all shareholders who wish to share their opinions or ask questions related to the company.
8.2.5 To ensure the right of shareholders to participate in the company’s decision-making process in relation to significant corporate  
 matters by participating and voting at shareholder’s meetings on the basis of sufficient notice and information, directors who are  
 shareholder should not be allowed to add items to the meeting agenda that have not been duly notified in advance.
8.2.6 All directors and relevant executives should attend the meeting to answer questions from shareholders on company-related  
 matters.
8.2.7 The attending shareholders should be informed of the number and the proportion of shareholders and shares represented at  
 the meeting in person and through proxies, the meeting method, and the voting and vote counting methods before the start of  
 the meeting.
8.2.8 There should not be any bundling of several items into the same resolution. For example, the appointment of each director  
 should be voted on and recorded as separate resolution.
8.2.9 The board should promote the use of ballots for voting on resolutions proposed at the shareholders’ meeting and designate an  
 independent party to count or to audit the voting results for each resolution in the meeting, and to disclose such voting results  
 at the meeting by identifying the number of “for”, “against” and “abstain” votes. The voting results for each proposed resolution  
 should be included in the minutes of the meeting. 

The board should ensure accurate, timely and complete disclosure of shareholder resolutions and preparation of the minutes of the 
shareholders’ meetings. 
8.3.1 The board should ensure that the company discloses the results of voting on proposed resolutions at the shareholders’  
 meeting through the designated Stock Exchange of Thailand channels and through the company’s website by the next  
 business day.
8.3.2 The board should ensure that minutes of the shareholders’ meeting is submitted to the Stock Exchange of Thailand within  
 14 days from the shareholders’ meeting date.
8.3.3 The board should ensure that the company promptly prepares the minutes of the shareholders’ meeting, including 
 the following information:
 (1)   attendance of directors, executives, and the proportion of attending directors;
 (2)   voting and vote counting methods, meeting resolutions, and voting results (“for”, “against”, and “abstain”) for each  
        proposed resolution; and
 (3)   questions asked and answers provided during the meeting, including the identity of the persons asking and answering  
        the questions. 

• Principle 8.3

• Principle 8.2
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2.  Code of Conduct and Business Ethics of the Company

 Principles

 The PRTR Group Public Company Limited (hereinafter referred to as the Company) establishes code of conduct and business 
ethics as principles and guidelines for adherence, as follows:

  Principle 1 Integrity
    The Company believes that conducting business with integrity towards customers, partners, debtors,  
    creditors, candidates and other stakeholders will foster trust and confidence in the Company.
  Principle 2 Compliance
    The Company conducts its business in compliance with laws, regulations, and standards set forth  
    by regulatory authorities, ensuring effective internal controls and audits to ensure compliance  
    with relevant standards or laws. This is accomplished through internal audits and scrutiny  
    by the audit committee.
  Principle 3 Confidentiality 
    The Company conducts its business with respect for the rights of the owners of information  
    received and stored by the Company, maintaining confidentiality and refraining from disclosing  
    information. 
  Principle 4 Competency 
    The Company is aware of the knowledge, skills, abilities and experiences required to perform  
    job duties effectively, aiming to meet service requirements.

 Guidelines

 The Company shall adhere to the principles of code of conduct and business ethics as follows:
  Integrity
  1)   Conducting business with unwavering integrity in all aspects. 
  2)   Performing duties with integrity, making decisions with impartiality, transparency, and in the best interests of  
        the Company and shareholders.
  3)   Not seeking personal gain or benefiting any related party using undisclosed Company information.
  4)   Trusting in conducting business with integrity with all parties related to the Company and endeavoring to avoid  
        bias or situations that may lead to conflicts of interest. 
  5)   Uphold business operations with principles and discipline, ensuring that business decisions and operations  
        comply with relevant laws, regulations and standards. Adhere to the Company’s code of conduct standards  
        and employees’ good practices. 
  6)   Not seeking personal gain or benefiting any related party using undisclosed Company information. 
  7)   Refrain from engaging in any activities that may cause conflicts of interest with the Company without informing  
        the Company, whether through contact with the Company’s business associates or using Company information  
        for personal gain.
  8)   Compete within the framework of fair competition regulations, not seek confidential information from competitors  
        through unethical or inappropriate means and not tarnish the reputation of competitors. 

  Compliance
  9)   Conduct business in accordance with laws, regulations, and regulatory bodies such as the Securities Act, Public  
        Limited Company Act, regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand, the Securities and Exchange Commission, etc.
  10)  Do not engage in, facilitate, promote or support any activities or transactions that are illegal or contrary to the law.
  11)  Maintain political neutrality, refrain from involvement in political groups or parties, aim to contribute to social  
        prosperity and preserve the environment.
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  Confidentiality 
  12)  Safeguard and protect confidential information of the Company, customers, partners and candidates to instill  
        confidence in customers, stakeholders, and concerned parties. 
  13)  Do not disclose confidential information of the Company, customers, partners or candidates to external parties,  
        especially competitors of the Company. 
  14)  Conduct business with a sense of professional responsibility and dedication to achieving the strategies, objectives,  
        and goals of the Company. 
  15)  Respond to the needs of customers, society, technological advancements and economic changes, adapting  
        swiftly to customer demands both present and future. 
  16)  Fulfill duties utilizing knowledge, skills and experiences in management to the fullest extent for the benefit of  
        the Company and its shareholders.
  17)  Strive to ensure customer satisfaction by offering high-quality products and providing excellent service to the  
        Company’s customers. Implement efficient systems and channels for customers to lodge complaints about  
        services. 
  18)  Aim for continuous excellence in performance, considering both present and future risks.
  19)  Recruit, hire and continuously develop personnel to achieve higher levels of competence, providing salaries,  
        reward, and other benefits that are competitive with leading companies, in general. 

  Treatment of Business Partners and Creditors
  20)  Treat partners and creditors consistently and fairly, based on the principle of fair compensation to both parties.
  21)  Adhere strictly to contracts or conditions. In cases where compliance is not feasible, promptly notify partners  
        and creditors for prompt discussion on finding solutions. 
  22)  Provide accurate financial information to creditors.

  Treatment of Employees
  23)  Provide fair compensation to employees while also ensuring the maintenance of a safe working environment  
        conducive to the safety of their lives and property.
  24)  The appointment, transfer, rewards and disciplinary actions towards employees are conducted with integrity,  
        based on their knowledge, skills and conduct. 
  25)  Adhere strictly to regulations relevant to employees.

  Financial Reporting
  The management is responsible for preparing financial reports that are accurate, complete, and timely, following  
  accepted accounting standards. 

  Social and Public Responsibility
  Uphold the responsibility of caring for the environment, as well as adhering to local customs and traditions  
  where the organization is based and engaging in activities to contribute to the creation and improvement of society,  
  communities and the environment consistently. 

3.  Whistleblowing and Complaint Channels

  Whistleblower: Chairman of the Audit Committee

  Website:  https://www.prtr.com/

  Email:  whistle-blowing@prtr.com
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 PRTR Group Public Company Limited

 2034/82 Italthai Tower, 18th Floor,

 New Petchburi Road, Bang Kapi, Huai Khwang, 

 Bangkok 10320 

 Corporate and Governance Policy and Code of Conduct of the Company approved by the Board of Directors’ Meeting 

No.2/2022 convened on May 13, 2022 and effective from May 13, 2022.
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Attachment 6

Report of the Audit Committee



Report of the Audit Committee

 In 2023, the Audit Committee of PRTR Group Public Company Limited performed its duties in conformity with the charter 
approved by the Board of Directors and convened a total of five meetings. These meetings are held to review and verify the Company’s 
financial reports, which were certified by the certified public accountant, as well as considering the results of the internal audit and 
corrective actions of the Company. The Audit Committee comprises three independent directors as follows: 

Duties and Responsibilities of the Audit Committee

 The Audit Committee of the Company is appointed by the Board of Directors to review information related to financial 
reports, internal audits, and audits by certified public accountants. Meanwhile, the Audit Committee supports and encourages the 
Company to comply with the best practices of listed companies in order to ensure good corporate governance. Moreover, the Audit 
Committee provides advice on risk management and good internal control systems to the management, including reviewing the 
Company’s other activities related to the rules and regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand, as well as all regulatory agencies 
involved in business operations. 

The Audit Committee meets with the Management and the Company’s certified public accountants to review and evaluate accounting 
policies and principles, guidelines related to accounting and finance, internal control assessment, and audit plans. The Audit Committee 
also meets with the Company’s certified public accountant independently once, together with the management, to discuss independence 
in performing their duties, including issues that may cause damage or corruption. Additionally, the Audit Committee reviews and certifies 
financial report data for every quarter-end, including conducting evaluations and presenting recommendations to the Board of Directors. 
The Audit Committee can ensure that internal control deficiencies are effectively corrected and prevented within a reasonable time to 
prevent and mitigate the impact of potential risks. The Audit Committee conducts reviews and makes recommendations to the Board of 
Directors for approval of accounting policies and principles, including related transactions. 

 The Audit Committee hires PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Company Limited to conduct internal audit and assess the 
effectiveness of business risk management and internal control deficiencies of the Company through systematic audit activities. The 
audit focuses on risks associated with the implementation of the Company’s strategies in terms of financial reports, operations, and 
compliance with internal regulations of the Company. The results of the internal audit will be discussed with the management of 
responsible departments to jointly formulate a corrective action plan, and then they are regularly reported to the Executive Committee 
and the Audit Committee. 

 In addition, the Audit Committee advocates for improvements in good corporate governance, risk management and compliance 
with the Company’s regulations and relevant laws through the internal audit process, follow-up after the internal audit and the risk 
management system, including providing anti-corruption recommendations to the management to encourage compliance with the 
Company’s regulations and code of conduct.

Name - Surname Position Number of Attendance /
Number of Meetings

3. Mr. Thunyachate Ekvetchavit

5/5

5/5

4/5

Chairman of the Audit Committee

Committee Member

Committee Member

1. Mr. Chan Ittithavorn

2. Mr. Niphon Bundechanan
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In 2023, the Audit Committee performed its duties and gave the following opinions:
• Reviewed and approved the Company’s quarterly and annual consolidated financial statements by considering and concluding that the 

financial statements are accurate, complete, and reliable, and the internal control system for the preparation of financial reports is 
appropriate and the connected transactions made are reasonable and effectively beneficial to the Company.

• Reviewed the appropriateness and efficiency of the internal control and the audit systems, and the Board of Directors approved the 
audit plan and considered the report of internal audit results and the management’s corrective actions in a timely manner. Therefore, 
it was concluded that the Company had an adequate internal control system and risk management process suitable for its business 
operations, and the accounting records were appropriate.

• Reviewed the Company’s status every quarter and had the opinion that the Company has complied with the laws and regulations of 
the Stock Exchange of Thailand, the Securities and Exchange Commission, as well as relevant laws in its business operations, such as 
the Personal Data Protection Act (PDPA).

• Reviewed the efficiency and effectiveness of the risk management process, including risk management policies and related plans and 
made recommendations for improvement.

• Appointed the Company’s certified public accountant, approved the audit fee, and held meetings with the certified public accountant 
without the presence of the management or the Company’s officers;

 The Audit Committee proposed to the Board of Directors the appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyos Company 
Limited as the Company’s auditor for the accounting period ended December 31, 2024. The appointment of the auditor and the audit fee 
will be presented to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for approval.

 

Performance of the Duties of the Audit Committee in the Past Year

(Mr. Chan Ittithavorn)

Chairman of the Audit Commuittee
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Attachment 7

Report on the Board of Director’s Responsibilities
for Financial Statements



Report on the Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
to the Financial Report

 The Board of Directors of PRTR Group Public Company Limited is responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2023 in order to comply with the financial reporting 
standards. Appropriate accounting policies are selected, combined with careful and reasonable discretion and adequate disclosure of 
important information in the notes to the financial statements, as well as an explanation and analysis of the financial position and operating 
results of the Company and its subsidiaries for the benefit of shareholders and general investors. All of this, the financial statements have 
been audited and unqualified opinion by an independent certified public accountant.

 In addition, the Board of Directors has established an effective internal control system to ensure that accounting records are 
accurate, complete, and sufficient to maintain the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries and to prevent fraud or material irregularities.

 In this regard, the Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee to review accounting policies and the quality of financial 
reports, the internal control system, internal audit, and risk management system, and consider the related parties transaction disclosure.

 The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the Company’s internal control system is adequate and appropriate to  establish 
reasonable confidence on the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2023. The 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Thai Financial Reporting Standards (TFRS) and properly disclosed as they 
should be in essence, including compliance with relevant regulations.

(Ms. Risara Charoenpanich)

Chief Executive Officer

(Mr. Sukont Kanjanachitjit)

Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Your Partner in People

Bangkok Office:
ItalThai Tower, 18th Floor, New Petchburi Road,  
Bangkapi, Huaykwang, Bangkok, 10310
Tel. +66 (0) 2716 0000

@prtr.thailand

linkedin.com/company/prtr

@prtr
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